Aus der Klinik und Poliklinik für Psychosomatische Medizin und Psychotherapie der Universitätsmedizin der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz

An Investigation into the Psychosocial Background of Obesity: The Role of Adverse Childhood Experiences, Common Mental Health Disorders and Socioeconomic Status

Psychosoziale Prädiktoren von Adipositas: die Rolle von Kindheitsbelastungen, Depression, Angststörungen und sozioökonomischem Status

> Inauguraldissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Medizin der Universitätsmedizin der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz

> > Vorgelegt von

Kira Sinclair Stepper aus Los Angeles

Mainz, 2021

Tag der Promotion: 12. Juli 2022

Table of Contents

L	st of Abbreviations and Symbols	v
L	st of Tables	vi
L	st of Figures	vii
1	Introduction	1
_		
2	Literature Review	2
	2.1 Implications of the Obesity Epidemic	2
	2.1.1 Epidemiology of Obesity	2
	2.1.2 Biological Determinants of Obesity	3
	2.1.3 Medical Consequences of Obesity	4
	2.2 The Psychosocial Background of Obesity	8
	2.2.1 Socioeconomic Status	9
	2.2.1.1 Current Inequalities and the Bidirectional Association between Obesity and SES.	9
	2.2.1.1.1 The Social Causation Hypothesis	10
	2.2.1.1.2 Reverse Causality and the Obesogenic Effects of Weight Stigma	13
	2.2.2 The Role of Common Mental Disorders in the Obesity Epidemic	16
	2.2.3 Depressive Disorders	16
	2.2.3.1 Epidemiology and Implications of Depressive Disorders	17
	2.2.3.2 The Bidirectional Association between Obesity and Depressive Disorders	18
	2.2.3.2.1 Some Biological and Psychosocial Pathways Linking Obesity and Depressiv	e
	Disorders	19
	2.2.4 Anxiety Disorders	22
	2.2.4.1 Etiology and Epidemiology of Anxiety Disorders	22
	2.2.4.2 The Bidirectional Link between Obesity and Anxiety Disorders	23
	2.2.5 Adverse Childhood Experiences	25
	2.2.5.1 Prevalence and Societal Implications of ACEs	25
	2.2.5.2 ACEs and the Development of Obesity	26
	2.2.5.3 Pathways Linking ACEs and Obesity	27
	2.2.6 Defining Obesity as a Disease	28
	2.3 Formulation of the Hypotheses	29

3	Mater	als & Methods	
	3.1 Dat	a Collection and Sample Description	
	3.2 Des	cription of the Questionnaires	
	3.3 Des	cription of Examined Variables and Corresponding Items	
	3.3.1 I	tems for the Primary Response: Body Mass Index	33
	3.3.2 I	tems for the Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression	
	3.3.3 I	tems for the Tertiary Response: Childhood Adversities	34
	3.3.4 I	tems for the Explanatory Variables: Age and Gender	35
	3.3.5 I	tems for the Explanatory Variables: Socioeconomic Status	35
	3.4 Ove	rview of the Examined Variables	
	3.5 Stat	istical Analysis	
	3.6 Pres	sentation of the Results	
4	Result	S	41
	4.1 Res	ults for the Primary Response: Body Mass Index	41
	4.1.1.1	Body Mass Index: Overview of all Significant Effects	41
	4.1.1.2	Body Mass Index: Linear Regression Analysis	42
	4.1.1.3	Body Mass Index: Interaction between Paternal Chronic Disease and Age	43
	4.1.1.4	Body Mass Index: Quadratic Effect of Socioeconomic Status	44
	4.1.1.5	Body Mass Index: Main Effect of Gender	45
	4.2 Res	ults for the Secondary Responses: Symptoms of Depression and Social Phobia	
	4.2.1 F	lesults for Symptoms of Depression	46
	4.2.1.1	Symptoms of Depression: Overview of all Significant Effects	46
	4.2.1.2	Symptoms of Depression: Linear Regression Analysis	47
	4.2.1.3	Symptoms of Depression: Interaction of Paternal Alcohol Abuse and Paternal Chro	nic
		Pain	48
	4.2.1.4	Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect for Age	49
	4.2.1.5	Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder	50
	4.2.1.6	Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	51
	4.2.1.7	Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect of Wave	52
	4.2.2 F	lesults for Symptoms of Social Phobia	53
	4.2.2.1	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Overview of all Significant Effects	53
	4.2.2.2	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Linear Regression Analysis	54
	4.2.2.3	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	
	4.2.2.4	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder	56
	4.2.2.5	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Age	57
	4.2.2.6	Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Gender	58

	4.3 Res	ults for the Tertiary Response: Adverse Childhood Experiences	
	4.3.1 M	Aternal and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Overview of all Significant Effects	59
	4.3.1.2	Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis	60
	4.3.1.3	Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	61
	4.3.1.4	Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse Linear Regression Analysis	62
	4.3.1.5	Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Quadratic Effect for Socioeconomic Status	63
	4.3.2 M	Aternal and Paternal Disability/Chronic Disease: Overview of all Significant Effects	64
	4.3.2.1	Maternal Disability/Chronic Disease: Linear Regression Analysis	65
	4.3.2.2	Maternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	66
	4.3.2.3	Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease Linear Regression Analysis	67
	4.3.2.4	Paternal Chronic Disease: Interaction between Socioeconomic Status and Wave	68
	4.3.3 N	Aternal and Paternal Chronic Pain: Overview of all Significant Effects	69
	4.3.3.1	Maternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis	70
	4.3.3.2	Maternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	71
	4.3.3.3	Maternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Wave	72
	4.3.3.4	Paternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis	73
	4.3.3.5	Paternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	74
	4.3.3.6	Paternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Wave	75
	4.3.4 M	Aternal and Paternal Mental Disorder: Overview of all Significant Effects	76
	4.3.4.1	Maternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis	77
	4.3.4.2	Maternal Mental Disorder: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	78
	4.3.4.3	Paternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis	79
	4.3.4.4	Paternal Mental Disorder: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status	80
	4.4 Res	ults for the Residuals	81
5	Discus	sion	83
	5.1 Inte	rpretation of the Hypotheses	
	5.1.1 I	nterpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 1	83
	5.1.2 I	nterpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 2	84
	5.1.3 I	nterpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 3	85
	5.1.4 I	nterpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 4	86
	5.2 Inte	rpretation of Additional Results	
	5.2.1 I	nterpretation of Additional Results for the Primary Response: Body Mass Index	87
	5.2.2 I	nterpretation of the Results for the Secondary Response: Common Mental Disorders	s 88
	5.2.2.1	The Effects of SES, Wave, Gender, and Age on Symptoms of Mental Health Disorders	89
	5.2.2.2	The Effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Symptoms of Common Mental Hea	alth
		Disorders	90

	5.2.3	Interpretation of the Results for the Tertiary Response: Adverse Childhood	
		Experiences	
	5.2.	3.1 Socioeconomic Status and Health Inequalities	
	5.2.	3.2 Socioeconomic Status and Disparities in Parental Alcohol and Substance Abuse	93
	5.2.4	Interpretation of the Results for the Residuals	94
5.3	3 S	trengths and Limitations	95
5.4	ł E	evaluation of the Results	97
6	Con	clusion	
7	Deu	itschsprachige Zusammenfassung	
8	Bib	liography	
9	Dar	lksagung	
10	Leb	enslauf	

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

ACE	Adverse Childhood Experience
BMI	Body Mass Index
ß	Regression coefficient
CI	Confidence Interval
CQ	Childhood Questionnaire
DALY	Disability-adjusted Life-years
HPA	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
МНО	Metabolically Healthy Obesity
MSBI	Mainz Structured Biographical Interview
MUO	Metabolically Unhealthy Obesity
NAFDL	Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease
NASH	Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis
р	P-value
SCL-27-plus	Symptom-Check-List-27-plus
seß	Standard Error
SES	Socioeconomic Status
t	T-value
WHO	World Health Organization
YLD	Years Lived with Disability

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Criteria for exclusion and number of participants excluded in the order of elimination 31
Table 3.2 Overview of the Responses to the Items Regarding Childhood Adversities
Table 3.3 Overview of the Examined Variables in Wave 1 and Wave 2 37
Table 4.1 Body Mass Index: Linear Regression Analysis 42
Table 4.2 Symptoms of Depression: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.3 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.4 Maternal Alcohol Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis 60
Table 4.5 Paternal Alcohol Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.6 Maternal Chronic Disease: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.7 Paternal Chronic Disease: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.8 Maternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.9 Paternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis 73
Table 4.10 Maternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.11 Paternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis
Table 4.12 Residuals: Pearson's Correlation Coefficients for the Secondary and Tertiary Response 81

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Overview of the Variables Included in the Statistical Analysis33
Figure 4.1 Primary Response: Body Mass Index—Overview of all Significant Effects
Figure 4.2 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Interaction between Paternal Chronic Disease and Age43
Figure 4.3 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Quadratic Effect of Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.4 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Main Effect for Gender
Figure 4.5 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression—Overview of all Significant Effects and Interactions
Figure 4.6 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Interaction of Paternal Alcohol Abuse and Paternal Chronic Pain
Figure 4.7 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Age
Figure 4.8 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder
Figure 4.9 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.10 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Wave
Figure 4.11 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia—Overview of all Significant Effects and Interactions
Figure 4.12 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.13 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder
Figure 4.14 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Age
Figure 4.15 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Gender
Figure 4.16 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse– Overview of all Significant Effects
Figure 4.17 Tertiary Response: Maternal Alcohol Abuse Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.18 Tertiary Response: Paternal Alcohol Abuse Explained by the Quadratic Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.19 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease— Overview of all Significant Effects
Figure 4.20 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

Figure 4.21 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Interaction between Socioeconomic Status and Wave
Figure 4.22 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Chronic Pain–Overview of all Significant Effects
Figure 4.23 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.24 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Wave
Figure 4.25 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.26 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Wave
Figure 4.27 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Mental Disorder—Overview of all Significant Effects
Figure 4.28 Tertiary Response: Maternal Mental Disorder Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.29 Tertiary Response: Paternal Mental Disorder Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.30 Graphic Representation of the Pearson's Correlations Coefficient 82

1 Introduction

For the first time in history, more of the world's population is overweight than underweight. Apart from a few exceptions in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, obesity has reached epidemic proportions in all countries and has surpassed malnourishment as a major health concern both for the individuals affected and for society as a whole (WHO, 2018). Though most of human history has been characterized by food shortages and malnutrition, through industrialization and urbanization a surplus of food has become available and, combined with an increase in sedentary lifestyle, has triggered the trend of widespread obesity (Caballero, 2007). Once a first world problem, the most dramatic increases in obesity since the end of the 20th century have occurred in developing countries. Currently, 1.9 billion adults worldwide are overweight and 650 million are obese, comprising 39% and 13% of all adults, respectively (WHO, 2018).

Although the adverse health effects of obesity are widely acknowledged, the causes and the background are far more ambiguous. In view of the rapidly rising prevalence of obesity and lack of successful treatment options, obesity prevention is more important than ever. Prevention strategies, however, tend to concentrate solely on decreasing dietary intake and increasing physical activity, despite evidence indicating that it is a combination of individual predisposition toward weight gain and psychosocial factors that tip the scales toward overweight and obesity. Psychosocial factors that facilitate excess weight gain include a reciprocal association with socioeconomic status, a bidirectional link with common mental disorders, and a correlation with adverse childhood experiences. These complex and multifactorial psychosocial determinants of overweight and obesity are at the center of this thesis.

Just as the causes of obesity lie both in individual predisposition and societal structure, the consequences of obesity affect both the individual, through adverse physiological and psychological outcomes, and society as a whole, directly through medical expenses and indirectly through loss of productivity (Yates et al., 2016). The prevalence of overweight and obesity in both industrialized and developing countries over the past decades indicate that its individual and societal relevance will only continue to grow. Thus, the psychosocial background of obesity is a critical topic for further research, which may shed light on more effective strategies for prevention.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Implications of the Obesity Epidemic

In light of the global increase in obesity and its far-reaching consequences, it is important to gain a better understanding of the multifaceted background of obesity. The following chapters represent an overview of the current literature, highlighting the medical consequences and etiology of obesity before detailing the psychosocial factors fostering obesity. The focus of this thesis is on the association of overweight and obesity with socioeconomic status, depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and adverse childhood experiences. The objective is to shed light on the psychosocial background of obesity and in doing so, to help us gain a better understanding of the psychological and environmental factors that contribute to obesity.

2.1.1 Epidemiology of Obesity

Obesity is defined as an accumulation of over 30% body fat in women and 20% body fat in men and is a significant risk factor for many non-communicable diseases and associated with a higher mortality rate. Moreover, obesity has itself been defined as a disease that can cause premature disability and death. The Body Mass Index (BMI) is a measurement used to approximate an individual's percentage of adipose tissue, and is calculated by dividing body weight, in kilograms, by height, in meters squared (Herpertz and Zipfel, 2018). The significance of the obesity epidemic is evident in epidemiological data, the prevalence of obesity has risen in every single county around the world—since 1975, the worldwide prevalence of obesity has nearly tripled in adults and risen tenfold in children and adolescents (N. C. D. Risk Factor Collaboration, 2017).

The human propensity toward weight gain is understandable from an evolutionary perspective. In times of food scarcity, it was those who could outlast long periods of famine who were able to reproduce. However, the current obesogenic environment—characterized by a sedentary lifestyle and large quantities of processed, high-caloric foods—have caused these traits to become counterproductive, the long-term energy imbalance causing many people around the world to gain excess weight (Blüher, 2019). It is no longer merely developed countries that are affected by the obesity epidemic, the prevalence of obesity has risen in every single country around the world. The adverse effects of obesity may be particularly far-reaching in low-income countries as they grapple with what has been identified by World Health Organization and others as the 'double burden of disease'—the perpetuation of infectious diseases and malnutrition, on the one hand, and the rise of noncommunicable diseases, on the other (WHO, 2018, Popkin et al., 2020).

The German population has easy access to inexpensive, high caloric foods and drinks. Evolutionarily, however, humans are far better equipped to deal with a lack of food than with an abundance thereof. Thus, in Germany today, 58.2% of the entire population are either overweight (BMI ≥ 25 kg/m²) or obese (BMI ≥ 30 kg/m²). Of these, 20.8% are obese: 15.1% are obesity class I (BMI 30-35kg/m²), 4.1% are obesity class II (BMI 35-40kg/m²), and 1.5% are obesity class III (BMI ≥ 40 kg/m²) (Ernährung, 2008). Approximately 15% of children and young adults in Germany are overweight, and of these 6.3% are obese (Zündorf, 2006). This trend of obesity in young people is particularly concerning as a possible predictor for the future of the obesity epidemic, considering that around half of the overweight children and the majority of overweight adolescents become overweight as adults (Weaver, 2017). Furthermore, the high levels of obesity in Germany generate expenditures between 2.7 and 5.7 million Euros every year—both directly, through medical costs, and indirectly, through occupational disability (Herpertz et al., 2011).

2.1.2 Biological Determinants of Obesity

A long-term energy imbalance between calorie intake, on the one hand, and metabolism, energy expenditure, and physical activity, on the other hand, lead to excess weight gain. Yet the interplay among the factors that lead to this imbalance are complex, and not conclusively explained—a number of interconnected biological, environmental, and psychosocial factors predispose an individual toward becoming overweight or obese. Due to an obesogenic environment, characterized by an increase in calorie dense foods and sedentary lifestyle, more people are overweight today than ever before. This section offers a brief overview of some biological determinants of obesity, including genetics, neuroendocrinological factors, metabolic imbalance, and gut dysbiosis.

The extent to which the imbalance between calorie intake and physical activity results in excess weight gain is largely **hereditary**. It is estimated that around 40-70% of a person's BMI can be attributed to genetics (Zaitlen et al., 2013). To date over 140 gene loci have been discovered that influence adiposity traits (Fall et al., 2017). However, save for a few notable exceptions, such as Prader-Willi Syndrome, the influence of specific genes on the development of obesity is not yet well understood (Hinney et al., 2010). Despite a plethora of evidence indicating that obesity, or at least the disposition toward obesity, is heritable, the genetic variants discovered thus far explain only 5% of BMI variation (Franks and McCarthy, 2016). This indicates on the one hand, that there is need for further research into the heritability of obesity and, on the other hand, that the explanation for BMI variation will not be found solely in an individual's genes.

Neuroendocrinological factors also play a role in weight gain, with the central nervous system playing an important role in energy and glucose homeostasis (Timper and Brüning, 2017). In humans, complex neuronal circuits in the hypothalamus and brain stem are in charge of appetite and satiety. These circuits, however, are subject to modulation by higher brain functions, such as the limbic region and the cerebral cortex (Ahima and Antwi, 2008). In other words, behavioral factors and our internal reward system can override our

sense of satiety, causing us to eat more than we need to. Thus rendering therapeutic solutions that attempt to directly regulate the hypothalamic circuit useless and explaining why the pharmacological treatment options for obesity are still extremely limited (Zwaan et al., 2011). Furthermore, the changes in biological mechanisms, caused by excess adipose tissue, may themselves prevent effective weight loss and even perpetuate weight gain. Underscoring the fact that short term behavioral or medical interventions will be insufficient to reverse the farreaching effects of overweight and obesity (Blüher, 2019).

A relatively recent area of research into the etiology of obesity can be found in the human gut—more precisely the reduction in gut microbiome diversity. **Gut dysbiosis** has been consistently associated with several metabolic disorders, including obesity (Cunningham et al., 2021), type II diabetes, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Vallianou et al., 2019). These discoveries may offer key insights for future individualized therapeutic solutions (Cunningham et al., 2021, Wei et al., 2021). However, there are currently still many uncertainties in the role that gut dysbiosis may play in the association between an individual's genetics and the development of obesity (Vallianou et al., 2019).

Research into the biological factors leading to excess weight gain is extensive and this chapter can offer only a brief excerpt of this field of study, nevertheless, these examples demonstrate that our biology plays an important role in fostering obesity.

2.1.3 Medical Consequences of Obesity

Obesity is a major modifiable risk factor for many non-communicable diseases, affecting almost all regions of the body. Understanding obesity as an inflammatory disease, defined by an increase in cytokines released by adipocytes, helps explain its far-reaching medical consequences—including, but not limited to, the cardiovascular, metabolic, musculoskeletal, and pulmonary systems (Finer, 2015). Moreover, the risk for certain types of cancer is elevated (Finer, 2015, Friedenreich et al., 2021). In Europe, one in seven premature deaths can be attributed to overweight and obesity—making it one of the leading causes of premature death, second only to tobacco (Global B. M. I. Mortality Collaboration et al., 2016). In discussing the medical consequences, it is important to distinguish between overweight and obese individual's BMI, the greater the risk of disease and mortality is curvilinear—the higher an individual's BMI, the greater the risk of disease and mortality (Bray et al., 2017). A u-shaped curve has been used to describe the link between the two, with both a low and a high BMI associated with a higher mortality (Finer, 2015). The optimal BMI in regard to all-cause mortality is between 22.5 and 25kg/m²—above 25kg/m² mortality rises by 30% for every extra 5 BMI points (Bray et al., 2017).

The medical consequences of obesity have long been in the public eye. When it was first published in 2002, the **Obesity Paradox**, which claimed that overweight individuals live longer than normal weight individuals, caused debate both in the media and medical

community (Gruberg et al., 2002). Despite the attention it received, these results were negated by two further studies that showed that the data was skewed. First, a 2018 study published in JAMA cardiology (Khan et al., 2018), reported that, although longevity was similar in overweight and normal weight individuals, overweight individuals (defined as BMI $\geq 25 \text{kg/m}^2$ and $\langle 30 \text{kg/m}^2 \rangle$ had a higher risk of developing cardiovascular diseases, were diagnosed at a younger age, and lived more years of their life with cardiovascular disease morbidity. In obese individuals (defined as BMI $\geq 30 \text{kg/m}^2$), higher rates of both morbidity and mortality were confirmed. According to the authors of this study, the previously published positive effects of overweight on longevity could be explained by the fact that individuals with a higher BMI were often diagnosed earlier in life, thus living more years with the diagnosis of a cardiovascular disease without indeed having a lower rate of mortality. Second, a comprehensive study from The Global BMI Mortality Collaboration in 2016 debunked large parts of the Obesity Paradox by adjusting for smoking and chronic diseases. Almost 4 million people were identified who had never smoked and had no pre-existing chronic diseases, furthermore, those who died within the first five years of the study were also excluded. Without the effects of smoking and chronic disease, both of which can cause a decrease in BMI, overweight and all grades of obesity were associated with a higher rate of all-cause mortality. Moreover, results showed that the risks associated with overweight and obesity were particularly high in men and young people. Interestingly, the study also found that people at the lower end (18.5-20kg/m²) of what the World Health Organization categorizes as "normal" BMI (18.5-25kg/m²) had a similar all-cause mortality as people in the overweight category. Nonetheless, the finding of a curvilinear relationship between BMI and morbidity and mortality remained—the higher an individual's BMI the greater the risk of disease and the shorter the life expectancy (Global B. M. I. Mortality Collaboration et al., 2016).

The adverse health effects of obesity are twofold—first, the direct effects of excess adipose tissue on the organism, and second, the metabolic changes caused by an increase of adipocytes both in number (hyperplasia) and size (hypertrophy) (Bray et al., 2017). Large amounts of excess weight affect the musculoskeletal and respiratory systems and often go hand in hand with metabolic changes. Excess weight impacts the **ventilatory system** causing dyspnea and breathlessness. These symptoms are a result of both the increased weight compressing the chest wall, thus decreasing the end-expiratory lung volume, and the higher ventilatory demand created by a greater body weight, which is met by an increased breathing rate especially when exercising (Finer, 2015). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome is also observed in approximately 30% of obese individuals and more frequently affects men. It is caused both through mechanical changes such as accumulation of fat in the pharynx and a decrease in muscle tone (Bray et al., 2018). The **musculoskeletal system** is similarly affected, with osteoarthritis more commonly observed in overweight and obese individuals, affecting both weight bearing and non-weight bearing joints, suggesting that the cause is a combination of both increased pressure on joints and metabolic changes (Finer, 2015).

The pathogenic products produced by adipocytes and the resulting metabolic changes systematically affect the entire body making obesity a risk factor for, among others, cardiovascular diseases, type II diabetes, gastrointestinal diseases and cancers (Bray, 2004). Obesity increases the risk of **hypertension**, **stroke and cardiovascular disease**. Approximately one third of obese adults suffer from hypertension (compared to about one sixth of normal weight individuals) and are thus at a higher risk of developing congestive heart failure. Several factors contribute to the increased risk, including metabolic imbalances in lipids, hemostasis, and insulin that contribute to a structural change in the vascular system and the heart. Overall, cardiovascular mortality attributes to approximately half of the excess mortality of obesity (Finer, 2015).

The association between obesity, in particular an increase in visceral fat, and **type II diabetes** is particularly striking—75% of type II diabetics are overweight or obese (Finer, 2015). The effects of obesity on type II diabetes have been likened to the effects of tobacco on lung cancer (Yach et al., 2006)—for every 1kg/m² increase in BMI above 22kg/m² the risk of diabetes rises by 25%. Overall survival is reduced by a median of two to four years for individuals with a BMI of 30-35 kg/m² and by eight to ten years for those with a BMI of 40-45 kg/m² (Finer, 2015). However for individuals at risk of developing type II diabetes, this strong correlation can have a positive effect—even modest weight loss (of approximately 5-10%) can meaningfully improve health outcomes (Hallberg et al., 2019, Ryan and Yockey, 2017).

Furthermore, obesity negatively affects the gastrointestinal system especially the biliary system and the liver. Obese individuals are at a higher risk of developing gall-stones due to an excess of body fat which produces a surplus of cholesterol that must be secreted through the biliary tree (Finer, 2015). Even more deleterious is the effect of obesity on the liver. Akshintala et al. (Akshintala et al., 2019) describe the liver as "the 'mirror' of metabolic health", since the amount of fat in the liver reflects insulin resistance and adipocyte disfunction. In developed countries, parallel to the rise of obesity, there has been an increase in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), characterized by an increase of liver fat. NAFLD is currently the most common chronic liver disease in developed countries. Around 40-50% of the obese population has NAFLD, and among obese individuals with type II diabetes this number reaches up to 70%. Nevertheless, NAFDL is most likely widely underdiagnosed due to the scarcity of reliable non-invasive diagnostic methods. A more severe form of liver disease is non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), characterized by lobular inflammation, necrosis and often fibrosis, which can lead to cirrhosis and eventually to hepatocellular carcinoma (Akshintala et al., 2019, Saitta et al., 2019). In developed countries NASH is a leading indication for liver transplantation, second only to hepatitis C. Moreover, if the current trend in obesity remains, it is predicted to become the most common cause of end stage liver failure within the next decade (Akshintala et al., 2019).

Obesity is also associated with certain types of **cancers**, especially in women (Argyrakopoulou et al., 2021). In both sexes, the risk of colorectal, esophagus, gall bladder, renal, and liver cancers among others are elevated. Additionally, there is a higher risk of breast and endometrial cancer in women, due to the hormonal activity of excess adipose tissue, and a higher risk of prostate cancer in men (Finer, 2015). In 2012 an estimated 3.9% of all cancers worldwide could be causally attributed to overweight and obesity and this number is expected to continue to rise in future. This disproportionally affects women, who, compared to men, had more than double the number of cancer cases attributable to excess body weight (Sung et al., 2019, Argyrakopoulou et al., 2021).

Obesity is defined as an element of the **metabolic syndrome**; a co-occurrence of several cardiovascular risk factors, including abdominal obesity, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension. Notably, the distribution of body fat plays an important role as an indicator of health risk. In comparison to peripheral patterns of fat distribution as well as increased subcutaneous fat, excess visceral and intra-abdominal fat are more metabolically active and thus associated with a higher risk for insulin resistance. One of the drawbacks of the BMI as a measurement is that it is unable to distinguish between different types of body fat distribution (Jayedi et al., 2020) and, moreover, cannot differentiate between fat and lean tissue (Engin, 2017).

BMI is a simple, fast, and inexpensive measurement that can be easily employed in a clinical setting. Nevertheless, Tomiyama et al. discourage the use of BMI as the principal measure of metabolic health. According to the authors, the major drawback of relying entirely on BMI as a proxy for health is that BMI categories cannot accurately reflect the complex association between excess weight and health outcomes. In their study, examining the association of BMI and cardiometabolic health, they found that, while the percentage of metabolically healthy individuals decreased as BMI increased, there were nevertheless many overweight and obese individuals who were metabolically healthy and a significant proportion of normal weight individuals who were metabolically unhealthy. According to their results, roughly 30% of normal weight individuals, 53% of overweight individuals, 71% of obesity grade I individuals, and 84% of obesity grade II and III individuals were classified as metabolically unhealthy, indicating that not all overweight and obese individuals are uniformly unhealthy. The arbitrary assumption that all obese patients have poor metabolic health can have negative consequences for people of all BMI categories-overweight and obese individuals may face stigmatization under the assumption that they lead an unhealthy lifestyle, while normal weight individuals may not receive adequate preventative, diagnostic, and therapeutic measures as they are regularly assumed to be metabolically healthy (Tomiyama et al., 2016, Wijayatunga and Dhurandhar, 2021).

Recent studies, aimed at identifying the root of higher morbidity and mortality amongst overweight and obese individuals, have differentiated between **metabolically healthy obesity** (MHO) and metabolically unhealthy obesity (MUO). However, at present, there is controversy as to generally accepted criteria defining MHO and, in some cases, the very existence of MHO has been called into question. MHO has been referred to as the "honeymoon phase" of obesity, that progresses to MUO in time. Moreover, despite the fact that MHO is not associated with an increased risk of type II diabetes and cardiovascular morbidity, adverse health effects in regard to osteoarthritis, sleep apnea, and respiratory problems remain. Therefore, there is relatively wide consensus among the reviewed literature that weight loss should also be a primary goal for metabolically healthy obese individuals (Iacobini et al., 2019).

Defining weight loss as the primary therapeutic goal for all obese individuals is easier said than done—there are many factors, which underscore the fact that making individuals alone responsible for weight loss is not a viable solution to ending the obesity epidemic. Especially in light of the fact that, despite evolving knowledge on the etiology of obesity, treatment options for overweight and obese individuals remain extremely limited (Müller et al., 2021). Moreover, biology alone cannot explain the current extent of the obesity epidemic, and although genetic variants, neuroendocrinological factors, and gut dysbiosis may facilitate obesity, it is the interaction between individual propensity toward weight gain and an obesogenic environment that tip the scales toward overweight and obesity.

2.2 The Psychosocial Background of Obesity

In addition to the heterogeneous biological factors that contribute to obesity, there are psychosocial factors that dictate the extent to which those of us who are predisposed toward obesity gain wait. It is this multidimensional psychosocial background of obesity that is at the center of this thesis. The Oxford English Dictionary defines "psychosocial" as "pertaining to the influence of social factors on an individual's mind or behavior, and to the interrelation of behavioral and social factors" (Oxford English Dictionary, 1989). Psychosocial factors are multidimensional constructs that encompass social and cultural environment (such as socioeconomic status, interpersonal relationships, family, ethnicity, and religion), mood status (including, among others, anxiety and depression), and cognitive behavioral responses (for instance satisfaction, control, self-esteem, and self-efficacy) (Vizzotto et al., 2013).

In reviewing the literature, the following three psychosocial determinants of overweight and obesity emerged as particularly relevant: first, the importance of **socioeconomic status**; second, the bidirectional association between obesity and **common mental disorders**, namely symptoms of depression and symptoms of anxiety; and third, the impact of **adverse childhood experiences** on the current obesity epidemic. The details and implications of each are outlined in the following sections (2.2.1-2.2.5).

2.2.1 Socioeconomic Status

Socioeconomic status (SES) is a latent construct that describes an individual's or family's economic and social status in relation to others and can be differentiated into objective and subjective SES. The more commonly used **objective SES** is defined by access to material resources, most commonly the three aspects of education, income, and occupation (Baker, 2014) Whereas **subjective SES** is defined as an individual's own subjective perception of their place on the social ladder. Evidence suggests that subjective socioeconomic status more strongly affects health and BMI than objective SES does (Hoebel and Lampert, 2020, Bradshaw et al., 2017). To date, socioeconomic status (SES) is the one of the most important predictors, not only of overall health (Stringhini et al., 2017), but also of overweight and obesity (Bradshaw et al., 2017).

The extent to which our biologically determined individual propensity toward excess weight causes obesity is mediated by our environment and our health behaviors and these are dictated overwhelmingly by our socioeconomic status. The importance of environmental and social factors in fostering obesity is indicated by the fact that obesity is not equally distributed among our society. There is a well-established inverse relationship between SES and overweight and obesity—individuals with a lower SES tend to have a higher BMI (Kuntz and Lampert, 2010). An increasing body of evidence indicates that, as a result of both social causation and reverse causality, there is a bidirectional association between SES and obesity.

2.2.1.1 Current Inequalities and the Bidirectional Association between Obesity and SES

Sobal and Stunkard pioneered research into the field of obesity science and, in doing so, shed light on the inverse **association between obesity and SES** in developed countries (Sobal and Stunkard, 1989). In the developing world, however, the likelihood of obesity was greater in more affluent socioeconomic groups until the end of the 20th century. Sobal and Stunkard reviewed 144 studies published between 1960 and 1980 and found that obesity was higher in individuals with a higher SES in developing countries (Sobal and Stunkard, 1989). However, this association was no longer found in studies published after 1989—as a country's gross national product increases, the burden of obesity progressively shifts towards groups with lower SES (Monteiro et al., 2004, Dinsa et al., 2012), creating the double burden of disease that has evolved as a particular problem of developing countries in recent years (Popkin et al., 2020).

Based on Sobal and Stunkards' original research, McLaren reviewed 333 scientific articles on the correlation between SES and overweight and obesity in developed countries. Consistent with previous findings, she observed that a lower SES correlates with a higher BMI in women in 63% of the studies and in men in 37% of these studies, though the negative correlation was not as striking as the one published in 1989 (McLaren, 2007). A more recent review, published in 2017, reproduced the negative correlation between SES and obesity for women, but found inconsistent results for men. The authors note that the majority (13 out of 15) of the studies available examined developed countries, while little information was available for developing countries (Newton et al., 2017). While the levels of overweight and obesity in adults continue to rise across the globe, the levels of childhood and adolescent obesity seem to have reached a plateau in many high-income countries (Abarca-Gómez et al., 2017). Worryingly however, even in these countries the socioeconomic disparities regarding obesity continue to grow (Krueger and Reither, 2015, Mensink et al., 2013, Frederick et al., 2014).

These inequalities indicate the importance of further research into the bidirectional association between obesity and SES. The inverse relationship between SES and obesity has long been explained by **social causation**, namely that a variety of financial and social factors lead groups with a lower SES to be more vulnerable to obesity. However, in recent years, evidence of the importance of **reverse causality** has emerged—meaning that structural inequalities make it more likely for people with obesity to develop a lower SES. A meta-analysis published in 2018, found a statistically significant link for both lower income and subsequent obesity (social causation) and obesity and subsequent lower income (reverse causality). Although notably, after adjusting for publication bias, only the results indicating reverse causality remained relevant (Kim and von dem Knesebeck, 2018). In the following chapters, evidence supporting both of these hypotheses is presented and possible mechanisms are discussed.

2.2.1.1.1 The Social Causation Hypothesis

A poor food environment and decreased physical activity are the two most commonly discussed factors in the **social causation** of the obesity epidemic. In areas with fewer financial means there is often an environment that negatively influences health related behavior and fosters obesity, both through a lack of access to healthy food and a lack of opportunity for physical activity.

Physical activity is strongly associated with physical health and mental well-being and a lack of physical activity can contribute to the long-term positive energy imbalance that leads to overweight and obesity. Most evidence suggests that an increasingly sedentary lifestyle is a main contributor to the obesity epidemic. Physical activity seems to be influenced by our physical environment and areas with higher walkability and access to recreational facilities have been associated with lower body weight. Nevertheless, the causal relationship between our environment, consequent physical activity and the obesity epidemic remain controversial (Smith et al., 2019, Archer et al., 2018, Lam et al., 2021). **Diet quality and nutritional preferences**, which are influenced by both financial and psychosocial aspects, also play an important role in developing overweight and obesity. The negative consequences of unhealthy diets, such as obesity, type II diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, are well established in scientific literature (WHO, 2003). However, within our society, groups with a low SES are disproportionately affected by poor diet quality and subsequently also disproportionately affected by obesity and poor health (Fekete and Weyers, 2016). The inequalities in diet quality and nutritional preferences can be explained by socioeconomic, structural, psychosocial, and sociocultural factors—these numerous factors can be subsumed into three determinants that at times overlap, namely the **affordability, availability, and accessibility of foods** (Mader et al., 2020).

Affordability of healthy nutritional options is dictated by socioeconomic factors, most importantly financial resources. Affordability refers to the monetary cost of a diet and is, at least in part, responsible for the socioeconomic disparities in diet quality. There is a substantial financial barrier to a nutritious diet, as healthy foods are often more expensive than unhealthy options (Darmon and Drewnowski, 2015). Thus, it is unsurprising that there is an inverse association between the consumption of healthy foods and SES (Appelhans et al., 2012), although it must be noted that in absolute terms the SES differences in regard to food purchasing are relatively small (Pechey et al., 2013).

Availability of foods is dictated by structural factors, including neighborhood SES and food insecurity. Interestingly, **neighborhood SES** is associated with a higher risk of overweight and obesity independent of individual SES, Mohammed et al. found 31% higher odds of overweight and 45% higher odds of obesity in low SES neighborhoods in their metaanalysis containing data from over 1 million individuals (Mohammed et al., 2019). There are several factors thought to contribute to the obesogenic nature of neighborhoods with a low SES. A common explanation why obesity disproportionately affects groups with low SES is a **poor food environment**—meaning energy dense foods are more readily available, while healthy food options are scarcer in neighborhoods with a low SES (Caldwell and Sayer, 2019). Furthermore, **food insecurity** may cause lasting changes in food preferences even when food is no longer scarce (Olson et al., 2007). According to a 2019 meta-analysis, adults, especially women, in food insecure households are at a higher risk of obesity. However, they also note that the results should be viewed critically, due to the large heterogeneity amongst the 31 studies examined (Moradi et al., 2019).

Despite these findings, food availability and diet preferences alone seem insufficient to explain the inequalities in SES in regards to overweight and obesity (Mader et al., 2020, Zagorsky and Smith, 2017). Moreover, the scientific results are at times contradictory. A meta-analysis from 2020, examined first, the **social causation of diet quality** and subsequent effects on BMI and second, the socioeconomic consequences of obesity. Utilizing longitudinal data of over 20,000 individuals of the general German population, they found inconclusive results regarding the predictive power of SES on diet quality (in fact, the only factors that predicted healthy diets were female sex, higher educational attainment, and younger age). However, the authors did find that developing obesity was significantly associated with a decrease in SES, thus adding evidence to the theory of reverse causality (which is discussed in the following chapter) (Mader et al., 2020).

Accessibility is dictated by sociocultural factors and psychosocial factors, many of which additionally limit access to physical activity and negatively influence health behavior. **Sociocultural factors**, include culturally handed down nutritional traditions, exercise behaviors, and body-image (Fekete and Weyers, 2016), which pass on the predisposition toward overweight and obesity from one generation to the next (Kuntz and Lampert, 2010). Evidence indicates, that while **parental influences** affect weight gain, genetic determinants of obesity may be more relevant than family environment. Studies investigating twins separated at birth, found that when adopted by parents who were both overweight or obese, the children were significantly more likely also to be overweight or obese. Despite these findings, the association between biological parents and their offspring were significantly stronger than between adopted parents and their children (Silventoinen et al., 2010).

Psychosocial factors include health literacy, self-efficacy, and social support and may mediate the link between low SES and obesity via psychosocial stress (Moore and Cunningham, 2012). Individuals living in low SES neighborhoods may be more exposed to psychosocial stressors, which negatively affect self-efficacy and socials support structures. Both low self-efficacy and lack of social support are associated with lower SES and with higher rates of obesity (Fekete and Weyers, 2016). Furthermore, higher SES is associated with higher **health literacy**, which promotes healthy lifestyle choices. In addition to financial constraints, knowledge of nutrition is an important aspect that influences diet quality and health behavior (Kim et al., 2017).

Job strain and the chronic stress it produces has also been found to predict the development of obesity (Brunner et al., 2007). As work stress and job strain are more frequent in individuals with lower SES it has been hypothesized to be a mediator between SES and obesity, however, results remain inconclusive. Two studies conducted in 2006 and 2007, found an association between higher levels of work stress and the development of obesity, abdominal obesity, and metabolic syndrome (Brunner et al., 2007, Chandola et al., 2006). Several others, including a meta-analysis by Wardle et al. and a review by Overgaard et al., however, showed weak or absent effects (Overgaard et al., 2004, Wardle et al., 2011, Rosengren et al., 2015, van Oostrom et al., 2021). Furthermore, the association could not be reproduced in a 2015 meta-analysis including eight studies on the subject (Kivimäki et al., 2015).

As mentioned above, **psychosocial stress** has been proposed as the mediating link between SES and obesity. Moreover, psychosocial stress makes individuals with a lower SES disproportionately susceptible to **mental health disorders**, such as depression, which in turn increase the risk of overweight and obesity (see section 2.2.3 for details) (Schlax et al., 2019, Gary-Webb et al., 2011). Goodman et al. propose that subjective SES may mediate the link between objective SES and obesity via psychological stress, which can lead to social isolation, depression, and weight gain (Goodman et al., 2003). However, evidence supporting the premise that psychosocial stress predicts obesity is controversial and complicated due to the complex and multifactorial nature of the link.

2.2.1.1.2 Reverse Causality and the Obesogenic Effects of Weight Stigma

The social causation hypothesis (see chapter 2.2.1.1.1.) states that people living in areas with a low socioeconomic status (SES) are disadvantaged, especially regarding access to healthy nutritional options and physical activity, and thus disproportionately develop overweight and obesity. By contrast, mounting evidence suggests that, overweight and obesity can also lead to a decrease in SES—this is referred to as **reverse causality**. Weight stigma and structural discrimination are primarily to blame for reverse causality. Stigmatization leads to fewer material resources, disadvantages in education and occupation, changes in health promoting behavior, as well as psychological ramifications, such as stress, isolation, lower self-esteem, lower self-efficacy and internalized weight bias (Kim and von dem Knesebeck, 2018).

In this section, mechanisms are discussed through which weight bias and subsequent **structural discrimination** lead individuals with overweight or obesity to be disproportionately more likely to experience a decrease in SES. The belief that obesity is an individual life choice is deeply rooted in our society and, due to the fact that obesity is readily apparent, obese individuals are uniquely susceptible to **stigma and discrimination**. This continuous and pervasive discrimination affects almost all aspects of life and is harmful to physical and mental health (Bray et al., 2017, Rubino et al., 2020). Importantly, concentrating only on individual responsibility of overweight and obesity fails to address the ways in which weight stigma perpetuates obesity and leads to structural discrimination (Goldberg and Puhl, 2013).

The inverse association between SES and obesity is a relatively recent phenomenon throughout most of history, overweight and obesity were considered a status symbol. In developed countries, excess weight was a prerogative of the elite and an indicator of personal wealth and health until the late 19th century. At the turn of the 20th century, however, it was no longer only the rich who had a surplus of food, as it became more readily available to the middle class as well. Thus, as overweight and obesity became more common the tide began to turn and fatness became associated with greed and gluttony. In this context, a thin body became a marker of self-control and restraint in a society characterized by excess. Interestingly, the stigmatization of the fat body predates health concerns regarding obesity. Cultural anxiety regarding body weight developed at a time when, through industrialization and urbanization, concerns regarding overconsumption grew more prominent. This historic denigration contributes to the pervasiveness of weight stigma in today's society (Farrell, 2011).

Weight stigma is defined as the "devaluation and denigration of individuals because of their excess body weight" (Rubino et al., 2020) and can lead to weight-based stereotypes. Such preconceptions include the unfounded assumption that overweight and obese individuals are lazy, gluttonous, and lacking in self-discipline. Weight bias is widespread and includes **explicit bias**, which is overt and can be measured via self-report, **implicit bias**, which consists of unconscious stereotypes (Elran-Barak and Bar-Anan, 2018), and **internalized bias**, which may be particularly harmful as it causes self-blame and self-devaluation. According to estimates by Puhl et al., internalized weight bias is highly prevalent, affecting 40-50% of US adults with overweight or obesity (Puhl et al., 2018). As a consequence of weight bias, obese individuals face discrimination in almost all aspects of their lives, including the health care system, education, workplace, and social interactions (Wu and Berry, 2018).

In the public narrative and media coverage the misconception that obesity is an entirely individual responsibility is pervasive, and this plays an important role in reinforcing and legitimizing weight stigma (Puhl et al., 2013b, Rubino et al., 2020). Some medical ethicists, such as Callahan, have gone as far as to argue that stigmatization is an effective tool against the obesity epidemic—the common wisdom being that stigmatizing and ostracizing overweight and obese individuals will provide the necessary motivation needed to promote weight loss (Callahan, 2013). Besides being an ethically highly problematic suggestion (Goldberg and Puhl, 2013), current scientific literature indicates that the opposite is the case—not only does weight stigma fail to incite weight loss, it may be an important factor in reinforcing obesity (Hunger and Tomiyama, 2014, Rubino et al., 2020, Brewis et al., 2018). This was stated unequivocally by 36 members of an expert panel who authored a "Joint international consensus statement for ending stigma of obesity", published in Nature Medicine in 2020 (Rubino et al., 2020).

Weight stigma is associated with negative **physiological and psychological health outcomes** (Wu and Berry, 2018). Higher levels of weight stigma make individuals more susceptible to common mental health disorders (as detailed in section 2.3.3.2) and, conversely, lead to increased food intake, increased weight gain, and decreased physical activity. Furthermore, when compared to individuals who did not report weight stigma, the experience of weight stigma lead to higher levels of C-reactive protein, cortisol, cardiometabolic risk, and mortality (Rubino et al., 2020).

Weight stigma is particularly pervasive and particularly harmful in **the health care system.** 'Anti-fat' sentiments are widespread among medical health professionals (Sabin et al., 2012), even in clinicians who specialize in obesity issues (Tomiyama et al., 2015). In some

cases, concentrating solely on a patient's obesity has caused physicians to overlook other serious health conditions (Tomiyama et al., 2018). Unsurprisingly, stigmatization in the health care system can lead overweight and obese individuals to avoid or delay seeking medical attention (Puhl et al., 2013a, Puhl et al., 2021) and negatively impact the quality of care that higher weight individuals receive (Rubino et al., 2020).

Besides discrimination by individual health care providers, there is also **structural discrimination in the health care system**. Structural discrimination limits obese patients' access to bariatric surgery even when they are eligible and despite the fact that it is efficacious and cost-effective. Craig et al. conclude that these inequalities in the care of individuals with severe obesity are unethical and can be explained by pervasive weight bias that informs health policy (Craig et al., 2018). In some countries, such as the United States, lack of access to bariatric surgery disproportionately affects individuals with a low SES, further exacerbating the inequalities that already exist (Martin et al., 2010). Evidence suggests that individuals who are aware of the complex and multifactorial etiology of obesity are less likely to engage in weight stigma and discrimination (Rubino et al., 2020). The misconception of personal responsibility can cause individual and societal harm and, as these examples illustrate, even amongst health care professionals and policy makers there is a need for education on the multidimensional determinants of obesity.

Apart from the health care system, overweight and obese individuals face **professional, educational and interpersonal discrimination**—and throughout, the burden of weight stigma is felt more severely by women than men (Tronieri et al., 2017). On the one hand, women are subjected to more weight stigma than men, they are exposed to discrimination at an earlier age (Di Pasquale and Celsi, 2017) and at lower BMIs (27 kg/m^2 compared to 35 kg/m^2 in men) (Puhl et al., 2008). On the other hand, women seem to be more psychologically affected by weight discrimination and more likely to internalize weight bias (Tronieri et al., 2017). It has been hypothesized that this may be due to the greater value society places on female attractivity, thus penalizing women who do not fit conventional beauty ideals more harshly than men (Spahlholz et al., 2016). Subsequently, women with obesity complete fewer years of school, have a higher rate of poverty, are less likely to be upwardly mobile, and are less likely to be married than their normal weight counterparts. Men with obesity, by comparison, are merely less likely to be married (Finer, 2015).

In the **employment setting**, obese individuals are less likely to be considered qualified for a position, less likely to be invited for an interview, and less likely to be hired (Shinall, 2015, Flint et al., 2016, Campos-Vazquez and Gonzalez, 2020). Although workplace discrimination affects both men and women, the effects are more far reaching in women with obesity (Campos-Vazquez and Gonzalez, 2020, Shinall, 2015), who, if hired, are less likely to be employed in a setting that emphasizes personal interaction (the same is not true for men) (Shinall, 2015). People with obesity suffer from a considerable wage gap and this too is felt

more harshly by women than men—women earn an estimated 6.1% less than their normal weight peers, whereas men earn an estimated 3.4% less than normal weight men (Baum and Ford, 2004).

The health concerns regarding obesity are unquestionably valid and adapting appropriate preventative measures, such as improving food environment and promoting physical activity, could curb the far-reaching medical consequences of excess weight. However, the current culture of weight stigma and discrimination acts as an additional driver of the obesity epidemic, and the negative effects may disproportionally affect women. Stigmatization and structural discrimination cause further harm to individual and public health and exacerbate health inequalities along the socioeconomic gradient.

2.2.2 The Role of Common Mental Disorders in the Obesity Epidemic Both obesity and mental health disorders are highly prevalent and lead to significant and far reaching public health implications. Common mental disorders are comprised of two diagnostic categories that are frequently comorbid: first, depressive disorders and, second, anxiety disorders (WHO, 2017). There is a bidirectional link between obesity and these common mental disorders, the significance of which is examined in the following sections.

The effects of **bariatric surgery** and consequent weight loss on mental health disorders and vice versa are an interesting and often reoccurring topic in current scientific literature. However, candidates for bariatric surgery have an increased prevalence of mental health disorders and, as such, are not representative of the general population (Jakobsen et al., 2018, Herpertz et al., 2017). For instance, approximately 50% of patients undergoing bariatric surgery were found to use antidepressants (de Zwaan et al., 2011). Moreover, bariatric surgery may directly affect mental health through various mechanisms (Brown et al., 2021). In light of these differences between candidates for bariatric surgery and the general population (Jakobsen et al., 2018, Herpertz et al., 2017) as well as the complex effects of bariatric surgery and consequent weight loss on symptoms of depression and anxiety (Brown et al., 2021), these areas of research are deliberately excluded from this literature review, as their inclusion would go beyond the scope of this thesis.

2.2.3 Depressive Disorders

The two main subcategories of **depressive disorders** are major depressive disorder and dysthymia (WHO, 2017). Individuals with major depressive disorder often present with depressed mood and anhedonia, defined as an inability to enjoy experiences that would normally be enjoyable. Furthermore, symptoms of depression include fatigue, loss of interest, decreased concentration, altered sleep patterns (including both insomnia and hypersomnia), changes in appetite, feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt, psychomotor changes (such as agitation or lack of initiative), and suicidal ideation. A depressive episode can be diagnosed

if symptoms persist for more than 2 weeks and can be categorized according to severity as either mild, moderate, or severe. Dysthymia, on the other hand, is defined as a persistent or chronic form of mild depression that continues over a minimum of two years (Lyness, 2019). Depressive disorders cannot, however, be diagnosed when there is a history of manic episodes, which differentiates them from bipolar disorder (Otte et al., 2016).

2.2.3.1 Epidemiology and Implications of Depressive Disorders

Depression is a common mental disorder that affects around 322 million people worldwide and is prevalent in high-, middle-, and low-income countries. According to the WHO, the estimated **global prevalence** of depression was 4.4% in 2015. Notably, depressive disorders are more common in women (5.1%, compared to 3.6% in men). Furthermore, between 2005 and 2015 there was a 18.4% increase in people living with depression. This development is explained both by an overall increase in the global population as well as an increased number of people in the age groups that most commonly experience depression. The WHO's data indicates that prevalence varies by age, with the median age of onset around 25 years (Otte et al., 2016) and the highest rates of depression amongst adults between 55 and 74 years old (WHO, 2017). Depressive disorders are the number one cause of non-fatal health loss worldwide. In 2015, depressive disorders led to over 50 million Years Lived with Disability (YLD) globally, comprising 7.5% of all YLDs (WHO, 2017).

In Germany, the prevalence of current depressive symptoms is 8.1% and the lifetime prevalence of a diagnosed depression is 11.6%. In both cases the prevalence is higher amongst women than men; with a prevalence of current depressive symptoms of 10.2% in women, compared to 6.1% in men, and a lifetime prevalence of a diagnosed depression of 15.4% in women, compared to 7.8% in men (Busch et al., 2013). According to WHO estimates, the prevalence of depressive disorders in Germany is 5.2%, comprising almost 700,000 YLD or 7.5% of total YLD (WHO, 2017).

Individuals affected by depressive disorders often have severe functional impairments and a decreased quality of life. Depressive disorders are also associated with many noncommunicable diseases, including obesity, diabetes, stroke, acute myocardial infarction, and dementia, and confer a risk for several other chronic health conditions (Machado et al., 2018). Moreover, symptoms of depression may aggravate the negative health consequences of these comorbidities. For several somatic conditions, including breast cancer and acute coronary syndrome, depressive disorders have been shown to alter illness behavior, affecting patient compliance and decreasing adherence to treatment (Machado et al., 2018). Furthermore, depressive disorders may counteract adherence to positive lifestyle changes that are vital in counteracting negative health consequences (Sanchez-Villegas and Martinez-Gonzalez, 2013). As a public health concern, depressive disorders are responsible both for high health care costs and loss of productivity through work absence (Chisholm et al., 2016). Fortunately, **treatment**—including pharmacotherapy, psychotherapy and supportive measures—is available for depressive disorders and these measures can lead to improved mental, emotional, and social functioning. Although depressive disorders affect many people around the world, there are large discrepancies regarding access to treatment. Globally, fewer than 50% of individuals with depressive disorders receive treatment and in low income countries fewer than 10% have access to treatment (Marcus et al., 2012). Furthermore, even in high-income countries, such as Germany, many people with depressive disorders do not receive adequate treatment (Wang et al., 2007, Thornicroft et al., 2017). The WHO identifies a scarcity of resources, lack of trained health-care providers, and societal stigma associated with mental health disorders as the main barriers to effective treatment of depressive disorders (WHO, 2020). Another barrier to treatment is inaccurate assessment with the result that many people with depression remain undiagnosed and thus untreated (WHO, 2020). Moreover, depressive disorders are often chronic and, although treatment is available, a considerable percentage of patients do not respond satisfactorily (Blackburn, 2019).

Due in part to a lack of access to treatment and adequate treatment options, depressive disorders are a leading cause of disability and a major public health concern. The high prevalence of depression as well as its far-reaching consequences on individual and public health indicate that it is an important topic of research. Particularly, the psychosocial background of depressive disorders and their interconnection with other major public health concerns such as the obesity epidemic.

2.2.3.2 The Bidirectional Association between Obesity and Depressive Disorders

Depressive disorders and obesity are both highly prevalent and thus commonly co-occur. Moreover, there is a **bidirectional association** between obesity and depressive disorders they occur not only concurrently but also consecutively. On the one hand, mental disorders significantly increase an individual's risk of developing obesity, among others, due to increased sedentary behavior and changes in dietary habits (Martins et al., 2019). On the other hand, obesity and the associated metabolic disorders increase the incidence of depression. This co-occurrence is particularly troubling as it is linked to an increase in adverse health outcomes (Jantaratnotai et al., 2017).

Individuals who are obese have an approximately 55% increased odds of developing depression (Luppino et al., 2010). Notably, this association was higher when further metabolic risk factors were present and lower in metabolically healthy obese individuals (Jokela et al., 2014). A meta-analysis by de Wit et al. in 2010 found a similar reciprocal relationship between depression and obesity in women but not in men (de Wit et al., 2010a). Mannan et al. reconfirmed the bidirectional association between depression and obesity previously reported by Luppino et al. and de Wit et al. in 2010 (Mannan et al., 2016). In this

meta-analysis, the authors concluded that depression is more likely to predict overweight and obesity than vice versa, and that the association is particularly relevant in women of reproductive age (Mannan et al., 2016). Moreover, children who have depressive symptoms before the age of 17 are at a higher risk of developing weight problems as adults. In women, childhood depression was significantly associated with both overweight and obesity, while it was only associated with overweight in men (Hasler et al., 2005).

2.2.3.2.1 Some Biological and Psychosocial Pathways Linking Obesity and Depressive Disorders

The co-occurrence of depression and obesity may have both **biological and psychosocial underpinnings**. Biologically, plausible pathways mediating the link between obesity and depressive disorders involve inflammatory mediators and the immune system (neuroimmune theory), abnormal homeostasis of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (neuroendocrine theory), and behavioral mechanisms (Martins et al., 2019). Furthermore, certain antidepressants directly cause weight gain as a side effect (Verhaegen and Van Gaal, 2021). Psychologically, the stigma of obesity may play an important role in perpetuating depressive symptoms—both indirectly, through the structural effects of stigmatization and directly, through psychosocial stress (Brewis, 2014). Ouakinin et al. propose the stress response as a plausible mediator linking psychological and biological determinants of the two conditions (Ouakinin et al., 2018).

As mentioned above, biologically plausible mechanisms linking depressive disorders and obesity include the neuroimmune and the neuroendocrine theory. The **neuroimmune theory** proposes that an increase in immune mediators indirectly contributes to depressive disorders through disruptive effects on key functions, such as sleep, appetite, and cognition (Lee et al., 2016). Both depressive disorders and obesity are characterized by prolonged lowgrade inflammation and, thus, an increase of inflammatory cytokines and other mediators that can promote neuroinflammation. This link is especially relevant in abdominal obesity, which correlates with higher rates of inflammation and is a more accurate predictor of depression than BMI alone (Hryhorczuk et al., 2013, Jantaratnotai et al., 2017). The **neuroendocrine theory** suggests that an overactivation of the stress response causes an imbalance in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Lee et al., 2016). Furthermore, there is mounting evidence that gut microbiome dysbiosis may play a role in changes in brain function through mediating effects on the inflammatory response and the HPA-axis (Martins et al., 2019).

Some behavioral mechanisms, involving **dietary habits and sleep abnormalities**, may also play a role. Mood disorders can lead to altered dietary habits, such as an increased craving for foods rich in carbohydrates (Ventura et al., 2014). Consumption of foods with high carbohydrate content can temporarily lift mood both due to an activation of the brain opioid system and an increased serotonin production (Martins et al., 2019). Conversely, a diet high in calories and saturated fat is also directly associated with a higher risk of depression (Sanchez-Villegas and Martinez-Gonzalez, 2013). Moreover, sleep abnormalities, which are common in depressive disorders, alter neuroendocrine functions and may link depression to higher levels of obesity. Impaired sleep is also associated with dysfunctional glucose metabolism and increased hunger, mediated by changes in hormone balance (more precisely, an increase in ghrelin levels and a decrease in leptin levels) (Martins et al., 2019).

Importantly, antidepressant medication, which can be prescribed for moderate to severe depressive episodes, can also have far reaching consequences on metabolic health and is often directly responsible for weight gain. Many antidepressants, such as tricyclic antidepressants, some selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), serotoninnorepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) and mirtazapine (a tetracyclic antidepressant) are associated with a mean long-term increase of body weight upwards of 5% (Verhaegen and Van Gaal, 2021). Thus, antidepressant treatment is undoubtedly one reason why some individuals with depressive disorders become overweight or obese (Lee et al., 2016, Verhaegen and Van Gaal, 2021). However, there is currently no way to predict which individuals will be affected by weight gain, as it is independent of the severity of the underlying disorder and there is a large variation in individual weight gain. In a review by Verhaegen et al., the only consistent predictor of long-term weight gain was early weight gain, therefore it is important to screen for early weight gain (specifically an increase of over 5%) and, if possible, alter the antidepressant medication accordingly (Verhaegen and Van Gaal, 2021). The sharp rise in the prescription of antidepressants, which has risen by almost 400% since 1988, may be a contributing factor in the obesity epidemic (Lee et al., 2016).

In addition to the aforementioned biological and behavioral mechanisms, the bidirectional link between depressive disorders and obesity may be explained by psychosocial factors, primarily those that cause **psychosocial stress**. Psychosocial stress has been associated with negative physical and mental health outcomes although the interconnection between the two are not entirely understood (Beutel et al., 2018). In this context, the following two mechanisms have been proposed—on the one hand, mental health disorders may lead to poorer health behavior and as such reinforce the development of overweight and obesity and, on the other hand, the negative consequences of weight stigma may perpetuate symptoms of depression.

Previously, research found that psychosocial stress perpetuates weight gain in the general population through **poor health behavior** (Block et al., 2009, Harding et al., 2014). In one study this effect was stronger for women than it was for men, indicating that women may be more vulnerable to the effects of psychosocial stress (Chen and Qian, 2012). Psychosocial stress was associated with more uncontrolled eating, higher food craving, and physical inactivity, all of which promote weight gain. This effect of psychosocial stress on

health behavior seem to be exacerbated in those individuals who have mental health disorders such as depressive disorders. Within this cohort, as was also true in the general population, women were more affected by psychosocial stress (Beutel et al., 2018, Teychenne et al., 2010).

In a 2018 cross-sectional study by Beutel et al., which included over 2300 participants with mental disorders, the most commonly named stressor was "worries about health" among both men and women. The second most common stressor was "worries about weight or look[s]" among women and "financial problems" among men (Beutel et al., 2018)— indicating both the interdependence between the effects of weight-based stigma and psychosocial stress and the fact that women seem to be more vulnerable to them. In this study, higher levels of stress were associated with poorer health behavior. In women, higher levels of stress were associated with obesity, uncontrolled eating, and physical inactivity, whereas in men, higher levels of stress were associated with uncontrolled eating, physical inactivity, and smoking (Beutel et al., 2018). These results confirmed similar previous findings that stress leads to overeating, binge eating, food craving, and an increased intake in foods high in calories (Järvelä-Reijonen et al., 2016, Chao et al., 2015, Barrington et al., 2014)

As discussed in detail in chapter 2.2.1.1.2, obese individuals are uniquely susceptible to **societal stigma and discrimination** and the stigma of obesity plays an important role in perpetuating depressive symptoms both through psychosocial stress and through the structural effects of stigmatization (Brewis, 2014). Although women experience more weightbased discrimination than men at both an interpersonal and structural level, the effects of weight bias are felt by both genders across almost all facets of life and this continuous exposure to discrimination creates psychosocial stress (Tronieri et al., 2017). Increased levels of stress can contribute to depressive disorders by reinforcing inadequate dietary and exercise habits (Krzysztoszek et al., 2015). Moreover, the chronic stress in response to continuous stigmatization can lead to an increase in abdominal fat, which in turn may increase the mediators connected to both obesity and depression-starting anew the cycle of stigma, discrimination, and depression (Hryhorczuk et al., 2013). Hatzenbuehler et al. studied the effects of perceived weight discrimination in over 22,000 U.S. citizens and found that individuals who had experienced discrimination due to their weight were approximately 2.5 times more likely to experience mental disorders than those who did not. Interestingly, this association was independent of BMI, indicating that the detrimental effects of weight stigma may be independent of individual weight (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2009).

Both obesity and depression are isolating, stigmatizing, and have far reaching consequences on health and social functioning. A more holistic approach to the often cooccurring mental health disorders and obesity could improve both conditions. For instance, improved health behaviors, such as increased physical activity, can positively influence mental health through antidepressant effects and is also a cornerstone in the prevention of obesity (Hallgren et al., 2016). Such strategies for the prevention of obesity may be particularly effective if directed at individuals seeking treatment for mental health disorders, as research indicates that they are uniquely susceptible to the effects of psychosocial stress (Beutel et al., 2018).

2.2.4 Anxiety Disorders

Anxiety disorders include a variety of disorders ranging from generalized anxiety disorders to specific phobias; symptoms range from mild to severe. Their common feature is excessive fear and anxiety that persists beyond the appropriate period and/or avoidance of perceived internal or external threats, additionally, panic attacks may occur. Commonly, anxiety disorders develop in childhood or early adulthood and persist if left untreated (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, Craske et al., 2017). Anxiety disorders tend to coexist with each other and are highly comorbid with other mental disorders. Moreover, they are associated with poor subsequent health outcomes, both somatic and mental (Schmitz et al., 2010, Ströhle, 2018). For instance, over 50% of individuals with an anxiety disorder suffer from multiple anxiety disorders. In addition, individuals with anxiety disorders are at a higher risk of developing depressive disorders and more likely to suffer from a more severe course of depression (Craske et al., 2017). Despite their common occurrence and their significance as a public health care problem, even in high-income countries, anxiety disorders often remain undiagnosed and untreated (Alonso et al., 2018).

2.2.4.1 Etiology and Epidemiology of Anxiety Disorders

There are several risk factors which predispose toward anxiety disorders. These include, female sex (women are twice as likely as men to develop anxiety disorders), a family history of anxiety or depressive disorders (children of parents with anxiety disorders are two- to four-times as likely to develop anxiety disorders), and adverse childhood events. Moreover, genetics play an important role—heritability has been estimated at around 30 to 40% and, especially when combined with environmental stress, can lead to the development of anxiety disorders. However, specifics regarding mechanisms of familial transmission or gene loci remain largely unknown. Neurobiological changes have also been implicated in the etiology of anxiety disorders both through alterations in specific brain regions and dysfunction in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (Craske et al., 2017).

Globally, approximately one out of four individuals either currently has an anxiety disorder or has had one in the past (Craske et al., 2017). Anxiety disorders are the most common mental disorder in Europe with a 12-month prevalence of 14% (WHO, 2017). Most anxiety disorders begin at a young age and the 12-month prevalence in children and adolescents is similar to that in adults (Craske et al., 2017). Among highly developed countries, anxiety disorders rank in fourth place as the cause of Years Lived with Disability (YLD) and the impact of these disorders on the lives of affected individuals is profound.

According to WHO estimates, the prevalence of anxiety disorders in Germany is 5.8%, comprising over 400,000 YLD or 4.5% of total YLD (WHO, 2017).

2.2.4.2 The Bidirectional Link between Obesity and Anxiety Disorders

The u-shaped curve used to describe the correlation between BMI and somatic health conditions has been reproduced for the link between BMI and anxiety disorders—with both overweight (BMI ≥ 25 kg/m²) and underweight (BMI <18,5 kg/m²) individuals reporting higher levels of anxiety (Scott et al., 2008, DeJesus et al., 2016). Notably, this u-shaped curve could not be reproduced by a recent study investigating the relationship between BMI and anxiety disorders in the German population (Herhaus et al., 2020). Similar to the correlation between obesity and depression, there appears to be a reciprocal, **bidirectional link between obesity and anxiety disorders** (Puhl and Luedicke, 2012). However, there are very few longitudinal studies on this link and thus no clear conclusion can be made regarding the direction of the association (Rajan and Menon, 2017).

There have been two meta-analyses investigating the association between obesity and anxiety in adults, one conducted by Gariepy et al. in 2010 and one by Amiri and Behnezhad in 2019—although both found a positive association they also reported high levels of heterogeneity (Gariepy et al., 2010, Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019). The 2019 meta-analysis, including a majority of cross-sectional studies and three prospective cohort studies, found that overweight/obesity is positively associated with symptoms of anxiety. Amiri and Behnezhad examined emotional eating, weight stigma, and adverse childhood events as possbile pathways linking obesity and anxiety disorders (Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019). The 2010 meta-analysis by Gariepy et al. also found a positive association between obesity and anxiety disorders. The two pathways they consider most relevant in explaining this link are, first, the negative effect of weight-related discrimination on mental health outcomes and, second, the adverse effects of comorbidities associated with both obesity and anxiety disorders (Gariepy et al., 2010).

The possibility of **weight-based discrimination** as a mechanism linking obesity and anxiety disorders is discussed in both meta-analyses (Gariepy et al., 2010, Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019). Obese and overweight individuals report a higher incidence of being bullied, more instances of social isolation, and lower self-esteem and are thus at a higher risk of developing anxiety disorders (Puhl and Luedicke, 2012). Moreover, individuals with obesity tend to have a lower SES (see chapter 2.2.1.1), which is associated with poorer social support and social networks and these, in turn, are also associated with poorer mental health (Gariepy et al., 2010). Interestingly, one experimental study, investigating how SES and wealth inequality influence caloric intake, found that wealth inequality leads to increased calorie consumption via social anxiety (Bratanova et al., 2016). There are **gender differences** in the association between anxiety disorders and obesity, with women being disproportionately affected (Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019, Sharafi et al., 2020). These differences seem to be due to the fact that women with obesity are more severely affected by weight stigma and structural discrimination (see section 2.2.1.1.2. for details). Levy and Pilver investigated lingering effects of past weight stigma on mood disorders. The authors found that the likelihood of anxiety and depressive disorders among formerly obese individuals was almost equal to that of individuals who were presently obese. Thus, indicating that internalized weight bias may play an important role perpetuating negative mental health (Levy and Pilver, 2012).

Emotional eating has been proposed as the mediating link between anxiety disorders and obesity (Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019). Ostrovsky et al. examined the association between anxiety disorders and emotional and binge eating in overweight and obese individuals and found statistically significant results (Ostrovsky et al., 2013). However, a 2016 study examining this association in youths found that, although there was a positive association between the degree of adiposity and anxiety, emotional eating was not a mediating factor (Fox et al., 2016). Despite these inconsistencies, further research into this topic is important—anxiety disorders, and the accompanying emotional overeating, may be a severe hindrance toward seeking treatment for obesity and obesity treatment may be ineffective if the underlying anxiety disorders are not addressed as well (Ostrovsky et al., 2013).

Another pathway hypothesized to mediate the bidirectional link between obesity and anxiety disorders is their co-occurrence with **poor somatic health and an unhealthy lifestyle**. On the one hand, individuals with anxiety disorders tend to engage in fewer social and physical activities, thus increasing their risk of developing obesity (de Wit et al., 2010b). Anxiety disorders are also independently associated with several physical disorders and these are significantly associated with poor quality of life as well as disability and, thus, can predispose toward obesity (Sareen et al., 2006). On the other hand, an obesogenic lifestyle, including lack of physical activity and an unhealthy diet may promote and sustain anxiety disorders (De Moor et al., 2008). A recent study found that social anxiety symptoms mediated the link between obesity and insulin resistance as well as elevated inflammation—indicating that these health risks may be more severe in those individuals who suffer from both symptoms of anxiety and a higher BMI (Jaremka and Pacanowski, 2019).

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) have been associated with anxiety disorders (Hovens et al., 2012, Carr et al., 2013, Gardner et al., 2019a). In Europe, more than a quarter of cases of depression and anxiety could be attributed to ACEs, creating a combined annual cost of approximately 51 billion US dollars (Bellis et al., 2019). Although Gariepy et al. propose ACEs as a possible link between obesity and anxiety disorders (Gariepy et al., 2010), little is known regarding the mediating effect of ACEs on this association. Furthermore, there

may be an underlying **neurobiological link** between anxiety and obesity, these discoveries, however, have their basis in preclinical trials. In animal models studying rodents, a diet high in calories and sugar altered both the structure and function of the prefrontal cortex, the amygdala and the hippocampus, thus fundamentally altering emotional behavior (Giustino and Maren, 2015, Kalyan-Masih et al., 2016, Baker et al., 2017).

Although several pathways have been proposed to explain the recurring link between anxiety disorders and obesity, the association is less robust than the one between obesity and depressive disorders (Rajan and Menon, 2017). Moreover, the underlying mechanisms remain unclear and further research into this topic is needed in order to better understand the complexity of the mental health implications of overweight and obesity.

2.2.5 Adverse Childhood Experiences

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are characterized by disruptive and traumatizing events in a young person's life, such as abusive parenting, sexual abuse, parent separation, caregiver mental disorders, parental substance abuse, death of a caregiver, food insecurity and many more (Shonkoff et al., 2012). Parents or guardians are responsible for the vast majority of childhood mistreatment, and besides direct physical harm, the consequences of ACEs include long-term effects on "neurological, cognitive, and emotional development and overall health" (Norman et al., 2012). Nevertheless, it was only in the course of the industrial revolution that childhood was recognized as a particularly vulnerable period in one's life and attention was paid to the consequences of childhood trauma and mistreatment (Kappis and Hardt, 2016). ACEs are commonplace around the world and they tend to be highly clustered within families. Moreover, ACEs are a risk factor for chronic ill health and many mental disorders, with the negative ramifications persisting throughout a lifespan (Jorm and Mulder, 2018). Throughout the scientific literature, ACEs have been consistently linked to various adverse health outcomes with most studies reporting a dose-response relationship as the number of ACEs increase so does the risk for negative health outcomes such as obesity (Hemmingsson et al., 2014, Bellis et al., 2019, Norman et al., 2012, Schroeder et al., 2021).

2.2.5.1 Prevalence and Societal Implications of ACEs

First published in a 1998 landmark study, Felitti et al. found that individuals exposed to ACEs were at higher risk of developing many chronic diseases, including obesity (Felitti et al., 1998). Following this 1998 study, the CDC examined the prevalence of ACEs in the United States and their impact as a public health problem. They found first, that ACEs are widespread, with at least one in seven children in the U.S. having suffered from ACEs within the past year; second, that children of low socioeconomic status are disproportionally affected; and third, that the economic burden of ACEs is high, creating an estimated 124 billion U.S. dollars expenditure annually in the United States (CDC, 2019). Furthermore,

ACEs seem to be highly clustered—individuals who reported one ACE were more likely also to have suffered additional ACEs (Anda et al., 2010).

The epidemiological data and implications of ACEs are similar in Germany. According to a 2017 study, almost every third individual in Germany had experienced at least one form of childhood maltreatment in their lifetime, with women reporting higher levels of sexual and emotional abuse. As in previous studies, ACEs were associated with lower educational attainment, employment status, and income (Witt et al., 2017). Not only do ACEs have far reaching consequences for chronic ill health, and thus cause a burden to the health care system, they also create a high economic burden. In Germany, the annual costs caused by maltreatment have been estimated between 11 and 30 billion Euros annually (Habetha et al., 2012). Thus, promoting safe and nurturing environments for children is important from both a health care and an economic perspective. According to a 2019 meta-analysis published in the Lancet, reducing the prevalence of ACEs in Europe by 10% could reduce the number of disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) by around 2 million and consequently reduce the annual expenditure by 49 billion US dollars. Moreover, these numbers may be even higher if the effect of ACEs on social issues, such as unemployment and imprisonment, were also taken into account (Bellis et al., 2019).

2.2.5.2 ACEs and the Development of Obesity

The largest meta-analysis to date, published in 2017 by Hughes et al. (Hughes et al., 2017), found a positive association between ACEs and the development of obesity, thus, confirming results published previously and since (Danese and Tan, 2014, Hemmingsson et al., 2014, Norman et al., 2012, Fleischer et al., 2021). Hughes et al. examined 37 studies, published prior to 2016, in regard to the multiple health effects of ACEs. The study compared health outcomes in adults with at least four ACEs to adults without any ACEs and found a modest association with overweight and obesity. Eight of the analyzed studies (cumulative sample size: 84,840) specifically identified overweight and obesity as an adverse health outcome (pooled odds ratio of 1.39) among these studies those that examined a higher BMI reported higher odds ratios. Additionally, the authors noted a dose-response—individuals who reported at least four ACEs were at an approximately four-times higher risk of developing overweight or obesity. There was a high heterogeneity throughout the studies, possibly due to the lack of comparability in the studies regarding type and extent of exposure to ACEs. Despite this heterogeneity, there remained a consistent positive association between ACEs and negative health outcomes (Hughes et al., 2017).

Interestingly, Westermair et al. focused not only on the effects of ACEs on weight gain, but also on the ramifications of two commonly used types of analysis, namely the selective versus the cumulative approach. The 'selective approach' focuses solely on one ACE without controlling for others, while the 'cumulative approach' combines all categories of
ACEs into one and thus is unable to differentiate between them. The cumulative approach is problematic, because, although the different categories of ACEs are highly interconnected, they are not necessarily interchangeable. The author argues that different ACEs may have very specific outcomes mediated by varying mechanisms that we are unable to differentiate using a cumulative approach (Westermair et al., 2018). On the other hand, due to the cumulative nature of ACEs, studies investigating only the effect of a single ACE may likely overestimate its impact on public health (Anda et al., 2010). One systematic review on the association between ACEs and childhood obesity, for instance, found that the effect of sexual abuse was greater than that of other ACEs while also noting the likely cumulative effect of ACEs on the development of childhood obesity (Schroeder et al., 2021).

2.2.5.3 Pathways Linking ACEs and Obesity

A recent meta-analysis, published in 2020 by Wiss and Brewerton, investigated the wide variety of potential mechanisms that have been proposed to explain the link between adverse childhood experiences and health, specifically overweight and obesity. The following pathways are most commonly discussed in the relevant literature: first, a chronic stress response, and second, changes in health behaviors (Wiss and Brewerton, 2020).

ACEs have both **biological and psychological manifestations**. Biologically, ACEs cause chronic stress and thus an increase in inflammatory cytokines, a hyper-activation of the HPA-axis, and an increase in cortisol levels and suppression of the immune system (Hemmingsson et al., 2014). Besides increasing biomarkers of inflammation, ACEs have also been shown to affect health through shortened telomers (Bellis et al., 2019). Psychologically, ACEs have been linked to depression and anxiety, which may subsequently lead to weight gain (see sections 2.2.3 and 2.2.4) (Gardner et al., 2019a). Moreover, ACEs have been associated with anorexia nervosa, which may cofound the estimates between ACEs and obesity (Wiss and Brewerton, 2020).

In the early 2000s the *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention* (CDC) coined the term '**toxic stress**' to explain the consistent link between ACEs and obesity—the state of chronic stress caused by adversity can cause both hormonal imbalances and reactive overeating that adversely affects health and weight in adulthood (Shonkoff et al., 2012). Tomiyama proposes stress as the main driver of a vicious cycle in which chronic stress contributes to obesogenic processes and the consequent weight stigma, in turn, perpetuates chronic stress (Tomiyama, 2019). One study found that ACEs predicted adolescent obesity independent of caregiver weight-status, physical activity, and dietary habits. Notably, the effect was more pronounced amongst children in low-income households. The authors postulate that it is the combined stress of living in poverty and exposure to ACEs that cause increased weight gain amongst these youths (Gardner et al., 2019b).

ACEs have been linked to **changes in health behavior**, these include both mental disorders (the effects of which are discussed in chapters 2.2.3 and 2.2.4) and health harming activities, such as smoking tobacco, excessive alcohol and food consumption, and substance abuse (Bellis et al., 2019, Norman et al., 2012). Bellis et al. argue that the effects of health-harming activities due to ACEs may contribute considerably to the development of non-communicable diseases, and yet, ACEs are generally overlooked as risk factors (Bellis et al., 2019). Additionally, ACEs may have a negative effect on sleeping patterns and promote unhealthy dietary and exercise choices, including an increased craving for calorie dense "comfort-food" (Jastreboff et al., 2013).

The high prevalence of ACEs across the globe (Stoltenborgh et al., 2014), their far reaching impact on psychological and physiological health, and the ensuing high economic burden demonstrate the importance of adverse childhood experiences as a public health problem. Moreover, the far-reaching consequences of ACEs highlight the importance of childhood as a period of life in which the foundations of good mental health are established (Bellis et al., 2019). In regard to obesity, clinicians often screen overweight individuals for overeating and lack of physical activity and disregard the important topic of ACEs. However, as the above results indicate, obesity is not solely a consequence of individual life-choices—there are significant ramifications resulting from childhood adversity and the subsequent psychological and biological consequences. Thus, in treating obesity in individuals with ACEs, it may be vital to understand the underlying issues in order to identify individuals at risk and address the public health problem that ACEs create (Elsenburg et al., 2017).

2.2.6 Defining Obesity as a Disease

The differences in weight gain among people living in the same environment may make it appear as though each person is entirely individually responsible for overweight and obesity. The etiology of obesity, however, is far more complex and once weight has been gained there are "powerful homeostatic mechanisms that hinder weight loss and promote further weight gain" (Blüher, 2019). Currently, the most widely accepted solution to the obesity epidemic is weight loss—achieved by limiting caloric intake and increasing physical activity. Although, a well-balanced diet and physical activity are important measures to counteract obesity on a societal level, these measures alone are inadequate to achieve long-term weight loss in those individuals who are already obese (Blüher, 2019, Franz et al., 2007). Furthermore, the results of most scientific literature indicate that only around 5% of obese individuals successfully lose weight long term without bariatric surgery (Tsai and Wadden, 2005). Thus, any solution that is directed solely at obese individuals and disregards our environment is going to fall short of its goal (Herpertz et al., 2011).

In 2017 the World Obesity Federation released a statement with a similar conclusion. They define obesity as a "chronic relapsing disease process", instead of a risk factor for other diseases, in an attempt to relieve those suffering from obesity from individual responsibility and sensitize the public that obesity is a topic that concerns us all (Bray et al., 2017). This definition of obesity has important implications both for policy and treatment options. Nevertheless, as previously discussed, it is problematic to define obesity as a disease while measuring obesity solely in BMI categories (Rubino et al., 2020). A combination of approaches is needed, focusing both on individual and population-wide strategies in order to achieve meaningful advancements in population-wide health (Stephens et al., 2014). In light of the global increase in obesity and its far-reaching consequences, it is apparent that gaining a better understanding of the background of obesity is important and may help find a solution that is as multifaceted and complex as the problem.

2.3 Formulation of the Hypotheses

In view of the far-reaching consequences of the obesity epidemic, the importance of research, not only into the consequences of obesity, but, especially, into its etiology—more precisely the psychosocial factors fostering obesity—becomes apparent. Moreover, the adverse medical, societal, and economic consequences of widespread obesity are expected to increase the future. In reviewing the literature, the following factors—socioeconomic status, depression, social phobia, and adverse childhood events—have emerged as particularly relevant and are thus examined in the hypotheses at the center of this thesis.

Hypothesis 1: Individuals with a lower socioeconomic status are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

Hypothesis 2: Individuals who experience symptoms of depression are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

Hypothesis 3: Individuals who experience symptoms of social phobia are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

Hypothesis 4: Individuals who experienced adverse childhood experiences are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

3 Materials & Methods

3.1 Data Collection and Sample Description

The data was collected using surveys and was conducted in two separate waves. The first wave of data was collected in 2008, whereas the second wave was collected in 2018 through 2019—these will be referred to as *Wave 1* and *Wave 2* respectively. In total, 780 participants were recruited and the data of 718 participants was evaluated in the statistical analysis. The surveys were simultaneously conducted in Poland (*Wave 1* and *Wave 2*) and England (*Wave 2*). The data from these countries, however, is not considered in this thesis as the comparison between countries is the subject of a different thesis.

The participants of *Wave 1* were made up of 377 German university students, and ultimately the data of 356 participants was statistically analyzed. The survey was conducted on paper and participants were recruited at the Universities in Düsseldorf and Mainz. The 237 students who took part in the survey in Düsseldorf received 5 Euros in compensation, while the 148 students who took part in Mainz were not monetarily compensated for their time.

In *Wave 2* a total of 403 participants took part in the survey and the data of 362 participants was ultimately statistically analyzed. The second wave of data was collected via recruitment of participants mainly at schools and universities in Mainz. The link to the online survey, which was hosted by the platform *SoSci Survey* (<u>https://www.soscisurvey.de/</u>), could be found on the University's homepage for the *Institute of Medical Psychology and Sociology*. Participation was anonymous, voluntary and was not monetarily compensated. The overall feedback from the participants in both waves was positive, with most reporting that the questions were interesting and engaging. The main criticism was however, that the survey was too lengthy and thus time consuming.

Due perhaps in part to the length of the survey, estimated at around 30 minutes, there were several participants who did not complete all items in the questionnaire. Thus, for a participant's data to be included in the statistical analysis, there were following prerequisites: they had specified their age, gender, height, and weight and had answered at least a minimum number of items in the categories *Symptoms of Depression/Social Phobia* and *Socioeconomic Status* (as detailed in Table 3.1). Furthermore, only participants with a BMI between 17 and 45 kg/m² were included. Although both a low and a high BMI are associated with a higher mortality (see chapter 2.1.3), underweight is not the subject of the current study and its inclusion would have gone beyond the scope of this thesis. The survey also contained one participant with a BMI of 52 kg/m^2 , who's data was also excluded from statistical analysis. As the data was collected via online-survey and no clinical examination of the participants took place, it was not possible to investigate possible underlying physical conditions that may have led to this high BMI. It is possible that the inclusion of this

individual's data may have had a disproportionately strong influence on the results. Thus, the data from this participant was excluded. However, due to the large sample size, the exclusion of this one outlier had only very limited effect on the results.

The minimum requirements for all of these subsets of data had to be met, in order for a participant to be included in the analysis. Thus, all data from one participant was eliminated as soon as a single subset of data was missing. This was necessary in order to ensure that the ordered sequences of regressions could be correctly analyzed. Using these criteria, a total number of 62 participants were excluded from the statistical analysis due to missing data. In Table 3.1., the numbers of participants excluded within each subset are listed in the order of elimination. Of the 780 participants who initially took part in the survey, the data of 718 participants was statistically analyzed.

Criteria for Exclusion	Number of Participants Excluded
Age not specified	6
Gender not specified	5
Weight not specified	10
Height not specified	2
$BMI > 45 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1
$BMI < 17 \text{ kg/m}^2$	4
<i>Symptoms of Depression / Social Phobia:</i> < 7 out of 9 items specified	11
<i>Socioeconomic Status:</i> < 4 out of 5 items specified	23
Total number of participants excluded	62

Table 3.1 Criteria for exclusion and number of participants excluded in the order of elimination

3.2 Description of the Questionnaires

The survey is comprised of items from three different questionnaires: The Symptom-Check-List-27-plus, the Mainz Structured Biographical Interview, and the Childhood Questionnaire. These questionnaires are briefly outlined in this chapter. For detailed information regarding all variables examined in the statistical analysis, and the questions they contain, see chapter 3.3.

The subset of items for the questions regarding the secondary response, *Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression*, are derived from the Symptom-Check-List-27-plus (SCL-27-plus). This questionnaire is an abbreviated form of the original Symptom Checklist-90-Revised and was validated by Hardt. It acts as a "short, multidimensional screening instrument for mental health problems" (Hardt, 2008). A total of five scales are included in the SCL-27-plus. Two of these scales pertain to symptoms of depression and symptoms of social phobia, they are described in greater detail in chapter 3.3.2.

The subset of items regarding the tertiary response, *Childhood Adversities*, are derived from the Mainz Structured Biographical Interview (MSBI). The MSBI was developed by Hardt and Egle and contains seven sections, the items from one of these sections are included in the statistical analysis and described in chapter 3.3.3 (Egle and Hardt, 2004).

The subset of items regarding the *Socioeconomic Status* are derived from the Childhood Questionnaire (CQ). This questionnaire is based on the Adult Attachment Interview and retrospectively examines the relationship adults had to their parents growing up as well as their socioeconomic situation during this time. A shortened version of this questionnaire was cross validated in 2012 and the items examined in this thesis are described in chapter 3.3.5 (Hardt et al., 2012). Additionally, the variable *Socioeconomic Status* was amended by one item from the MSBI, details regarding this item can also be found in chapter 3.3.5 (Egle and Hardt, 2004).

3.3 Description of Examined Variables and Corresponding Items

The variables included in the statistical analysis are subsets of items contained in the three questionnaires SCL-27-plus, MSBI, and CQ. According to their role in the statistical analysis these are defined as the primary response (*Body Mass Index*), the secondary response (*Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression*), the tertiary response (*Childhood Adversities*) and solely explanatory variables (*Age, Gender, Wave and Socioeconomic Status*). Most of the questions are answered on a Likert scale, with only occasional free text responses for items such as *Age, Height, and Weight*. Figure 3.1 offers an overview of the variables included in the statistical analysis, the corresponding questions for all items pertaining to these variables are detailed in the subchapters below.



Figure 3.1 Overview of the Variables Included in the Statistical Analysis

3.3.1 Items for the Primary Response: Body Mass Index

In order to calculate the primary response, *Body Mass Index*, participants were asked to indicate their weight and height at the beginning of the survey.

- 1. "Please state your weight in kilograms: _____ kg"
- 2. "Please state your height in centimeters: _____ cm"

3.3.2 Items for the Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression

The items regarding the secondary response, *Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression*, are derived from the Symptom-Check-List-27-plus. Participants answered the following five items regarding symptoms of social phobia within the past two weeks:

"How often did you experience the following symptoms?"

- 1. "Fear of saying something embarrassing"
- 2. "Feeling others do not like me"
- 3. "Feeling inhibited when dealing with others"
- 4. "Feeling insecurity when others look at me"
- 5. "Feeling of being unwanted"

Participants answered the following four items regarding symptoms of depression within the past two weeks:

"How often did you experience the following symptoms?"

- 6. "Melancholy"
- 7. *"Feeling blank inside"*
- 8. "Hopelessness"
- 9. "Loss of joy"

The possible answers on a five-point Likert scale were as follows:

- o "never"
- "seldom" (defined as 1-2 days within the past two weeks)
- o "sometimes" (defined as 3-7 days within the past two weeks)
- "often" (defined as 8-12 days within the past two weeks)
- "very often" (defined as 13-14 days within the past two weeks)

These answers were transformed to a scale ranging from 0 to 100, in which higher values indicate more symptoms of depression and social anxiety. The internal consistency (Cronbach's α) for this subset of items was calculated as 0.88 for *Wave 1* and 0.90 for *Wave 2*.

3.3.3 Items for the Tertiary Response: Childhood Adversities

The items regarding the tertiary response, *Childhood Adversities*, are derived from the Mainz Structured Biographical Interview. Participants answered the following eight items regarding childhood adversities during their childhood and adolescence:

"Think back on your first 14 years of life:"

- 1. "Was your mother chronically ill or physically handicapped during this time?"
- 2. "Was your father chronically ill or physically handicapped during this time?"
- 3. "Did your mother suffer from chronic pain during this time?"
- 4. "Did your father suffer from chronic pain during this time?"
- 5. "Did your mother suffer from mental problems or nervous disorders during this time (e.g. anxiety, depression, thoughts of suicide, psychiatric illnesses, ...)?"
- 6. "Did your father suffer from mental problems or nervous disorders during this time (e.g. anxiety, depression, thoughts of suicide, psychiatric illnesses, ...)?"
- 7. "Did your mother have an alcohol problem or other addiction during this time?"
- 8. "Did your father have an alcohol problem or other addiction during this time?"

The possible answers for questions **1.-8.** were as follows:

- o "Yes"
- "No"

These answers were transformed to a scale ranging from 0 to 1. The answers were interpreted as follows: the answer "*yes*" was coded as 1, the answer "*no*" was coded as 0, and when the item was not specified it was coded as 0.5. No response to this question may stem from uncertainty about the presence or absence of the parental problem or even from not knowing the parent at all. The value 0.5 was chosen in these cases so that the participants who were unable to answer the question were not completely lost for the analysis. Listed in Table 3.2 is an overview of the answers reported for the subset of questions regarding *Childhood Adversities* including those who were unable to make a specification.

		"Yes" (≙ 1)	"No" (≙ 0)	Not specified $(\triangleq 0.5)$
Alcohol/ Substance Abuse	Maternal	5.99 %	90.25 %	3.76 %
	Paternal	10.72 %	85.10 %	4.18 %
Disability /	Maternal	7.80 %	88.44 %	3.76 %
Chronic Disease	Paternal	8.36 %	87.33 %	4.32 %
Chronic Pain	Maternal	7.52 %	88.16 %	4.32 %
	Paternal	6.96 %	87.05 %	5.99 %
Montol	Maternal	16.85 %	80.50 %	2.65 %
Disorder	Paternal	8.91 %	87.19 %	3.90 %

Table 3.2 (Overview of	the Responses	to the Items	Regarding	Childhood	Adversities
1 apre 3.4 v		the responses	to the mont	o Negarunng		luvusillos

3.3.4 Items for the Explanatory Variables: Age and Gender

Participants answered the following two items regarding their age and gender:

- 1. "Please state your age: _____
- 2. "Please state your gender: _____"

3.3.5 Items for the Explanatory Variables: Socioeconomic Status

The items regarding the *Socioeconomic Status* are derived from the Childhood Questionnaire and the Mainz Structured Biographical Interview. Participants answered the following five items regarding their socioeconomic status during their childhood and adolescence:

1. "What was your family's financial situation like during your first 7 years of life?"

"These questions [2.-5.] pertain to your home life with your parents from your childhood to your adolescence (up to the age of 14):"

- 2. "I come from a family with a high social status."
- 3. "Money was pretty tight in my family."
- 4. "During my childhood we lived in a really small, cramped place."
- 5. "I come from a wealthy family."

The possible answers on a four-point Likert scale for question **1**. was as follows:

- o *"meagre"*
- *"unstable"*
- *"unproblematic"*
- o *"good"*

The possible answers on a four-point Likert scale for questions **2.-5**. were as follows:

- o "not true at all"
- *"hardly true"*
- o *"rather true"*
- o *"absolutely true"*

These answers were transformed to a scale ranging from 0 to 100, in which higher values indicate a higher socioeconomic status and lower values indicate a lower socioeconomic status. The internal consistency (Cronbach's α) for this subset of items was calculated as 0.87 for *Wave 1* and 0.84 for *Wave 2*.

3.4 Overview of the Examined Variables

The following table represents an overview of the data obtained for the variables in wave 1 and wave 2.

					Wav n=3	7 e 1 56	Way n=3	v e 2 362
Desc	cription	Possible Values	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Age		_	13	51	24.31	4.00	22.88	5.38
Gender (fen	nale)	_	0	1	64.57%	_	67.40%	-
Height (in c	m)	_	150	200	173.84	9.18	171.83	9.21
Weight (in k	(g)	_	43	130	68.47	13.24	68.19	14.26
BMI (in kg/1	m²)	17-41	17	41	22.56	3.49	23.00	3.86
Socioeconor	nic Status	0-100	6.25	100	69.86	19.41	66.12	21.23
Symptoms of	of Depression	0-100	0	100	18.21	17.56	26.09	23.55
Symptoms of	of Social Phobia	0-100	0	100	28.05	18.21	27.99	25.13
Alcohol/ Substance	Maternal	0-1	0	1	5.20%	0.19	10.50%	0.30
Abuse	Paternal	0-1	0	1	12.08%	0.30	13.54%	0.34
Disability/	Maternal	0-1	0	1	7.02%	0.23	12.29%	0.32
Disease	Paternal	0-1	0	1	7.72%	0.24	13.26%	0.33
Chronic	Maternal	0-1	0	1	6.32%	0.22	12.98	0.32
Pain	Paternal	0-1	0	1	6.88%	0.22	12.98%	0.32^{1}
Mental	Maternal	0-1	0	1	14.19%	0.33	22.19%	0.41
Disorder	Paternal	0-1	0	1	9.55%	0.26	12.15%	0.32

	Table 3.	3 Overv	view of the	e Examined	Variables	in Wave	1 and Wave 2
--	----------	---------	-------------	------------	-----------	---------	--------------

¹ Please note that the identical values of the standard deviations in wave 1 and 2 as well as the mean in wave 2 for the variables *Maternal/ Paternal Chronic Pain* are incidental and have been verified by the author.

3.5 Statistical Analysis

The survey responses were statistically analyzed by means of ordered sequences of regressions. This method is an extension of the path analysis first developed by the Geneticist Wright and was developed by Wermuth and Cox (Wermuth and Cox, 2013). Wermuth and Cox designed this technique similarly to Graphical Markov Models in order to enable a method for testing complex interrelations between variables, while ensuring that the significant results can be concisely illustrated (Wermuth and Cox, 2015).

The model uses a linear regression for continuous variables, such as *Age, BMI, and Socioeconomic Status,* and a logistical regression for binary variables. Since the responses regarding the subclass of variables within *Childhood Adversities* were coded as 0, 0.5, and 1, all responses in this model are continuous and thus only linear regressions were used. The variables are defined as the primary response (*Body Mass Index*), the secondary response (*Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression*), the tertiary response (*Childhood Adversities*) and solely explanatory variables (*Age, Gender, Wave and Socioeconomic Status*). The only binary variables examined, *Wave* and *Gender*, are solely explanatory variables and thus not tested as responses in the regressions.

First, linear regressions were performed for all primary, secondary, and tertiary responses. All quadratic effects and all two-way interactions were tested successively, while including all significant and non-significant main effects. The quadratic effects and two-way interactions with significant results (defined as p<0.01) were entered. Both the quadratic effects as well as the two-way interactions only remained in the statistical analysis if the term itself as well as the variables contained were significant. In order to test the level of significance for the variables contained, a Chi²-test was performed using 2 degrees of freedom for a quadratic term and 3 degrees of freedom for an interaction term. Finally, all main effects were removed, that were neither significant nor contained in an interaction or quadratic term. The statistical analysis was performed using the software *Stata 16*.

Due to the large sample size (n=718) the threshold of significance (α) was defined as <1%. This reduces the number of significant effects that are not clinically relevant. In order to improve clarity and comprehensiveness, tables and figures contain only those effects with a p-value <0.01.

3.6 Presentation of the Results

In the Results section (chapter 4), all significant results are illustrated in tables and figures. As mentioned above, results with a p-value >0.01 are not displayed. Each of the subchapters (4.1-4.3) follows the same outline: First, a graphical overview is given, of all significant interactions and effects between variables as determined by the ordered sequences of regressions. These figures are labelled as *Overview of all Significant Effects and Interactions* and are described in detail in the following paragraph. Second, the significant results are illustrated in a table and third, each significant effect and interaction is individually depicted in a figure. The details of these are also described below. The Pearson's correlations of the residuals are illustrated in a separate subchapter at the end of the *Results* section.

First, in the figures that represents an Overview of all Significant Effects and *Interactions*, the responses and variables are graphically represented. As described in the Statistical Analysis, the variables are defined as the primary response (Body Mass Index), the secondary response (Symptoms of Social Phobia and Depression), the tertiary response (Childhood Adversities) and solely explanatory variables (Age, Gender, Wave and Socioeconomic Status). The first box from the left represents the primary response, the second represents the secondary response, the third represents the tertiary response, and the fourth contains solely explanatory variables. Within the boxes, continuous variables are represented by circles and binary variables are represented by dots. Due to the fact that the variables of the tertiary response, Childhood Adversities, are coded as 0, 0.5, and 1 (see section 3.5 Statistical Analysis for details) these too are treated as continuous variables and therefore represented by circles. Arrows between the variables indicate the significant main effects, quadratic effects, and two-way interactions as determined by the ordered sequences of regressions. Thus, these figures (4.1., 4.5, 4.11, 4.16, 4.19, 4.22, and 4.27) offer an overview of all significant effects and interactions for all variables of the primary, secondary, and tertiary responses. These overviews can be found at the beginning of each subchapter.

Second, following the graphical overview, each subchapter contains a tabulated overview of all significant results (defined as p-value <0.01) for each response as determined in the linear regression analyses. Tables 4.1-4.11 display the regression coefficient, standard error, p-value, t-value, total explained variance, and Cohen's f^2 for all significant results. The p-values reported in the tables, figures and the text are derived from the linear regressions. As mentioned in the *Statistical Analysis* (chapter 3.5), all individual variables contained in significant effects and interactions were also tested for significance at a level of p-value <0.01 using a Chi²-test, however, these p-values are not separately reported.

Third, each of the significant two-way interactions, main effects and quadratic effects are illustrated in a separate figure (4.2–4.4, 4.6–4.10, 4.12–4.15, 4.17, 4.18, 4.20, 4.21, 4.23–4.26, 4.28, and 4.29). In these figures the x-axis represents the explanatory variable and the y-axis represents the estimated value of the response including the corresponding 99%

confidence interval. The curves themselves represent only 90% of the data, with the highest and the lowest 5% excluded in order to avoid over-interpretation in quadratic and interaction effects. The tertiary response, *Childhood Adversities*, are coded as 0, 0.5, and 1 (see chapter 3.5 *Statistical Analysis* for details) and although these values are included in the regression analysis, the value 0.5 is not displayed in the graphics.

Finally, the Pearson's correlations of the residuals are illustrated in a separate chapter at the end of the Results section. The residuals are defined as the variance that remains, after the impact of influencing variables is deducted. Due to the nature of the statistical analysis— in which regressions are calculated for each of the variables within one box for all variables in the boxes to its right—the correlations for the variables within their own box has not yet been analyzed. Thus, in chapter 4.4, Pearson's correlation coefficients of the residuals within each box are tabulated for all significant results (p<0.01). The correlation of the residuals was calculated only for the second and third boxes (secondary and tertiary responses), as the first box (primary response) contains only a single variable and the fourth box contains only solely explanatory variables.

4 Results

4.1 Results for the Primary Response: Body Mass Index

In this subchapter all statistically significant predictors of the primary response, *Body Mass Index*, are described and graphically illustrated.

Primary Response: Secondary Response: **Tertiary Response: Explanatory Variables:** Maternal (M) / Paternal (P) Symptoms Of: (M) Age Alcohol/Substance Abuse (P) Depression M Gender Disability/Chronic Disease P Body Mass Index (м) Socioeconomic Status Chronic Pain (P) Social Phobia M Wave Mental Disorder (P)

4.1.1.1 Body Mass Index: *Overview of all Significant Effects*

Figure 4.1 Primary Response: Body Mass Index—Overview of all Significant Effects

Regarding the primary response, *Body Mass Index*, there are four significant predictors. There is an interaction between reported *Paternal Chronic Disease* and *Age* (1 and 2), a quadratic effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (3), and a main effect for *Gender* (4). All significant effects are illustrated by arrows in Figure 4.1.

4.1.1.2 Body Mass Index: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.1 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.15 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a medium effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	seß	t	р
Paternal Chronic Disease	-6.62	2.10	-3.16	0.002
Age	0.15	0.03	5.23	<0.001
Paternal Chronic Disease *Age	0.32	0.09	3.64	<0.001
Socioeconomic Status	-0.11	0.03	-3.42	0.001
Socioeconomic Status ²	0.00	0.00	2.78	0.006
Gender	1.72	0.27	6.40	<0.001
Constant	22.34	1.20	18.67	<0.001

Table 4.1 Body Mass Index: Linear Regression Analysis

Total Explained Variance: 16.94%

Cohen's *f*²: 0.204

4.1.1.3 Body Mass Index: Interaction between Paternal Chronic Disease and Age

The two-way interaction between *Paternal Chronic Disease* and *Age* in regard to the primary response, *Body Mass Index*, is depicted in Figure 4.2. With a p-value <0.001, the interaction is statistically highly significant.



Figure 4.2 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Interaction between Paternal Chronic Disease and Age

The figure plots and the age of the participants on x-axis and their BMI in kg/m² including the corresponding 99% confidence interval on the y-axis. The solid line represents participants who reported paternal chronic disease, while the dashed line represents those who reported no paternal chronic disease. Both in participants with and without paternal chronic disease, their BMI was positively associated with age. Notably however, participants who reported paternal chronic disease or disability in the first 14 years of their life had a significantly sharper rise in their BMI. The broader confidence interval (CI) for the group of participants with paternal chronic disease is explained by the smaller number of cases. The CI is defined as the quotient of the standard error and the root of the number of cases, therefore fewer cases result in a broader CI.

4.1.1.4 Body Mass Index: Quadratic Effect of Socioeconomic Status

The quadratic effect of *Socioeconomic Status* in regard to the BMI is depicted in Figure 4.3. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.006 .



Figure 4.3 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Quadratic Effect of Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and BMI, in kg/m^2 , is plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status during childhood and adolescence is associated with a higher BMI. However, as indicated by the quadratic effect, SES only predicted high BMI for individuals with a low SES while the same was not the case for individuals with a medium to high SES. The apparent repeated increase of the BMI values at the at the high end of the socioeconomic status, however, is an artefact due to fitting a quadratic term.

4.1.1.5 Body Mass Index: Main Effect of Gender

The main effect of *Gender* in regard to the BMI is depicted in Figure 4.4. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.4 Primary Response: Body Mass Index Explained by the Main Effect for Gender

In the figure, gender is plotted on the x-axis and BMI, in kg/m², is plotted on the y-axis. Male participants of the survey reported a higher BMI than female participants. Cohen's d was calculated as -0.495 and thus equivalent to a small effect size (defined as >0.20 and <0.50), as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

4.2 Results for the Secondary Responses: **Symptoms of Depression** and Social Phobia

In this subchapter all statistically significant two-way interactions and main effects of the two variables, *Symptoms of Depression* and *Symptoms of Social Phobia*, of the secondary response are described and graphically illustrated.

4.2.1 Results for Symptoms of Depression

4.2.1.1 Symptoms of Depression: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.5 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression—Overview of all Significant Effects and Interactions

Regarding the secondary response, *Symptoms of Depression*, there are six significant predictors. There is an interaction between *Paternal Alcohol Abuse* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* (1 and 2), a main effect for *Maternal Mental Disorder* (3), a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (4), a main effect for *Age* (5), and a main effect for *Wave* (6). All significant effects are depicted by arrows in Figure 4.5.

4.2.1.2 Symptoms of Depression: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.2 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.15 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a medium effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _ß	t	р
Paternal Alcohol Abuse	4.30	2.66	1.61	0.107
Paternal Chronic Pain	1.20	3.16	0.38	0.704
Paternal Alcohol Abuse *Paternal Chronic Pain	23.13	7.30	3.17	0.002
Maternal Mental Disorder	5.46	2.04	2.67	0.008
Socioeconomic Status	0.15	0.03	-4.03	<0.001
Age	0.58	0.15	-3.69	<0.001
Wave	5.68	1.51	3.75	<0.001
Constant	41.52	5.34	7.77	<0.001

Table 4.2 Symptoms of Depression: Linear Regression Analysis

Total Explained Variance: 13.31%

Cohen's *f*²: 0.154

4.2.1.3 Symptoms of Depression: Interaction of Paternal Alcohol Abuse and Paternal Chronic Pain

The two-way interaction between *Paternal Alcohol Abuse* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* on the secondary response, *Symptoms of Depression is* depicted in Figure 4.6. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.002 .



Figure 4.6 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Interaction of Paternal Alcohol Abuse and Paternal Chronic Pain

In the bar diagram, the responses to the items *Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Paternal Alcohol Abuse* are plotted on the x-axis, while the estimated value for the symptoms of depression are plotted on the y-axis. As can be seen in the diagram, only those participants who reported both paternal chronic pain and paternal alcohol abuse were more likely to suffer from symptoms of depression. The presence of only one of the two items, however, did not have a significant effect on symptoms of depression.

4.2.1.4 Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect for Age

The main effect of *Age* in regard *to Symptoms of Depression is* depicted in Figure 4.7. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.7 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Age

The figure plots the age of the participants on the x-axis and the estimated value for symptoms of depression on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, the symptoms of depression continually decrease as the age of the participants increases.

4.2.1.5 Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder

The main effect of *Maternal Mental Disorder* in regard *to Symptoms of Depression is* depicted in Figure 4.8. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value of ≤ 0.008 .



Figure 4.8 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder

In the bar diagram, the response to the item *Maternal Mental Disorder* is plotted on the xaxis and the estimated value for the symptoms of depression are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, those participants who reported maternal mental disorders had higher rates of symptoms of depression. The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Symptoms of Depression is* depicted in Figure 4.9. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.9 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for symptoms of depression are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with more reported symptoms of depression. The symptoms of depression continuously decrease as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.2.1.7 Symptoms of Depression: Main Effect of Wave

The main effect of *Wave* in regard *to Symptoms of Depression is* depicted in Figure 4.10. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.10 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Depression Explained by the Main Effect for Wave

In the bar diagram, the wave is plotted on the x-axis and the estimated value for the symptoms of depression are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, participant in wave 1 reported fewer symptoms of depression than those in wave 2. Cohen's d was calculated as - 0.379 and thus equivalent to a small effect size (defined as >0.20 and <0.50), as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

4.2.2 Results for Symptoms of Social Phobia

4.2.2.1 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.11 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia—Overview of all Significant Effects and Interactions

Regarding the secondary response, *Symptoms of Social Phobia*, there are four significant predictors. There is a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status (1)*, a main effect for *Maternal Mental Disorder (2)*, a main effect for *Age (3)*, and a main effect for *Gender (4)*. All significant effects are depicted by arrows in Figure 4.11.

4.2.2.2 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.3 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _b	t	р		
Socioeconomic Status	-0.16	0.03	-4.27	<0.001		
Maternal Mental Disorder	7.68	2.10	3.65	<0.001		
Age	-0.43	0.16	-2.60	0.010		
Gender	-9.59	1.66	-5.76	<0.001		
Constant	51.39	5.25	9.77	<0.001		
Total Explained Variance: 10.04%						

Table 4.3 Symptoms	of Social Phobia:	Linear Regression	Analysis
--------------------	-------------------	-------------------	----------

ł

Cohen's *f*²: 0.112

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Symptoms of Social Phobia is* depicted in Figure 4.12. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.12 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for symptoms of social phobia are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with more reported symptoms of social phobia. The symptoms of social phobia continuously decrease as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.2.2.4 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder

The main effect of *Maternal Mental Disorder* in regard *to Symptoms of Social Phobia is* depicted in Figure 4.13. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value of <0.001.



Figure 4.13 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Maternal Mental Disorder

In the bar diagram, the response to the item *Maternal Mental Disorder* is plotted on the xaxis and the estimated value for the symptoms of social phobia are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, those participants who reported maternal mental disorders had higher rates of symptoms of social phobia compared to those who reported no maternal mental disorder.

4.2.2.5 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Age

The main effect of *Age* in regard *to Symptoms of Social Phobia is* depicted in Figure 4.14. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.010 .



Figure 4.14 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Age

The figure plots the age of the participants on the x-axis and the estimated value for symptoms of social phobia on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, the symptoms of social phobia continually decrease as the age of the participants increases.

4.2.2.6 Symptoms of Social Phobia: Main Effect for Gender

The main effect of *Gender* in regard to the BMI is depicted in Figure 4.15. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.15 Secondary Response: Symptoms of Social Phobia Explained by the Main Effect for Gender

In the figure, gender is plotted on the x-axis the estimated values for symptoms of social phobia are plotted on the y-axis. Female participants of the survey reported higher symptoms of social phobia than male participants. Cohen's d was calculated as 0.477 and thus equivalent to a small effect size (defined as >0.20 and <0.50), as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

4.3 Results for the Tertiary Response: Adverse Childhood Experiences

In this subchapter all statistically significant two-way interactions, main effects and quadratic effects of the eight variables included in the tertiary response, *Childhood Adversities*, are described and graphically illustrated.

4.3.1 Maternal and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.16 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse—Overview of all Significant Effects

Regarding the variables *Maternal* and *Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse* of the tertiary response there are a total of two significant predictors. For *Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse* there is one significant predictor; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (1). For *Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse* there is also one significant predictor; a quadratic effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (2). All significant effects are illustrated by arrows in Figure 4.16.

4.3.1.1 Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.4 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _ß	t	р	
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-4.00	<0.001	
Constant	0.20	0.03	6.27	<0.001	
Total Explained Variance: 2.18%					

Table 4.4 Maternal Alcohol Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis

-

Cohen's $f^2: 0.022$

4.3.1.2 Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Maternal Alcohol Abuse* is depicted in Figure 4.17. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.17 Tertiary Response: Maternal Alcohol Abuse Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal alcohol abuse during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported maternal alcohol abuse. The reported maternal alcohol abuse continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.3.1.3 Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.5 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, p-value, t-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is equivalent to a small effect size, defined as >0.02 as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _b	t	р		
Socioeconomic Status	-0.02	0.03	-6.69	<0.001		
Socioeconomic Status ²	0.00	0.00	5.45	<0.001		
Constant	0.78	0.83	9.38	<0.001		
Total Explained Variance: 9.42%						
Cohen's <i>f</i> ² : 0.104						

Table 4.5 Paternal Alcohol Abuse: Linear Regression Analysis
4.3.1.4 Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse: Quadratic Effect for Socioeconomic Status

The quadratic effect of *Socioeconomic Status* in regard to *Paternal Alcohol Abuse* is depicted in Figure 4.18. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.18 Tertiary Response: Paternal Alcohol Abuse Explained by the Quadratic Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal alcohol abuse during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status during childhood and adolescence is associated with higher values of reported paternal alcohol abuse. The apparent repeated increase of paternal alcohol abuse at the at the high end of the socioeconomic status, however, is an artefact due to fitting a quadratic term.

4.3.2 Maternal and Paternal Disability/Chronic Disease: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.19 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease—Overview of all Significant Effects

Regarding the variables *Maternal* and *Paternal Disability/Chronic Disease* of the tertiary response there are a total of three significant predictors. For *Maternal Disability/Chronic Disease* there is one significant predictor; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (1). For *Paternal Disability/Chronic Disease* there are two significant predictors; an interaction between *Wave* and *Socioeconomic Status* (2 and 3). All significant effects are illustrated by arrows in Figure 4.19.

4.3.2.1 Maternal Disability/Chronic Disease: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.6 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is <0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, indicates that there is no effect (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _b	t	р		
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-3.51	<0.001		
Constant	0.22	0.04	6.05	<0.001		
Total Explained Variance: 1.69%						

Table 4.6 Maternal Chronic Disease: Linear Regression Analysis

Cohen's *f*²:0.017

4.3.2.2 Maternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Maternal Chronic Disease* is depicted in Figure 4.20. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.20 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal chronic disease during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported maternal chronic disease. The reported maternal chronic disease continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.3.2.3 Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.7 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, p-value, t-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	seß	t	р		
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-0.98	0.327		
Wave	0.26	0.07	3.58	<0.001		
Socioeconomic Status * Wave	0.00	0.00	-3.08	0.002		
Constant	0.13	0.06	2.33	0.020		
Total Explained Variance: 5.31%						

Tuble 4 , / Tuternal enforme Discuse, Enfoat Regression marysis
--

Cohen's *f*²:0.056

4.3.2.4 Paternal Chronic Disease: Interaction between Socioeconomic Status and Wave

The two-way interaction between *Socioeconomic Status* and *Wave* in regard to the tertiary response, *Paternal Chronic Disease*, is depicted in Figure 4.21. With a p-value ≤ 0.002 , the interaction is statistically significant.



Paternal Chronic Disease

Figure 4.21 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Disease Explained by the Interaction between Socioeconomic Status and Wave

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for paternal chronic disease during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. The solid line represents participants in wave 1, while the dashed line represents those in wave 2. As seen in the figure, socioeconomic status is negatively associated with reported paternal chronic disease in both waves. The reported paternal chronic disease continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases. Notably however, the decline is significantly steeper in the participants of wave 2.

4.3.3 Maternal and Paternal Chronic Pain: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.22 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Chronic Pain-Overview of all Significant Effects

Regarding the variables *Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* of the tertiary response there are a total of four significant predictors. For *Maternal Chronic Pain* there are two significant predictors; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (1) and a main effect for *Wave* (2). Similarly, there are two significant predictors for *Paternal Chronic Pain*; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (3) and a main effect for *Wave* (4). All significant effects are illustrated by arrows in Figure 4.22.

4.3.3.1 Maternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.8 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	seß	t	р			
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-3.75	<0.001			
Wave	0.06	0.02	2.92	0.004			
Constant	0.19	0.04	5.13	<0.001			
Total Explained Variance: 3.35%							
Cohen's <i>f</i> ² : 0.035							

Table 4.8 Maternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis

4.3.3.2 Maternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

The main effect for Socioeconomic Status in regard to Maternal Chronic Pain is depicted in Figure 4.23. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Maternal Chronic Pain

Figure 4.23 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal chronic pain during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported maternal chronic pain. The reported maternal chronic pain continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.3.3.3 Maternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Wave

The main effect of *Wave* in regard to *Maternal Chronic Pain is* depicted in Figure 4.24. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.004 .



Figure 4.24 Tertiary Response: Maternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Wave

In the bar diagram, the wave is plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal chronic pain during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, participants in wave 1 were less likely to report maternal chronic pain than those in wave 2. Cohen's d was calculated as -0.242 and thus equivalent to a small effect size (defined as >0.20 and <0.50), as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

4.3.3.4 Paternal Chronic Pain: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.9 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, p-value, t-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	seß	t	р			
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-4.09	<0.001			
Wave	0.05	0.02	2.65	0.008			
Constant	0.21	0.04	5.62	<0.001			
Total Explained Variance: 3.50%							
Cohen's <i>f</i> ² : 0.036							

Table 4.9	Paternal	Chronic	Pain:	Linear	Regression	Analysis
-----------	----------	---------	-------	--------	------------	----------

4.3.3.5 Paternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Paternal Chronic Pain* is depicted in Figure 4.25. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.25 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for paternal chronic pain during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported paternal chronic pain. The reported paternal chronic pain continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.3.3.6 Paternal Chronic Pain: Main Effect for Wave

The main effect for *Wave* in regard to *Paternal Chronic Pain is* depicted in Figure 4.26. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.008 .



Figure 4.26 Tertiary Response: Paternal Chronic Pain Explained by the Main Effect for Wave

In the bar diagram, the wave is plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for paternal chronic pain during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, participants in wave 1 were less likely to report paternal chronic pain than those in wave 2. Cohen's d was calculated as -0.224 and thus equivalent to a small effect size (defined as >0.20 and <0.50), as suggested by Cohen (Cohen, 1992).

4.3.4 Maternal and Paternal Mental Disorder: Overview of all Significant Effects



Figure 4.27 Tertiary Response: Maternal and Paternal Mental Disorder—Overview of all Significant Effects

Regarding the variables *Maternal* and *Paternal Mental Disorder* of the tertiary response there are a total of two significant predictors. For *Maternal Mental Disorder* there is one significant predictor; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (1). Similarly, there is also one significant predictor for *Paternal Mental Disorder*; a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (2). All significant effects are illustrated by arrows in Figure 4.27.

4.3.4.1 Maternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.10 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, t-value, p-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is >0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, equivalent to a small effect size (Cohen, 1992).

Variable	ß	se _b	t	р		
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-4.49	<0.001		
Constant	0.39	0.05	8.07	<0.001		
Total Explained Variance: 2.74%						
Cohen's <i>f</i> ² : 0.028						

Table 4.10 Maternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Maternal Mental Disorder* is depicted in Figure 4.28. The effect is statistically highly significant, with a p-value <0.001.



Figure 4.28 Tertiary Response: Maternal Mental Disorder Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for maternal mental disorder during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported maternal mental disorder. The reported maternal mental disorder continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.3.4.3 Paternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis

Table 4.11 displays the regression coefficient, standard error, p-value, t-value, and the total explained variance for the statistically significant results of the linear regression. The value of Cohen's f^2 is <0.02 and thus, as suggested by Cohen, indicates that there is no effect (Cohen, 1992).

					_		
Variable	ß	se _ß	t	р			
Socioeconomic Status	0.00	0.00	-2.85	0.004			
Constant	0.21	0.04	5.58	<0.001			
Total Explained Variance: 1.12%							
Cohen's <i>f</i> ² : 0.011							

 Table 4.11
 Paternal Mental Disorder: Linear Regression Analysis

The main effect for *Socioeconomic Status* in regard *to Paternal Mental Disorder* is depicted in Figure 4.29. The effect is statistically significant, with a p-value ≤ 0.004 .



Figure 4.29 Tertiary Response: Paternal Mental Disorder Explained by the Main Effect for Socioeconomic Status

In the figure, the estimated values for socioeconomic status are plotted on the x-axis and the estimated values for paternal mental disorder during the first 14 years of life are plotted on the y-axis. As seen in the figure, a lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher values of reported paternal mental disorder. The reported paternal mental disorder continuously decreases as the socioeconomic status increases.

4.4 Results for the Residuals

In this chapter, the Person's correlations of the residuals are illustrated for the secondary and tertiary responses (see chapter 3.6, Presentation of the Results, for details). As depicted in Table 4.12 a significant correlation was found between all variables of the secondary and tertiary response, with the sole exception of *Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Maternal Alcohol/Substance Abuse*. Most of the correlations have small (>0.10) to medium (>0.30) effect sizes. There are three correlations that have a large effect size (>0.05): one correlation regarding the secondary response (*Symptoms of Depression* and *Symptoms of Social Phobia*) and two correlations regarding the tertiary response (*Maternal Chronic Pain* and *Maternal Chronic Disease* as well as *Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Paternal Chronic Disease*) (Cohen, 1992).

Table 4.12 Residuals: Pearson's Correlation Coefficients for the Secondary and
Tertiary Response

Secondary l	Response							
		Sympt Depre	oms of ession					
Symptoms o Social Phob	of ia	0.54						
Tertiary Re	sponse							
		Alcohol/ S Abu	ubstance ise	Disabilit Dis	y/ Chronic sease	Chron	ic Pain	Mental Disorder
		Maternal	Paternal	Maternal	Paternal	Maternal	Paternal	Maternal
Alcohol/ Substance Abuse	Paternal	0.26						
Disability/	Maternal	0.20	0.17					
Disease	Paternal	0.10	0.22	0.39				
Chronic	Maternal	0.15	0.13	0.58	0.28			
Pain	Paternal	n.s.	0.11	0.29	0.52	0.34		
Mental	Maternal	0.35	0.18	0.37	0.14	0.29	0.13	
Disorder	Paternal	0.15	0.31	0.20	0.45	0.15	0.26	0.28

Note: In the above table, only significant correlations are displayed. Correlations with a p-value greater than 0.01 are labelled as not significant (n.s.).

The significant Pearson's correlations between the variables of the secondary response as well as the tertiary response are graphically illustrated by dashed lines in figure 4.30 below.





As illustrated in both table 4.12 and figure 4.30, all but one of the correlations are significant. The single Pearson's correlation >0.01, and thus non-significant correlation, is between *Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Maternal Alcohol/Substance Abuse*.

5 Discussion

5.1 Interpretation of the Hypotheses

The four hypotheses at the center of this thesis revolve around the primary response, Body Mass Index (BMI), and are presented in chapter 2.3. Fourteen variables were examined as predictors of BMI and, of these, four were found to be statistically significant at the significance level of 0.01. The results indicate that a lower socioeconomic status (SES), older age, male gender, and experience of paternal disability or chronic disease during childhood predicted a higher BMI. Only two of these variables, SES and paternal disability or chronic disease during childhood, are relevant for the interpretation of the hypotheses, which are examined in this section. Additional results for the primary response are discussed further on in section 5.2.1. Moreover, in the process of a comprehensive statistical analysis, all variables were also analyzed regarding the secondary and tertiary response, these are presented in sections 5.2.2 and 5.2.3.

5.1.1 Interpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 1

Hypothesis 1: Individuals with a lower socioeconomic status are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

The results (presented in chapter 4.1.1.4) demonstrate a statistically significant quadratic effect of socioeconomic status (SES) on BMI. As such, a low SES is significantly associated with a high BMI and, therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected in favor of the alternative hypothesis, hypothesis 1. However, as indicated by the quadratic effect, SES only predicted high BMI for individuals with a low SES while the same was not the case for individuals with a medium to high SES.

These results are in line with current scientific literature. As discussed in chapter 2.2.1, there is a bidirectional association between a low SES and a high BMI—individuals with a lower SES are disproportionately affected by overweight and obesity. This association could also be found in our sample, consisting mainly of young university students. Those individuals who reported a low SES during the first fourteen years of life were more likely to be currently overweight or obese. The magnitude of the effect, however, is smaller than expected. This is perhaps due to the young mean age of the participants, which was approximately 24 years in wave 1 and 23 years in wave 2. In addition, sample bias may have affected the results—due to the sociodemographic structure of the university student body in Germany, it is plausible that individuals with lower SES are underrepresented (Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2020). As a result of the cross-sectional study design, it is not possible to interpret the causality of these results, only their correlation. Previous research, however, has indicated both bidirectionality and causality of the link between BMI and SES (Sobal and Stunkard, 1989, McLaren, 2007, Newton et al., 2017, Kim

and von dem Knesebeck, 2018). The results found in this study support previous research and highlight the importance of our environment in fostering obesity.

5.1.2 Interpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 2

Hypothesis 2: Individuals who experience symptoms of depression are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

The results (presented in chapter 4.1.1.1) did not find symptoms of depression to be a significant predictor of BMI. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained and the alternative hypothesis, hypothesis 2, was rejected. These results are contrary to the majority of results in current scientific literature, which indicate a strong bidirectional association between BMI and symptoms of depression (Luppino et al., 2010, de Wit et al., 2010a, Mannan et al., 2016). The lack of significant effect is unexpected. One possible explanation for the lack of association is found in the statistical analysis; due to the linear regression analysis, in which many possible confounders were tested, it is possible that other significant predictors of BMI may have masked the bivariate association between BMI and depression. On the other hand, it is possible that studies which do not control for these confounders may detect associations that are not relevant, thus reporting false results. Further research with a more representative sample selection is needed to answer this question.

Sample selection is this study's primary limitation. Consequently, the most plausible explanation for the absence of a significant correlation between symptoms of depression and BMI is sample bias. A study has indicated that German medical students experience higher rates of depressive disorders and anxiety disorders than the general German population (Seliger and Brähler, 2007). Yet individuals with symptoms of depression may be particularly underrepresented in this sample, as indicated by the low mean values on the scale for symptoms of depression. These are presented in table 3.3: on a scale from 0–100 the mean values for symptoms of depression are approximately 18 in wave 1 and 26 in wave 2. In the present survey, participants were asked to report symptoms of depression during the previous two weeks of their life. However, it is likely that individuals currently experiencing a depressive episode lack the energy and motivation to take part in an online survey, this may be exacerbated in individuals with severe symptoms of depression. Research demonstrates that, as the severity of depressive disorders increased, BMI also increased (Pratt and Brody, 2014). Thus, inadvertent exclusion of individuals with severe mental health disorders may negatively affect the generalizability of this result.

In addition, the sample selection affected the mean age of the participants included; participants in this study had a mean age of approximately 24 years in wave 1 and 23 years in wave 2 (detailed in table 3.3). Although the age of onset for depressive disorders has a wide variation, symptoms of depression commonly develop from mid-to-late adolescents through early adulthood (Otte et al., 2016) and the prevalence of depressive disorders continuously

increases with increasing age (Steffen et al., 2020). Moreover, the median age of onset for both men and women is around 25 years (Otte et al., 2016), and thus slightly higher than the mean age in this sample. Therefore, some of the surprising findings in this study may be explained by the young age of the participants.

The low mean score for depressive symptoms in this sample may also be explained by a **response bias**, due to the anonymous survey situation, it is possible that symptoms of depression were underreported (Rogler et al., 2001). Moreover, as a result of the selfreported data, although symptoms depression and social phobia could be identified, it was not possible to diagnose the clinical conditions themselves. In light of these limitations, future research should investigate if similar results can be found in a more representative cohort of young adults.

5.1.3 Interpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 3: Individuals who experience symptoms of social phobia are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

The results (presented in chapter 4.1.1.1) did not find symptoms of social phobia to be a significant predictor of BMI. Thus, the null hypothesis was retained and the alternative hypothesis, hypothesis 3, was rejected. As detailed in section 2.2.4.2, the results on the association between BMI and symptoms of anxiety disorders in scientific literature are inconclusive. Although two recent meta-analyses found a positive association, they also reported high levels of heterogeneity (Gariepy et al., 2010, Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019). In addition, a meta-analysis that examined the effects of stress and anxiety specifically in university students also found that results concerning the association to BMI were ambiguous (Haidar et al., 2018). Accordingly, the lack of significant association between symptoms of social phobia and overweight and obesity are in line with some of the current scientific literature. Moreover, some sources have described a u-shaped curve between anxiety disorders and bodyweight (Scott et al., 2008, DeJesus et al., 2016, Haidar et al., 2018). In the statistical analysis, non-linear associations were also tested, yet this study was unable to confirm a u-shaped curve between BMI and symptoms of social phobia. This result is in concordance with evidence from a recent study on anxiety disorders conducted in Germany, which was also unable to confirm a u-shaped curve between anxiety disorders and BMI (Herhaus et al., 2020).

These findings must be seen in the light of some limitations. Parallel to the limitations discussed above for symptoms of depression, symptoms of social phobia were not clinically diagnosed, but self-reported. It is possible that response bias in the anonymous online survey caused symptoms of social phobia to be underreported. Anxiety disorders tend to develop early in life (Craske et al., 2017) and the prevalence of social phobia decreases with age (Jacobi et al., 2014). Therefore, in contrast to the potential negative effects of the

participants' young age discussed previously regarding symptoms of depression, the young mean age of the participants, should not negatively affect the results regarding anxiety disorders.

The low mean values on the scale for symptoms of social phobia, indicate that individuals with symptoms of social phobia may be underrepresented in this study. As presented in table 3.3, on a scale from 0–100 the mean values for symptoms of social phobia are approximately 28 in both waves. As the recruitment of participants took place in a university setting, individuals with severe social phobia may be particularly underrepresented—as, due to the nature of their disorder, they may be less likely to be present at university. Inadvertent exclusion of individuals with severe social phobia may have negatively impacted the generalizability of the results. Considering these limitations, the results found in this study, indicate that there is no significant correlation and no u-shaped curve between BMI and symptoms of social phobia. Thus, these results add weight to the body of evidence indicating that anxiety disorders do not predict BMI.

5.1.4 Interpretation of the Results for Hypothesis 4

Hypothesis 4: Individuals who experienced adverse childhood experiences are at a higher risk of being overweight or obese.

Eight different adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) were examined in regard to the primary response, *BMI*. Of these eight, only one variable, *Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease*, significantly predicted a higher BMI. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained and the alternative hypothesis, hypothesis 4, was rejected. These results are contrary to most scientific literature, which despite considerable heterogeneity, consistently reports a positive association between ACEs and the development of overweight and obesity (as discussed in section 2.2.5.2).

Several factors may explain the divergence of this study's results from prior scientific literature. It is possible that the effects of ACEs in scientific literature are overestimated, as confounders such as SES, gender, and age may not be considered. Studies not controlling for these confounders may report false results, i.e. detect associations that are not relevant. Further research is needed to answer this question. In this study, however, SES, gender, and age were partialled out and, thus, through linear regression analysis these confounders were taken into account. Moreover, as indicated by Cohen's f^2 , which is approximately 0.2 and thus equivalent to a medium effect size (Cohen, 1992), as well as the total explained variance, which is roughly 17% (details presented in table 4.1), the variables examined in this study explain a considerable amount of variance for the primary response, BMI.

Despite the relatively large sample size (n=718), it is also plausible that the effects in this sample were simply too weak to show a significant association. Moreover, the sample may not be representative of the general population, as recruitment for the study took place

in a university setting. Due to the fact that ACEs are more common in lower-income households (Witt et al., 2017) and individuals with lower SES are underrepresented in German universities (Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2020), it is possible that ACEs are underrepresented in this sample. As presented in table 3.3, on a scale from 0–100 the mean values for SES were approximately 70 in wave 1 and 66 in wave 2 and, thus, considerably higher than the theoretical mid-point on the scale. This indicates that the discrepancies in SES in university enrollment may have similarly affected the composition of this sample.

The only significant effect of ACEs on BMI is an interaction between the two variables *Paternal Disability/ Chronic Disease* and *Age*, the implications of this effect are interpreted below, in section 5.2.1. Notably, there are plausible biological mechanisms through which paternal disease and disability may affect offspring's BMI, indicating that the psychological effects of ACEs on overweight and obesity may have been overestimated in prior literature. Nevertheless, these findings must be viewed in light of several limitations and the results should be replicated in a more representative sample of the German population before further interpretation.

5.2 Interpretation of Additional Results

5.2.1 Interpretation of Additional Results for the Primary Response:

Body Mass Index

In addition to the significant quadratic effect for *Socioeconomic Status* (see the interpretation of hypothesis 1 in section 5.1.1), a significant **interaction between the variables** *Paternal Chronic Disease* and *Age* as well as a significant main effect for *Gender* were found in regard to the primary response BMI, these are interpreted below. There was no significant association between *Wave* and *BMI*, indicating that the results for the primary response were stable across both waves of data collection.

In this study, male participants reported a higher BMI than female participants (results are presented in section 4.1.1.5), although the equivalent effect size was small (with a Cohen's d of -0.495). These results reflect data previously published in the Lancet (Ng et al., 2014), which found that German men were more likely to be overweight than women both as adolescents and as adults. According to this data, in Germany, 20.5% of men under the age of 20 and 64.3% of men over the age of 20 are overweight, compared to 19.4% and 49.0% of women respectively. The rates of obesity are 5.5% for men under the age of 20 and 21.9% for men over the age of 20, compared to 5.3% and 22.5% for women respectively (Ng et al., 2014).

The results in this study indicate, that BMI increases with age and that this effect is exacerbated when paternal chronic disease or disability was present during childhood

(presented in section 4.1.1.3). Prior literature has demonstrated that BMI increases as we grow older (Ng et al., 2014) and could be reproduced in this study both for individuals with and without paternal chronic disease and disability. Yet individuals whose fathers had a chronic disease or disability during their childhood were disproportionately affected by weight gain with increasing age. There are several possible explanations for this effect: First, paternal influences may impact their offspring's health both through biological and psychosocial mechanisms. Sharp and Lawlor postulate that paternal influences may impact the development of type II diabetes and obesity in their offspring through genetic and epigenetic factors as well as postnatal environment (Sharp and Lawlor, 2019). Second, there is some evidence indicating that paternal obesity may impact their offspring's metabolic health (Raad et al., 2017). Perhaps some of the participants, who answered the item Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability in the affirmative, were reporting paternal obesity. This, however, is somewhat speculative. One limitation of this study is that, due to the design of the online-survey, participants could not specify what kind of disease or disability their father suffered from. Further studies should replicate these results prior to further interpretation of these results. If replicated, these results might hold implications for paternal influences as a potential target for public health interventions to improve children's health (Sharp and Lawlor, 2019).

5.2.2 Interpretation of the Results for the Secondary Response: Common Mental Disorders

This section focuses on results for the secondary response, symptoms of common mental disorders. These were not at the center of this thesis yet were evaluated in the process of a comprehensive statistical analysis using ordered sequences of regression. Twelve variables were examined as predictors of *Symptoms of Depression/ Symptoms of Social Phobia* and, of these, six variables were found to be statistically significant for *Symptoms of Depression* and four were found to be statistically significant for *Symptoms of Depression* and four were found to be statistically significant for *Symptoms of Social Phobia* at the significance level of 0.01 (presented in sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 respectively). The six significant predictors of *Symptoms of Depression* include an interaction between *Paternal Alcohol Abuse* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* (1 and 2), a main effect for *Maternal Mental Disorder (3)*, a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status (4)*, a main effect for *Age (5)*, and a main effect for *Socioeconomic Status (1)*, a main effect for *Maternal Mental Disorder (2)*, a main effect for *Age (3)*, and a main effect for *Gender (4)*. The most important interpretations and implications of significant and non-significant results are discussed below.

5.2.2.1 The Effects of **SES**, **Wave**, **Gender**, and **Age** on Symptoms of Mental Health Disorders

The inequalities in health across the social gradient affect not only somatic, but also mental health (Hoebel and Lampert, 2020, Lampert et al., 2014, Allen et al., 2014). These disparities in mental health were reproduced in this study, in which there was an inverse correlation between SES and symptoms of depression as well as symptoms of social phobia (presented in sections 4.2.1.6 and 4.2.2.3 respectively). Moreover, participants in the second wave of data collection reported more symptoms of depression than in the first wave (presented in section 4.2.1.7), while the incidence of symptoms of social phobia remained stable over both waves of data collection. In addition, older age significantly predicted both symptoms of depression and symptoms of social phobia (presented in sections 4.2.1.4 and 4.2.2.5 respectively) and female gender significantly predicted symptoms of social phobia (presented in section 4.2.2.6), but surprisingly, did not predict symptoms of depression.

In consonance with the results presented herein, the prevalence of anxiety disorders in the German population seems to have remained relatively stable over the past decadesdata from 1998 indicates a prevalence of 19.5% in women and 9% in men (Wittchen and Jacobi, 2004) compared to data from 2014, which indicates a prevalence of 21.3% and 9.3% respectively (Jacobi et al., 2014). Data on the trend of depression in Germany over time are inconsistent and a perceived increase in the prevalence of depression has been mainly attributed to a shift in age-distribution of the population (Bretschneider et al., 2018, WHO, 2017). Bretschneider et al., who compared data from 1997-1999 to data from 2009-2012, reported no overall increase in the prevalence of depressive disorders in Germany. Nevertheless, they found changes in prevalence among some subgroups of the German population, specifically, an increased prevalence among women between the ages of 18 and 34 and a decreased prevalence in women between the ages of 50 and 65 (Bretschneider et al., 2018). A recent study, which evaluated epidemiological data in Germany between 2009 and 2017 found that there has been an increase in the prevalence of depression especially among adolescents and young adults aged 15-35 and, although the prevalence increased among both sexes, it was more pronounced in men (Steffen et al., 2020). Concurrently, in this sample, consisting mainly of young adults, the participants in wave 2 (data collection 2018-2019) reported higher rates of depression than those in wave 1 (data collection 2008). Thus, data from this study supports the evidence that the prevalence of reported symptoms of depression are increasing in young adults. It remains unclear, however, whether the prevalence of depressive disorders is increasing or whether the observed effect is due to a greater acceptance of mental disorders in our society (Angermeyer et al., 2014).

In accordance with current scientific literature, which reports higher rates of anxiety disorders in women than men (Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019, Sharafi et al., 2020, Jacobi et al., 2014), women in this study reported more symptoms of social phobia than men. The finding

that gender did not predict symptoms of depression, however, is inconsistent with current scientific literature. Despite the most marked increase in depression being amongst young men between the ages of 15-25 (Steffen et al., 2020), the overall prevalence of depressive disorders among women is consistently higher than among men (WHO, 2017, Bretschneider et al., 2018, Steffen et al., 2020). As previously discussed, there are several limitations to the sample selection, which may have caused considerable sample bias. The surprising results may be due to due to the fact that the sample selection in this study does not accurately represent the general population. It is also possible that the prevalence of a significant association between gender and symptoms of depression. Moreover, the absence of a significant effect may be found in a drawback of the linear regression analysis—wherein it is possible for other significant predictors of symptoms of depression to mask the effect of gender on symptoms of depression.

In this sample, symptoms of both depression and social phobia were inversely associated with age (presented in sections 4.2.1.4 and 4.2.2.5 respectively). Younger participants reported more symptoms of depression and social phobia than older participants. In regard to symptoms of depression, the data from this study is contrary to other scientific literature, which indicates a steady increase in the prevalence of depression until the overall highest incidence of depressive symptoms is reached between the ages of 60 and 64 (Steffen et al., 2020). The results for symptoms of social phobia in this study, on the other hand, are in accordance with results from Jacobi et al. on the prevalence of anxiety disorders in Germany by age group. Jacobi et al. found a continuous decrease in the prevalence of anxiety disorders with increasing age, both for anxiety disorders in general (from 18.0% for ages 18-34 to 11.0% for ages 65-79) (Jacobi et al., 2014).

5.2.2.2 The Effects of **Adverse Childhood Experiences** on Symptoms of Common Mental Health Disorders

Evidence from scientific literature indicates that adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are a significant risk factor for developing mental disorders later in life (Hovens et al., 2012, Carr et al., 2013, Gardner et al., 2019a, Bellis et al., 2019). In this study, only *Maternal Mental Disorders* predicted both symptoms of depression and social phobia (presented in sections 4.2.1.5 and 4.2.2.4 respectively). Symptoms of depression were additionally predicted by a combination of *Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* (presented in section 4.2.1.3).

A meta-analysis from 2014 found that offspring of parents with severe mental illness were more than twice as likely to develop mental disorders as adults (Rasic et al., 2013). Moreover, a previous study found that maternal depression during early childhood predicted depression in their offspring later in life (Raposa et al., 2014). In concordance with the above-named literature, the results in this study found that individuals who reported maternal mental disorders during their childhood were more likely also to report symptoms of depression and symptoms of social phobia. As both disorders have a genetic component (Craske et al., 2017, Otte et al., 2016) there is also a plausible biological explanation for the link. Notably, the effect was only found for maternal mental disorders and not for paternal mental disorders. This finding is contrary to the results of a prior study, which found that while parental depression was associated with higher rates of depression in their offspring, there was no difference between maternal and paternal mental health (Lieb et al., 2002).

In addition, participants who reported both Paternal Chronic Pain and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse were more likely to experience symptoms of depression. The same effect was not found in participants who only reported either Paternal Chronic Pain or Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse separately (results are presented in section 4.2.1.3). Children who grew up with a parent with alcohol abuse, substance abuse or a mental disorder are statistically three to four times as likely to develop a mental disorder themselves (Die Drogenbeauftragten der Bundesregierung, 2019). Moreover, there is evidence of a dose response between ACEs and adverse health outcomes (Hughes et al., 2017). Thus, it is plausible that only the combined effect of both paternal alcohol or substance and paternal chronic pain caused symptoms of depression. It is notable, that the same effect was not found for Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse and Maternal Chronic Pain, possibly this association was too weak to show a significant effect in this sample. The lack of effect may also be explained by the higher levels of alcohol and substance abuse among men than among women in Germany (Hardt et al., 2011). These results may reflect the importance of paternal influences in the development of symptoms of depression later in life. Nevertheless, given the sample bias in the current study, these results should be replicated prior to further interpretation.

5.2.3 Interpretation of the Results for the Tertiary Response:

Adverse Childhood Experiences

Of the eight variables included in the tertiary response, *Adverse Childhood Experiences*, all eight were significantly predicted by *Socioeconomic Status* and three (*Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic* Pain, as well as *Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability*) were additionally predicted by *Wave*. The tertiary response includes six variables pertaining to parental health and two variables pertaining to parental alcohol or substance abuse. The results for these variables are interpreted separately in the subsequent sections: first, the **effects of SES and Wave on indicators of parental health** are discussed (in section 5.2.3.1) and, second, the **effects of SES on parental alcohol and substance abuse** are discussed (in section 5.2.3.2).

5.2.3.1 Socioeconomic Status and Health Inequalities

Disease and disability are not equally distributed among our society, within Germany there is a social gradient whereby people with a lower SES have higher rates of disease and disability and report poorer subjective health (Robert Koch-Institute, 2016). In concordance with these findings, this study recorded higher rates of parental health problems in children who grew up in low-income households—these participants reported higher rates of *Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability* (presented in sections 4.3.2.2 and 4.3.2.4), higher rates of *Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* (presented in sections 4.3.3.2 and 4.3.3.5), as well as higher rates of *Maternal* and *Paternal Mental Disorder* (presented in sections 4.3.4.2 and 4.3.4.4).

The data collection of waves 1 and 2 are approximately a decade apart (*Wave 1* in 2008 and *Wave 2* in 2018/2019) and the participants (whose mean age is around 24 years) reported events from their childhood. Accordingly, significant effects predicted by the solely explanatory variable *Wave* indicate changes in reported parental health over time. Regarding the development of health inequalities in Germany over time, Lampert et al. found that over the past 20 to 30 years health inequalities have remained relatively stable or perhaps increased (Lampert et al., 2018).

No significant association was found between *Wave* and *Maternal Chronic Disease/ Disability* as well as *Maternal/Paternal Mental Disorder* indicating that the results for these variables were stable across both waves of data collection. *Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic* Pain, as well as *Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability*, on the other hand, were predicted by *Wave*. Participants in wave 2 reported higher rates of both *Maternal* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* than those in wave 1 (results presented in sections 4.3.3.3 and 4.3.3.6 respectively), indicating an increased prevalence over time. Moreover, in regard to the variable *Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability*, there was a significant interaction between the two variables *SES* and *Wave*. The results (presented in chapter 4.3.2.4) indicate that a lower SES predicted higher rates of reported paternal disease or disability both in wave 1 and wave 2, however the association is more pronounced in the second wave of data.

It is unclear why the correlation between SES and paternal disease and disability was stronger in the second wave of data, which was collected approximately a decade after the first wave. Perhaps, these results indicate that the social inequalities regarding chronic disease and disability of German men have increased during this period. Yet is also possible that discrepancies between male and female health behavior may explain this effect—besides the social gradient of health inequalities there are also disparities between men and women. For instance, women have a higher life expectancy. This is due, at least in part, to differing health behavior, which is informed by typical male and female gender roles (Faller and Lang, 2019). It is therefore possible, that the paternal rates of disease and disability were similar in both waves and that the results reflect a gradual change in gender stereotypes, whereby fathers in the second wave of data collection were more likely to be open about their health toward their children, who in turn were more likely to report paternal disease and disability. However, before engaging in further interpretation, these results ought to be verified in a sample that more accurately reflects the general population.

5.2.3.2 Socioeconomic Status and Disparities in Parental Alcohol and Substance Abuse

The results presented herein indicate that SES is a significant predictor of both Maternal and Paternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse, this is in concordance with some previously published research. According to Jones et al., while both high and low SES report drinking similar amounts of alcohol, people with a low SES seem to be disproportionally affected by the adverse health outcomes of alcohol consumption. Possible explanations for these discrepancies include differences in drinking patterns, the cumulative effect of risky health behaviors, and lack of access to health care (Jones et al., 2015). However, data published by the Robert Koch-Institute in 2016 did not reproduce these trends in the German population. They found that, in Germany, women with a high SES were considerably more likely to engage in risky alcohol consumption, while in men there was no association between alcohol consumption and SES (Lange et al., 2016). The prevalence of children in Germany living with parents or caregivers who suffer from alcohol or substance abuse is not known, thus any estimates on the effects rely solely on extrapolation (Die Drogenbeauftragten der Bundesregierung, 2017). Literature indicates, however, that families in which the caregiver suffers from alcohol or substance abuse are more likely to have a lower SES and higher rates of unemployment (Serec et al., 2012). Moreover, a review of epidemiological data conducted in 2016, indicates that, in Germans under the age of 25, there is a strong negative association between substance abuse and with SES (Henkel and Zemlin, 2016).

In light of these previous findings, the association between childhood SES and parental alcohol and substance abuse found in this study appear plausible. The results indicate an inverse linear correlation between the variables *SES* and *Maternal Alcohol/Substance Abuse* (presented in section 4.3.1.3). Individuals who reported growing up in a low-income household were more likely to have a mother or female caregiver who suffered from alcohol or substance abuse. Additionally, there was a significant quadratic association between the two variables *SES* and *Paternal Alcohol/Substance Abuse* (presented in section 4.3.1.5). Children who grew up in low-income households reported higher rates of paternal alcohol and/ or substance abuse. As indicated by the quadratic effect, there is a negative correlation for the lower portion of the SES scale, which becomes roughly linear around the mean SES value in this sample and then remains consistently low beyond that point. The apparent repeated rise in paternal alcohol or substance abuse for the highest SES is due to an artefact by fitting a quadratic term in the regression analysis.

5.2.4 Interpretation of the Results for the Residuals

The most relevant results for the Person's correlations of the residuals (presented in chapter 4.4) are discussed below. All but one of the correlations between the variables of the secondary and tertiary responses were significant at the 1% level. In addition, all significant correlations were positively correlated, meaning that participants who answered one item in the affirmative were more likely to answer other items in the same category (either within the secondary or tertiary response) in the affirmative as well. For the secondary response, common mental disorders, there is a significant correlation between the two variables *Symptoms of Depression* and *Symptoms of Social Phobia*. Moreover, this correlation has a large effect size. These results are plausible, as common mental disorders are highly comorbid (WHO, 2017) and it is therefore likely that participants, who reported symptoms of depression also reported symptoms of social phobia.

For the tertiary response, significant correlations were found between all but two of the variables (*Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Maternal Alcohol/ Substance Abuse*). These results are also plausible, as adverse childhood experiences tend to be highly clustered within families (Jorm and Mulder, 2018, Anda et al., 2010). Most of the correlations have small to medium effect sizes. In addition, there are two correlations with large effect sizes, these are *Maternal Chronic Pain* and *Maternal Chronic Disease* as well as *Paternal Chronic Pain* and *Paternal Chronic Disease*. Conceivable explanations for the large effect size between these variables are as follows: First, many chronic diseases, for instance low back pain (Vlaeyen et al., 2018), coincide with chronic pain and therefore the two variables are likely to have considerable overlap. Second, in the questionnaire, participants were asked to recall events from their childhood, it is plausible that a child's perception of parental chronic pain and chronic disease is similar, making it difficult for participants to differentiate between the two. Therefore, those who reported parental chronic disease were also more likely to report parental chronic pain.

5.3 Strengths and Limitations

This study's greatest **strength** is that the **statistical analysis** was conducted using ordered sequences of regression, as such it was possible to evaluate many explanatory variables. Moreover, in the statistical analysis, possible confounders (such as age, gender, and SES) were partialled out while examining the association between the explanatory variables and the responses. It is possible that some of the surprising findings in this study can be explained by the many confounders that could thus be taken into account.

Even after the elimination of 62 participants due to lack of data, the study is based on a comparatively **large sample size**, comprised of 718 individuals. Due to the large sample size, the threshold of significance was defined as $\leq 1\%$. Therefore, all p-values exceeding this 1% threshold were excluded and no trends in the data were examined. This reduces the number of effects that may have been statistically relevant yet are not clinically relevant. Moreover, the **total explained variance** was calculated for all responses. Although the majority of effect sizes were small, a considerable amount of variance was explained for the primary response, *BMI*, and the secondary response, *Symptoms of Depression*—Cohen's f^2 for these two variables was equivalent to a medium effect size.

The data herein was self-reported and collected via **online survey**. The measurement used to evaluate the primary response is the Body Mass Index (BMI), which is commonly used to approximate overweight and obesity. The BMI has several advantages that have led to its widespread implementation; it is easy to calculate, can be determined using self-reported data, can be easily compared, and allows stratification into various categories of overweight and obesity. Furthermore, online surveys, such as the one used in the current study, are highly economical, objective, and anonymous. Although the anonymity in this type of survey can have some drawbacks, it can also be advantageous when addressing difficult topics, such as adverse childhood experiences (Kappis and Hardt, 2016). Regarding the internal consistency for items within the survey, those items for which Cronbach's α could be calculated (*Symptoms of Depression, Symptoms of Social Phobia*, and *SES*), all had good internal consistency for both waves of data collection, with Cronbach's α ranging from 0.84 to 0.90 (for details see chapters 3.3.2 and 3.3.5). Nevertheless, both the use of the online survey as well as BMI has some drawbacks, the implications of these as well as other limitations, are discussed below.

This research is subject to several **limitations**, the primary of which is the **sample selection**. The recruitment of participants for the online survey was conducted primarily in a medical university setting. Therefore, a majority of the participants are medical students, who may not constitute a representative sample for several reasons. As discussed in detail throughout the interpretation of the results (sections 5.1 and 5.2), this sample may diverge from the general population due to their young age, an underrepresentation of mental

disorders, and comparatively high SES. Thus, the results presented herein must be seen in light of substantial sample bias.

Moreover, there are some limitations regarding the **data collection**; as the study was conducted via online survey, all data is self-reported. This may impact the validity of the data for BMI, symptoms of mental health disorders, and ACEs as described below. The primary response, BMI, is commonly used and was calculated using self-reported height and weight. The reliability of self-reported anthropometrics, however, has been called into question. One literature review by Maukonen et al. published in 2018, found that self-reported height was systematically overestimated, while self-reported weight was underestimated, thus resulting in a lower BMI. Interestingly, this bias was particularly pronounced in overweight and obese participants (Maukonen et al., 2018). Therefore, self-reported height and weight may have a negative impact on the accuracy of the results. More reliable results for BMI could be obtained if height and weight were measured as opposed to self-reported. Moreover, the clinical significance of the results could be increased, if, in addition to BMI, measurements of central adiposity (such as waist-to-hip ratio or waist circumference) were included in the analysis, as they more accurately correlate with health risks than overall adiposity (Jayedi et al., 2020).

Regarding the secondary response, symptoms of mental disorders, the following factors may influence the generalizability of the results. Symptoms depression and social phobia were self-reported and the clinical conditions themselves could not be diagnosed. Additionally, although all items may be subject to **response bias**, the validity of results for symptoms of mental health disorders may be disproportionately affected (Rogler et al., 2001). Moreover, participants were asked to report symptoms from the past two weeks, this may have affected the results, particularly in regard to symptoms of depression. It is plausible that individuals currently experiencing a depressive episode were less likely to take part in an online survey and may therefore be underrepresented in this sample.

Regarding the tertiary response, the eight items concerning ACEs allowed only a binary response ("Yes" or "No"), neither length of exposure nor age at the time of exposure were taken into account. Moreover, due to the nature of the online questionnaire, possible misunderstandings and uncertainties from the participants, could not be addressed. Especially concerning ACEs, some participants may have benefited from personal conversation (Kappis and Hardt, 2016). For instance, it is possible that participants who were unable to answer the questions regarding ACEs with a definitive "Yes" or "No", simply left the item unanswered. In this study, in order to account for possible uncertainties regarding the presence or absence of a parental problem, unanswered questions were coded as 0.5 on a scale from 0 to 1 (see chapter 3.3.3 for details). However, future studies may benefit from answer choices on a Likert-scale or a third answer choice (such as "Unknown") as opposed to the binary answer choices used herein.

The **total explained variance** was calculated for all responses, and values vary between approximately 1% for *Paternal Mental Disorder* and 17% for *BMI*. For most of the variables, only a limited amount of variance was explained. This is reflected by the values of Cohen's f^2 , the majority of which are equivalent to a small effect size. Furthermore, no effect was found for the variables *Maternal Disability/ Chronic Disease* and *Paternal Mental Disorder*. These results indicate that, in addition to the variables examined in this study, further factors may play an important role in predicting these responses.

As with all cross-sectional studies, only correlation, but not causation, could be determined. A limitation of the retrospective study design is that participants may be subject to **recall bias**. This is particularly relevant for the tertiary response, ACEs, for which individuals were asked to recall events from their childhood. There is evidence that retrospective reporting of ACEs is more likely to lead to false-negative than false-positive reports, thus causing an underestimation rather than an overestimation of effects (Hardt and Rutter, 2004). Moreover, although commonly used, retrospective studies on the association between ACEs and mental health outcomes may be biased, as mental health factors may affect participants' reporting of adverse childhood experiences (Colman et al., 2016). Future studies may benefit from a longitudinal prospective study design.

5.4 Evaluation of the Results

Four hypotheses, revolving around the psychosocial predictors of overweight and obesity, are at the center of this research. Of these, only hypothesis 1 was supported by the results—in accordance with previous scientific literature there was a significant negative association between SES and BMI. The remaining three hypotheses were not supported by the results no significant effect was found for symptoms of depression, symptoms of social phobia, or adverse childhood experiences as a predictor of BMI and, thus, the null hypotheses were retained. In summary, the results both reinforce the importance of SES in the development of overweight and obesity and challenge the importance of ACEs and common mental disorders as predictors of BMI.

Meta-analyses on the association of anxiety disorders and overweight and obesity reported high levels of heterogeneity (Gariepy et al., 2010, Amiri and Behnezhad, 2019), and the results of this study support evidence indicating that symptoms of anxiety do not predict BMI. Furthermore, in accordance with some previous literature (Herhaus et al., 2020), no ushaped association was found between the two. The findings regarding symptoms of depression and ACEs, however, were unexpected and largely contrary to previous scientific literature which found a bidirectional link between obesity and depressive disorders (Luppino et al., 2010, de Wit et al., 2010a, Mannan et al., 2016) as well as a positive association between ACEs and obesity (Danese and Tan, 2014, Hemmingsson et al., 2014, Norman et al., 2012, Hughes et al., 2017). ACEs were analyzed including many explanatory variables yet, surprisingly, the only variable that significantly predicted BMI was *Paternal Chronic Disease/ Disability*. For all other ACEs no significant correlation with BMI was found. Given all limitations, most importantly concerning the sample selection, the quintessence of this study is that the evidence for ACEs and symptoms of common mental disorders as predictors for overweight and obesity could not be reproduced.

This study revealed several interesting results beyond the scope of the hypotheses. The only explanatory variable that significantly predicted every single result was *SES*, indicating that even in this sample made up of young German university students, there are substantial inequalities along the social gradient. Moreover, *Maternal Mental Disorder* was the only ACE that predicted higher rates of both symptoms of depression and symptoms of social phobia. Notably, this result has a plausible biological explanation as there is a genetic component to both mental disorders. In addition, the combination of *Paternal Alcohol/Substance Abuse* and *Paternal Chronic Pain* was significantly associated with *Symptoms of Depressive Disorders*. If reproduced, these results could provide stimulus for future areas of research.

Importantly, this study is subject to considerable sample bias, which may explain some of the surprising results. However, the divergence from prior research may also be a result of the statistical analysis. Due to the use of ordered sequences of regressions many possible confounders could be partialled out in this study. It is possible that previous studies, which did not partial out these possible confounders, found a spurious effect of depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and ACEs on BMI. Moreover, these limitations in individual studies may have consequently affected the results of meta-analyses. Future studies should consider using ordered sequences of regression to avoid overestimating possible confounders.
6 Conclusion

Over 1.9 billion adults around the world are overweight or obese (WHO, 2018). Consequently, both individuals and society as a whole are affected, for example, through adverse health outcomes (Finer, 2015), medical expenses (Herpertz et al., 2011), and loss of productivity (Yates et al., 2016). The prevalence of overweight and obesity continues to increase (N. C. D. Risk Factor Collaboration, 2017) and in light of limited treatment options and ineffective preventative strategies this topic remains highly relevant. The etiology of obesity is complex and multifactorial, besides genetic and biological factors, societal and environmental influences dictate the extent to which predisposed individuals gain weight (Blüher, 2019). Previous research indicates that psychosocial factors such as socioeconomic status (SES), common mental disorders, and adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are important in the development of obesity and therefore crucial to the hypotheses posed in this research.

This study aimed to identify these psychosocial predictors in a cohort of over 700 young adults predominantly from a German university. The four hypotheses examined whether a low childhood SES, current symptoms of depression, current symptoms of social phobia, and ACEs during the first fourteen years of life significantly predicted overweight and obesity in adulthood. Utilizing ordered sequences of regression, a comprehensive statistical analysis was performed to analyze the data. Of the fourteen explanatory variables included, four significantly predicted Body Mass Index (BMI) of which only two variables were relevant for the interpretation of the hypotheses.

The first hypothesis was supported by the results-in concordance with previous scientific literature there was a significant negative association between SES and BMI. The remaining three hypotheses, on the other hand, were not supported. Despite some heterogeneity, most current scientific literature reports a positive association between anxiety disorders and obesity. This study, however, found neither a significant correlation nor a u-shaped curve between symptoms of social phobia and BMI. Furthermore, in contrast to the majority of current literature, no association was found between BMI and symptoms of depression or BMI and ACEs. Notably, of the ACEs examined, only paternal chronic disease or disability significantly predicted BMI. Some unexpected results in this study may be due to sample bias. This sample may diverge from the general population due to the young age, the low prevalence of mental disorders, and a comparatively high socioeconomic status of the survey participants.

While the sample selection limits the generalizability of these results, this study suggests that the mediating role of common mental disorders and ACEs in the development of overweight and obesity may be smaller than previously indicated in scientific literature. However, the results also reinforce the significance of SES in the development of obesity thus indicating that societal inequalities are highly relevant to weight gain.

7 Deutschsprachige Zusammenfassung

Global sind über 1,9 Milliarden Menschen von Übergewichtigkeit und Adipositas betroffen (WHO, 2018). Infolgedessen ergeben sich sowohl persönliche wie auch gesellschaftliche Folgen, beispielsweise durch Folgeerkrankungen (Finer, 2015), medizinische Kosten (Herpertz et al., 2011) und Produktivitätsverluste (Yates et al., 2016). Die Prävalenz von Übergewicht und Adipositas nimmt weiterhin zu (N. C. D. Risk Factor Collaboration, 2017) und angesichts begrenzter Behandlungsmöglichkeiten und ineffektiver Präventionsstrategien ist dieses Thema nach wie vor von hoher Relevanz.

Die Ätiologie der Adipositas ist multifaktoriell und komplex. Neben genetischen und biologischen Faktoren bestimmen gesellschaftliche und Umwelteinflüsse das Ausmaß der Gewichtszunahme prädisponierter Personen. Wissenschaftliche Literatur weist darauf hin, dass psychosoziale Faktoren wie der sozioökonomische Status (SES), Depressionen, Angststörungen und Kindheitsbelastungen bei der Entstehung von Adipositas eine wichtige Rolle spielen. Auf Grundlage der genannten psychosozialen Faktoren wurden vier Hypothesen erarbeitet und evaluiert. Im Rahmen der Hypothesen wurde untersucht, ob ein niedriger Sozioökomischer Status in der Kindheit, aktuelle Symptome einer Depression oder sozialen Phobie, sowie Kindheitsbelastungen in den ersten vierzehn Lebensjahren signifikante Prädiktoren für Übergewicht und Adipositas darstellten.

Ziel dieser Studie ist es, diese psychosozialen Prädiktoren von Übergewicht und Adipositas in einer Kohorte junger Erwachsener in Deutschland zu identifizieren. Eine umfassende statistische Analyse wurde mittels geordneten Folgen von Regressionen durchgeführt, um die Daten von über 700 Personen hinsichtlich vierzehn erklärender Variablen zu analysieren. Vier der Variablen korrelierten signifikant mit dem Body Mass Index (BMI), von denen nur zwei für die Interpretation der Hypothesen relevant waren.

Die erste Hypothese wurde durch die Ergebnisse gestützt. In Übereinstimmung mit der bisherigen wissenschaftlichen Literatur gab es eine signifikante negative Assoziation zwischen sozioökonomischem Status und BMI. Die übrigen drei Hypothesen konnten dagegen nicht bestätigt werden. Trotz einer gewissen Heterogenität der Ergebnisse wird in der aktuellen wissenschaftlichen Literatur mehrheitlich eine positive Assoziation zwischen Angststörungen und Adipositas berichtet. Wohingegen diese Studie weder eine signifikante Korrelation noch einen u-förmigen Zusammenhang zwischen Symptomen der sozialen Phobie und BMI fand. Darüber hinaus wurde, im Gegensatz zur Mehrheit der aktuellen Literatur, kein Zusammenhang zwischen BMI und Symptomen der Depression sowie BMI und Kindheitsbelastungen gefunden. Bemerkenswert ist, dass von den untersuchten Kindheitsbelastungen nur väterliche chronische Erkrankung oder Behinderung den BMI signifikant vorhersagte. Die unerwarteten Ergebnisse bezüglich Symptome der Depression und sozialen Phobie könnten auf eine Verzerrung der Stichprobe zurückzuführen sein. Die Teilnehmenden dieser Studie weichen durch ihr junges Alter, einer geringen Prävalenz psychischer Störungen und einem vergleichsweisen hohen sozioökonomischen Status von der Allgemeinbevölkerung ab.

Wenngleich die Stichprobenauswahl die Repräsentativität der Ergebnisse einschränkt, legt diese Studie nahe, dass die vermittelnde Rolle von Depressionen, Angststörungen und Kindheitsbelastungen bei der Entstehung von Übergewicht und Adipositas geringer ist als bisher in der wissenschaftlichen Literatur angenommen. Andererseits stützen die Ergebnisse die Bedeutung des sozioökonomischen Status bei der Entwicklung von Adipositas und weisen darauf hin, dass gesellschaftliche Ungleichheiten für die Gewichtszunahme von hoher Relevanz sind.

- ABARCA-GÓMEZ, L., ABDEEN, Z. A., HAMID, Z. A., ABU-RMEILEH, N. M., ACOSTA-CAZARES, B., ACUIN, C., ADAMS, R. J., AEKPLAKORN, W., AFSANA, K., AGUILAR-SALINAS, C. A., AGYEMANG, C., AHMADVAND, A., AHRENS, W., AJLOUNI, K., AKHTAEVA, N., AL-HAZZAA, H. M., AL-OTHMAN, A. R., AL-RADDADI, R., AL BUHAIRAN, F., AL DHUKAIR, S., ALI, M. M., ALI, O., ALKERWI, A. A., ALVAREZ-PEDREROL, M., ALY, E., AMARAPURKAR, D. N., AMOUYEL, P., AMUZU, A., ANDERSEN, L. B., ANDERSSEN, S. A., ANDRADE, D. S., ÄNGQUIST, L. H., ANJANA, R. M., AOUNALLAH-SKHIRI, H., ARAÚJO, J., ARIANSEN, I., ARIS, T., ARLAPPA, N., ARVEILER, D., ARYAL, K. K., ASPELUND, T., ASSAH, F. K., ASSUNÇÃO, M. C. F., AUNG, M. S., AVDICOVÁ, M., AZEVEDO, A., AZIZI, F., BABU, B. V., BAHIJRI, S., BAKER, J. L., BALAKRISHNA, N., BAMOSHMOOSH, M., BANACH, M., BANDOSZ, P., BANEGAS, J. R., BARBAGALLO, C. M., BARCELÓ, A., BARKAT, A., BARROS, A. J. D., BARROS, M. V. G., BATA, I., BATIEHA, A. M., BATISTA, R. L., BATYRBEK, A., BAUR, L. A., BEAGLEHOLE, R., ROMDHANE, H. B., BENEDICS, J., BENET, M., BENNETT, J. E., BERNABE-ORTIZ, A., BERNOTIENE, G., BETTIOL, H., BHAGYALAXMI, A., BHARADWAJ, S., BHARGAVA, S. K., BHATTI, Z., BHUTTA, Z. A., BI, H., BI, Y., BIEHL, A., BIKBOV, M., BISTA, B., BJELICA, D. J., BJERREGAARD, P., BJERTNESS, E., BJERTNESS, M. B., BJÖRKELUND, C., BLOKSTRA, A., BO, S., BOBAK, M., BODDY, L. M., BOEHM, B. O., BOEING, H., BOGGIA, J. G., BOISSONNET, C. P., BONACCIO, M., BONGARD, V., BOVET, P., BRAECKEVELT, L., et al. 2017. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128·9 million children, adolescents, and adults. The Lancet, 390, 2627-2642.
- AHIMA, R. S. & ANTWI, D. A. 2008. Brain regulation of appetite and satiety. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 37, 811-23.
- AKSHINTALA, D., CHUGH, R., AMER, F. & CUSI, K. 2019. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: The Overlooked Complication of Type 2 Diabetes. *In:* FEINGOLD, K. R., ANAWALT, B., BOYCE, A., CHROUSOS, G., DUNGAN, K., GROSSMAN, A., HERSHMAN, J. M., KALTSAS, G., KOCH, C., KOPP, P., KORBONITS, M., MCLACHLAN, R., MORLEY, J. E., NEW, M., PERREAULT, L., PURNELL, J., REBAR, R., SINGER, F., TRENCE, D. L., VINIK, A. & WILSON, D. P. (eds.) *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA).
- ALLEN, J., BALFOUR, R., BELL, R. & MARMOT, M. 2014. Social determinants of mental health. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 26, 392-407.
- ALONSO, J., LIU, Z., EVANS-LACKO, S., SADIKOVA, E., SAMPSON, N., CHATTERJI, S., ABDULMALIK, J., AGUILAR-GAXIOLA, S., AL-HAMZAWI, A., ANDRADE, L. H., BRUFFAERTS, R., CARDOSO, G., CIA, A., FLORESCU, S., DE GIROLAMO, G., GUREJE, O., HARO, J. M., HE, Y., DE JONGE, P., KARAM, E. G., KAWAKAMI, N., KOVESS-MASFETY, V., LEE, S., LEVINSON, D., MEDINA-MORA, M. E., NAVARRO-MATEU, F., PENNELL, B. E., PIAZZA, M., POSADA-VILLA, J., TEN HAVE, M., ZARKOV, Z., KESSLER, R. C., THORNICROFT, G. & COLLABORATORS, W. H. O. W. M. H. S. 2018.

Treatment gap for anxiety disorders is global: Results of the World Mental Health Surveys in 21 countries. *Depress Anxiety*, 35, 195-208.

- AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION 2013. Anxiety Disorders. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Washington, DC.
- AMIRI, S. & BEHNEZHAD, S. 2019. Obesity and anxiety symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychiatr*, 33, 72-89.
- ANDA, R. F., BUTCHART, A., FELITTI, V. J. & BROWN, D. W. 2010. Building a framework for global surveillance of the public health implications of adverse childhood experiences. *Am J Prev Med*, 39, 93-8.
- ANGERMEYER, M. C., MATSCHINGER, H., CARTA, M. G. & SCHOMERUS, G. 2014. Changes in the perception of mental illness stigma in Germany over the last two decades. *Eur Psychiatry*, 29, 390-5.
- APPELHANS, B. M., MILLIRON, B.-J., WOOLF, K., JOHNSON, T. J., PAGOTO, S. L., SCHNEIDER, K. L., WHITED, M. C. & VENTRELLE, J. C. 2012. Socioeconomic Status, Energy Cost, and Nutrient Content of Supermarket Food Purchases. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42, 398-402.
- ARCHER, E., LAVIE, C. J. & HILL, J. O. 2018. The Contributions of 'Diet', 'Genes', and Physical Activity to the Etiology of Obesity: Contrary Evidence and Consilience. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*, 61, 89-102.
- ARGYRAKOPOULOU, G., DALAMAGA, M., SPYROU, N. & KOKKINOS, A. 2021. Gender Differences in Obesity-Related Cancers. *Curr Obes Rep*, 10, 100-115.
- AUTORENGRUPPE BILDUNGSBERICHTERSTATTUNG 2020. Bildung in Deutschland 2020: Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zu Bildung in einer digitalisierten Welt. 185-187.
- BAKER, E. H. 2014. Socioeconomic Status, Definition. *In:* COCKERHAM, W. C., DINGWALL, R. & QUAH, S. R. (eds.) *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society.*
- BAKER, K. D., LOUGHMAN, A., SPENCER, S. J. & REICHELT, A. C. 2017. The impact of obesity and hypercaloric diet consumption on anxiety and emotional behavior across the lifespan. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 83, 173-182.
- BARRINGTON, W. E., BERESFORD, S. A., MCGREGOR, B. A. & WHITE, E. 2014. Perceived stress and eating behaviors by sex, obesity status, and stress vulnerability: findings from the vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study. *J Acad Nutr Diet*, 114, 1791-9.
- BAUM, C. L., 2ND & FORD, W. F. 2004. The wage effects of obesity: a longitudinal study. *Health Econ*, 13, 885-99.
- BELLIS, M. A., HUGHES, K., FORD, K., RAMOS RODRIGUEZ, G., SETHI, D. & PASSMORE, J. 2019. Life course health consequences and associated annual costs of adverse childhood experiences across Europe and North America: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*, 4, e517-e528.

- BEUTEL, T. F., ZWERENZ, R. & MICHAL, M. 2018. Psychosocial stress impairs health behavior in patients with mental disorders. *Bmc Psychiatry*, 18.
- BLACKBURN, T. P. 2019. Depressive disorders: Treatment failures and poor prognosis over the last 50 years. *Pharmacol Res Perspect*, 7, e00472.
- BLOCK, J. P., HE, Y., ZASLAVSKY, A. M., DING, L. & AYANIAN, J. Z. 2009. Psychosocial stress and change in weight among US adults. *Am J Epidemiol*, 170, 181-92.
- BLÜHER, M. 2019. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 15, 288-298.
- BRADSHAW, M., KENT, B. V., HENDERSON, W. M. & SETAR, A. C. 2017. Subjective social status, life course SES, and BMI in young adulthood. *Health Psychol*, 36, 682-694.
- BRATANOVA, B., LOUGHNAN, S., KLEIN, O., CLAASSEN, A. & WOOD, R. 2016. Poverty, inequality, and increased consumption of high calorie food: Experimental evidence for a causal link. *Appetite*, 100, 162-171.
- BRAY, G. A. 2004. Medical consequences of obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89, 2583-9.
- BRAY, G. A., HEISEL, W. E., AFSHIN, A., JENSEN, M. D., DIETZ, W. H., LONG, M., KUSHNER, R. F., DANIELS, S. R., WADDEN, T. A., TSAI, A. G., HU, F. B., JAKICIC, J. M., RYAN, D. H., WOLFE, B. M. & INGE, T. H. 2018. The Science of Obesity Management: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocr Rev*, 39, 79-132.
- BRAY, G. A., KIM, K. K., WILDING, J. P. H. & WORLD OBESITY, F. 2017. Obesity: a chronic relapsing progressive disease process. A position statement of the World Obesity Federation. *Obes Rev*, 18, 715-723.
- BRETSCHNEIDER, J., JANITZA, S., JACOBI, F., THOM, J., HAPKE, U., KURTH, T. & MASKE, U. E. 2018. Time trends in depression prevalence and healthrelated correlates: results from population-based surveys in Germany 1997– 1999 vs. 2009–2012. *BMC Psychiatry*, 18, 394.
- BREWIS, A., STURTZSREETHARAN, C. & WUTICH, A. 2018. Obesity stigma as a globalizing health challenge. *Global Health*, 14, 20.
- BREWIS, A. A. 2014. Stigma and the perpetuation of obesity. Soc Sci Med, 118, 152-8.
- BROWN, R. M., GUERRERO-HREINS, E., BROWN, W. A., LE ROUX, C. W. & SUMITHRAN, P. 2021. Potential gut-brain mechanisms behind adverse mental health outcomes of bariatric surgery. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 17, 549-559.
- BRUNNER, E. J., CHANDOLA, T. & MARMOT, M. G. 2007. Prospective effect of job strain on general and central obesity in the Whitehall II Study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 165, 828-37.

- BUSCH, M. A., MASKE, U. E., RYL, L., SCHLACK, R. & HAPKE, U. 2013. [Prevalence of depressive symptoms and diagnosed depression among adults in Germany: results of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1)]. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz*, 56, 733-9.
- CABALLERO, B. 2007. The global epidemic of obesity: an overview. *Epidemiol Rev*, 29, 1-5.
- CALDWELL, A. E. & SAYER, R. D. 2019. Evolutionary considerations on social status, eating behavior, and obesity. *Appetite*, 132, 238-248.
- CALLAHAN, D. 2013. Obesity: chasing an elusive epidemic. *Hastings Cent Rep*, 43, 34-40.
- CAMPOS-VAZQUEZ, R. M. & GONZALEZ, E. 2020. Obesity and hiring discrimination. *Econ Hum Biol*, 37, 100850.
- CARR, C. P., MARTINS, C. M., STINGEL, A. M., LEMGRUBER, V. B. & JURUENA, M. F. 2013. The role of early life stress in adult psychiatric disorders: a systematic review according to childhood trauma subtypes. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 201, 1007-20.
- CDC. 2019. *Child Abuse and Neglect Prevention* [Online]. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/childabuseandneglect/index.html</u> [Accessed 01.05.2019].
- CHANDOLA, T., BRUNNER, E. & MARMOT, M. 2006. Chronic stress at work and the metabolic syndrome: prospective study. *BMJ*, 332, 521-5.
- CHAO, A., GRILO, C. M., WHITE, M. A. & SINHA, R. 2015. Food cravings mediate the relationship between chronic stress and body mass index. *J Health Psychol*, 20, 721-9.
- CHEN, Y. & QIAN, L. 2012. Association between lifetime stress and obesity in Canadians. *Prev Med*, 55, 464-7.
- CHISHOLM, D., SWEENY, K., SHEEHAN, P., RASMUSSEN, B., SMIT, F., CUIJPERS, P. & SAXENA, S. 2016. Scaling-up treatment of depression and anxiety: a global return on investment analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 3, 415-24.
- COHEN, J. 1992. A power primer. Psychol Bull, 112, 155-9.
- COLMAN, I., KINGSBURY, M., GARAD, Y., ZENG, Y., NAICKER, K., PATTEN, S., JONES, P. B., WILD, T. C. & THOMPSON, A. H. 2016. Consistency in adult reporting of adverse childhood experiences. *Psychol Med*, 46, 543-9.
- CRAIG, H., LE ROUX, C., KEOGH, F. & FINUCANE, F. M. 2018. How Ethical Is Our Current Delivery of Care to Patients with Severe and Complicated Obesity? *Obes Surg*, 28, 2078-2082.

- CRASKE, M. G., STEIN, M. B., ELEY, T. C., MILAD, M. R., HOLMES, A., RAPEE, R. M. & WITTCHEN, H.-U. 2017. Anxiety disorders. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 3, 17024.
- CUNNINGHAM, A. L., STEPHENS, J. W. & HARRIS, D. A. 2021. A review on gut microbiota: a central factor in the pathophysiology of obesity. *Lipids Health Dis*, 20, 65.
- DANESE, A. & TAN, M. 2014. Childhood maltreatment and obesity: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry*, 19, 544-54.
- DARMON, N. & DREWNOWSKI, A. 2015. Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: a systematic review and analysis. *Nutr Rev*, 73, 643-60.
- DE MOOR, M. H., BOOMSMA, D. I., STUBBE, J. H., WILLEMSEN, G. & DE GEUS, E. J. 2008. Testing causality in the association between regular exercise and symptoms of anxiety and depression. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 65, 897-905.
- DE WIT, L., LUPPINO, F., VAN STRATEN, A., PENNINX, B., ZITMAN, F. & CUIJPERS, P. 2010a. Depression and obesity: a meta-analysis of communitybased studies. *Psychiatry Res*, 178, 230-5.
- DE WIT, L. M., FOKKEMA, M., VAN STRATEN, A., LAMERS, F., CULJPERS, P. & PENNINX, B. W. 2010b. Depressive and anxiety disorders and the association with obesity, physical, and social activities. *Depress Anxiety*, 27, 1057-65.
- DE ZWAAN, M., ENDERLE, J., WAGNER, S., MÜHLHANS, B., DITZEN, B., GEFELLER, O., MITCHELL, J. E. & MÜLLER, A. 2011. Anxiety and depression in bariatric surgery patients: a prospective, follow-up study using structured clinical interviews. *J Affect Disord*, 133, 61-8.
- DEJESUS, R. S., BREITKOPF, C. R., EBBERT, J. O., RUTTEN, L. J. F., JACOBSON, R. M., JACOBSON, D. J., FAN, C. & ST SAUVER, J. 2016. Associations Between Anxiety Disorder Diagnoses and Body Mass Index Differ by Age, Sex and Race: A Population Based Study. *Clinical practice and epidemiology in mental health : CP & EMH*, 12, 67-74.
- DI PASQUALE, R. & CELSI, L. 2017. Stigmatization of Overweight and Obese Peers among Children. *Front Psychol*, 8, 524.
- DIE DROGENBEAUFTRAGTEN DER BUNDESREGIERUNG 2017. Drogen- und Suchtbericht 2017. <u>www.drogenbeauftragte.de</u>: Die Drogenbeauftragten der Bundesregierung beim Bundesministerium für Gesundheit.
- DIE DROGENBEAUFTRAGTEN DER BUNDESREGIERUNG 2019. Drogen- und Suchtbericht 2019. <u>www.drogenbeauftragte.de</u>: Die Drogenbeauftragten der Bundesregierung beim Bundesministerium für Gesundheit.
- DINSA, G. D., GORYAKIN, Y., FUMAGALLI, E. & SUHRCKE, M. 2012. Obesity and socioeconomic status in developing countries: a systematic review. *Obes Rev*, 13, 1067-79.

- EGLE, U. T. & HARDT, J. 2004. MSBI: Mainzer Strukturiertes Biografisches Interview. *Klinische Interviews und Ratingskalen. Diagnostik für Klinik und Praxis.*, 4, 261-5.
- ELRAN-BARAK, R. & BAR-ANAN, Y. 2018. Implicit and explicit anti-fat bias: The role of weight-related attitudes and beliefs. *Soc Sci Med*, 204, 117-124.
- ELSENBURG, L. K., VAN WIJK, K. J. E., LIEFBROER, A. C. & SMIDT, N. 2017. Accumulation of adverse childhood events and overweight in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 25, 820-832.
- ENGIN, A. 2017. The Definition and Prevalence of Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 960, 1-17.
- ERNÄHRUNG 2008. Nationale Verzehrsstudie II Ernährung Wissenschaft und Praxis Max Rubner-Institut.
- FALL, T., MENDELSON, M. & SPELIOTES, E. K. 2017. Recent Advances in Human Genetics and Epigenetics of Adiposity: Pathway to Precision Medicine? *Gastroenterology*, 152, 1695-1706.
- FALLER, H. & LANG, H. 2019. Gesundheit von Männern und Frauen. *Medizinische Psychologie und Soziologie*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- FARRELL, A. E. 2011. *Fat shame : stigma and the fat body in American culture,* New York, NY, New York Univ. Press.
- FEKETE, C. & WEYERS, S. 2016. [Social inequalities in nutrition: Evidence, causes and interventions]. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz*, 59, 197-205.
- FELITTI, V. J., ANDA, R. F., NORDENBERG, D., WILLIAMSON, D. F., SPITZ, A. M., EDWARDS, V., KOSS, M. P. & MARKS, J. S. 1998. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *Am J Prev Med*, 14, 245-58.
- FINER, N. 2015. Medical consequences of obesity. *Medicine*, 43, 88-93.
- FLEISCHER, T., ULKE, C., BEUTEL, M., BINDER, H., BRÄHLER, E., JOHAR, H., ATASOY, S., KRUSE, J., OTTEN, D., TIBUBOS, A. N., ZÖLLER, D., SPEERFORCK, S., GRABE, H. J., LADWIG, K. H. & SCHOMERUS, G. 2021. The relation between childhood adversity and adult obesity in a populationbased study in women and men. *Sci Rep*, 11, 14068.
- FLINT, S. W., ČADEK, M., CODREANU, S. C., IVIĆ, V., ZOMER, C. & GOMOIU, A. 2016. Obesity Discrimination in the Recruitment Process: "You're Not Hired!". *Front Psychol*, 7, 647.
- FOX, C. K., GROSS, A. C., RUDSER, K. D., FOY, A. M. & KELLY, A. S. 2016. Depression, Anxiety, and Severity of Obesity in Adolescents: Is Emotional Eating the Link? *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*, 55, 1120-5.

- FRANKS, P. W. & MCCARTHY, M. I. 2016. Exposing the exposures responsible for type 2 diabetes and obesity. *Science*, 354, 69-73.
- FRANZ, M. J., VANWORMER, J. J., CRAIN, A. L., BOUCHER, J. L., HISTON, T., CAPLAN, W., BOWMAN, J. D. & PRONK, N. P. 2007. Weight-loss outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of weight-loss clinical trials with a minimum 1-year follow-up. *J Am Diet Assoc*, 107, 1755-67.
- FREDERICK, C. B., SNELLMAN, K. & PUTNAM, R. D. 2014. Increasing socioeconomic disparities in adolescent obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 1338-42.
- FRIEDENREICH, C. M., RYDER-BURBIDGE, C. & MCNEIL, J. 2021. Physical activity, obesity and sedentary behavior in cancer etiology: epidemiologic evidence and biologic mechanisms. *Mol Oncol*, 15, 790-800.
- GARDNER, M. J., THOMAS, H. J. & ERSKINE, H. E. 2019a. The association between five forms of child maltreatment and depressive and anxiety disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse Negl*, 96, 104082.
- GARDNER, R., FEELY, A., LAYTE, R., WILLIAMS, J. & MCGAVOCK, J. 2019b. Adverse childhood experiences are associated with an increased risk of obesity in early adolescence: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Pediatr Res*, 86, 522-528.
- GARIEPY, G., NITKA, D. & SCHMITZ, N. 2010. The association between obesity and anxiety disorders in the population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 34, 407-19.
- GARY-WEBB, T. L., BAPTISTE-ROBERTS, K., PHAM, L., WESCHE-THOBABEN, J., PATRICIO, J., PI-SUNYER, F. X., BROWN, A. F., JONES-CORNEILLE, L. & BRANCATI, F. L. 2011. Neighborhood socioeconomic status, depression, and health status in the Look AHEAD (Action for Health in Diabetes) study. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 349.
- GIUSTINO, T. F. & MAREN, S. 2015. The Role of the Medial Prefrontal Cortex in the Conditioning and Extinction of Fear. *Front Behav Neurosci*, 9, 298.
- GLOBAL B. M. I. MORTALITY COLLABORATION, DI ANGELANTONIO, E., BHUPATHIRAJU SH, N., WORMSER, D., GAO, P., KAPTOGE, S., BERRINGTON DE GONZALEZ, A., CAIRNS, B. J., HUXLEY, R., JACKSON CH, L., JOSHY, G., LEWINGTON, S., MANSON, J. E., MURPHY, N., PATEL, A. V., SAMET, J. M., WOODWARD, M., ZHENG, W., ZHOU, M., BANSAL, N., BARRICARTE, A., CARTER, B., CERHAN, J. R., SMITH, G. D., FANG, X., FRANCO, O. H., GREEN, J., HALSEY, J., HILDEBRAND, J. S., JUNG, K. J., KORDA, R. J., MCLERRAN, D. F., MOORE, S. C., O'KEEFFE, L. M., PAIGE, E., RAMOND, A., REEVES, G. K., ROLLAND, B., SACERDOTE, C., SATTAR, N., SOFIANOPOULOU, E., STEVENS, J., THUN, M., UESHIMA, H., YANG, L., YUN, Y. D., WILLEIT, P., BANKS, E., BERAL, V., CHEN, Z., GAPSTUR, S. M., GUNTER, M. J., HARTGE, P., JEE, S. H., LAM, T. H., PETO, R., POTTER, J. D., WILLETT, W. C., THOMPSON, S. G., DANESH, J. & HU, F. B. 2016. Body-mass index and all-cause mortality: individual-participant-data metaanalysis of 239 prospective studies in four continents. *Lancet*, 388, 776-86.

- GOLDBERG, D. S. & PUHL, R. M. 2013. Obesity stigma: a failed and ethically dubious strategy. *Hastings Cent Rep*, 43, 5-6; discussion 9-10.
- GOODMAN, E., ADLER, N. E., DANIELS, S. R., MORRISON, J. A., SLAP, G. B. & DOLAN, L. M. 2003. Impact of objective and subjective social status on obesity in a biracial cohort of adolescents. *Obes Res*, 11, 1018-26.
- GRUBERG, L., WEISSMAN, N. J., WAKSMAN, R., FUCHS, S., DEIBLE, R., PINNOW, E. E., AHMED, L. M., KENT, K. M., PICHARD, A. D., SUDDATH, W. O., SATLER, L. F. & LINDSAY, J., JR. 2002. The impact of obesity on the short-term and long-term outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention: the obesity paradox? *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 39, 578-84.
- HABETHA, S., BLEICH, S., WEIDENHAMMER, J. & FEGERT, J. M. 2012. A prevalence-based approach to societal costs occurring in consequence of child abuse and neglect. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*, 6, 35.
- HAIDAR, S. A., DE VRIES, N. K., KARAVETIAN, M. & EL-RASSI, R. 2018. Stress, Anxiety, and Weight Gain among University and College Students: A Systematic Review. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 118, 261-274.
- HALLBERG, S. J., GERSHUNI, V. M., HAZBUN, T. L. & ATHINARAYANAN, S. J. 2019. Reversing Type 2 Diabetes: A Narrative Review of the Evidence. *Nutrients*, 11.
- HALLGREN, M., HERRING, M. P., OWEN, N., DUNSTAN, D., EKBLOM, Ö., HELGADOTTIR, B., NAKITANDA, O. A. & FORSELL, Y. 2016. Exercise, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behavior in the Treatment of Depression: Broadening the Scientific Perspectives and Clinical Opportunities. *Front Psychiatry*, 7, 36.
- HARDING, J. L., BACKHOLER, K., WILLIAMS, E. D., PEETERS, A., CAMERON, A. J., HARE, M. J., SHAW, J. E. & MAGLIANO, D. J. 2014. Psychosocial stress is positively associated with body mass index gain over 5 years: evidence from the longitudinal AusDiab study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 22, 277-86.
- HARDT, J. 2008. The symptom checklist-27-plus (SCL-27-plus): a modern conceptualization of a traditional screening instrument. *Psychosoc Med*, 5, Doco8.
- HARDT, J., DRAGAN, M., SCHULTZ, S. & SCHIER, K. 2011. Comparison of childhood adversities and their possible consequences in Poland and Germany. *Journal of Public Health*, 19, 29-37.
- HARDT, J., FISCHBECK, S. & ENGFER, A. 2012. Kreuzvalidierung der Kurzform des Kindheitsfragebogen (KFB). *Psychotherapeut* 57, 248-255.
- HARDT, J. & RUTTER, M. 2004. Validity of adult retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences: review of the evidence. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 45, 260-73.

- HASLER, G., PINE, D. S., KLEINBAUM, D. G., GAMMA, A., LUCKENBAUGH, D., AJDACIC, V., EICH, D., ROSSLER, W. & ANGST, J. 2005. Depressive symptoms during childhood and adult obesity: the Zurich Cohort Study. *Mol Psychiatry*, 10, 842-50.
- HATZENBUEHLER, M. L., KEYES, K. M. & HASIN, D. S. 2009. Associations between perceived weight discrimination and the prevalence of psychiatric disorders in the general population. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 2033-9.
- HEMMINGSSON, E., JOHANSSON, K. & REYNISDOTTIR, S. 2014. Effects of childhood abuse on adult obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 15, 882-93.
- HENKEL, D. & ZEMLIN, U. 2016. Social Inequality and Substance Use and Problematic Gambling Among Adolescents and Young Adults: A Review of Epidemiological Surveys in Germany. *Curr Drug Abuse Rev*, 9, 26-48.
- HERHAUS, B., KERSTING, A., BRÄHLER, E. & PETROWSKI, K. 2020. Depression, Anxiety and Health status across different BMI classes: A representative study in Germany. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 276.
- HERPERTZ, S., HAGENAH, U., VOCKS, S., VON WIETERSHEIM, J., CUNTZ, U., ZEECK, A., GERMAN SOCIETY OF PSYCHOSOMATIC, M., PSYCHOTHERAPY & GERMAN COLLEGE FOR PSYCHOSOMATIC, M. 2011. The diagnosis and treatment of eating disorders. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 108, 678-85.
- HERPERTZ, S., KESSLER, H. & JONGEN, S. 2017. Psychosomatic and Psychosocial Questions Regarding Bariatric Surgery: What Do We Know, or What Do We Think We Know? *Z Psychosom Med Psychother*, 63, 344-369.
- HERPERTZ, S. & ZIPFEL, S. 2018. Adipositas und psychische Störungen. *Therapie Psychischer Erkrankungen*.
- HINNEY, A., VOGEL, C. I. & HEBEBRAND, J. 2010. From monogenic to polygenic obesity: recent advances. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 19, 297-310.
- HOEBEL, J. & LAMPERT, T. 2020. Subjective social status and health: Multidisciplinary explanations and methodological challenges. *J Health Psychol*, 25, 173-185.
- HOVENS, J. G., GILTAY, E. J., WIERSMA, J. E., SPINHOVEN, P., PENNINX, B. W.
 & ZITMAN, F. G. 2012. Impact of childhood life events and trauma on the course of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 126, 198-207.
- HRYHORCZUK, C., SHARMA, S. & FULTON, S. E. 2013. Metabolic disturbances connecting obesity and depression. *Front Neurosci*, *7*, 177.
- HUGHES, K., BELLIS, M. A., HARDCASTLE, K. A., SETHI, D., BUTCHART, A., MIKTON, C., JONES, L. & DUNNE, M. P. 2017. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*, 2, e356-e366.

- HUNGER, J. M. & TOMIYAMA, A. J. 2014. Weight Labeling and Obesity: A Longitudinal Study of Girls Aged 10 to 19 Years. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 168, 579-580.
- IACOBINI, C., PUGLIESE, G., BLASETTI FANTAUZZI, C., FEDERICI, M. & MENINI, S. 2019. Metabolically healthy versus metabolically unhealthy obesity. *Metabolism*, 92, 51-60.
- JACOBI, F., HÖFLER, M., SIEGERT, J., MACK, S., GERSCHLER, A., SCHOLL, L., BUSCH, M. A., HAPKE, U., MASKE, U., SEIFFERT, I., GAEBEL, W., MAIER, W., WAGNER, M., ZIELASEK, J. & WITTCHEN, H. U. 2014. Twelve-month prevalence, comorbidity and correlates of mental disorders in Germany: the Mental Health Module of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1-MH). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*, 23, 304-19.
- JAKOBSEN, G. S., SMÅSTUEN, M. C., SANDBU, R., NORDSTRAND, N., HOFSØ, D., LINDBERG, M., HERTEL, J. K. & HJELMESÆTH, J. 2018. Association of Bariatric Surgery vs Medical Obesity Treatment With Long-term Medical Complications and Obesity-Related Comorbidities. *Jama*, 319, 291-301.
- JANTARATNOTAI, N., MOSIKANON, K., LEE, Y. & MCINTYRE, R. S. 2017. The interface of depression and obesity. *Obes Res Clin Pract*, 11, 1-10.
- JAREMKA, L. M. & PACANOWSKI, C. R. 2019. Social anxiety symptoms moderate the link between obesity and metabolic function. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 110, 104425.
- JÄRVELÄ-REIJONEN, E., KARHUNEN, L., SAIRANEN, E., RANTALA, S., LAITINEN, J., PUTTONEN, S., PEUHKURI, K., HALLIKAINEN, M., JUVONEN, K., MYLLYMÄKI, T., FÖHR, T., PIHLAJAMÄKI, J., KORPELA, R., ERMES, M., LAPPALAINEN, R. & KOLEHMAINEN, M. 2016. High perceived stress is associated with unfavorable eating behavior in overweight and obese Finns of working age. *Appetite*, 103, 249-258.
- JASTREBOFF, A. M., SINHA, R., LACADIE, C., SMALL, D. M., SHERWIN, R. S. & POTENZA, M. N. 2013. Neural correlates of stress- and food cue-induced food craving in obesity: association with insulin levels. *Diabetes Care*, 36, 394-402.
- JAYEDI, A., SOLTANI, S., ZARGAR, M. S., KHAN, T. A. & SHAB-BIDAR, S. 2020. Central fatness and risk of all cause mortality: systematic review and doseresponse meta-analysis of 72 prospective cohort studies. *BMJ*, 370, m3324.
- JOKELA, M., HAMER, M., SINGH-MANOUX, A., BATTY, G. D. & KIVIMÄKI, M. 2014. Association of metabolically healthy obesity with depressive symptoms: pooled analysis of eight studies. *Mol Psychiatry*, 19, 910-4.
- JONES, L., BATES, G., MCCOY, E. & BELLIS, M. A. 2015. Relationship between alcohol-attributable disease and socioeconomic status, and the role of alcohol consumption in this relationship: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 400.
- JORM, A. F. & MULDER, R. T. 2018. Prevention of mental disorders requires action on adverse childhood experiences. *Aust NZJ Psychiatry*, 52, 316-319.

- KALYAN-MASIH, P., VEGA-TORRES, J. D., MILES, C., HADDAD, E., RAINSBURY, S., BAGHCHECHI, M., OBENAUS, A. & FIGUEROA, J. D. 2016. Western High-Fat Diet Consumption during Adolescence Increases Susceptibility to Traumatic Stress while Selectively Disrupting Hippocampal and Ventricular Volumes. *eNeuro*, 3.
- KAPPIS, B. & HARDT, J. 2016. Standardisierte Verfahren zur retrospektiven Erfassung von Kindheitsbelastungen. In: EGLE, U. T., JORASCHKY, P., LAMPE, A., SEIFFGE-KRENKE, I. & CIERPKA, M. (eds.) Sexueller Missbrauch, Misshandlung, Vernachlässigung: Erkennung, Therapie und Prävention der Folgen früher Stresserfahrungen. 4. Auflage ed. Stuttgart: Schattauer.
- KHAN, S. S., NING, H., WILKINS, J. T., ALLEN, N., CARNETHON, M., BERRY, J. D., SWEIS, R. N. & LLOYD-JONES, D. M. 2018. Association of Body Mass Index With Lifetime Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Compression of Morbidity. JAMA Cardiol, 3, 280-287.
- KIM, T. J., ROESLER, N. M. & VON DEM KNESEBECK, O. 2017. Causation or selection examining the relation between education and overweight/obesity in prospective observational studies: a meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 18, 660-672.
- KIM, T. J. & VON DEM KNESEBECK, O. 2018. Income and obesity: what is the direction of the relationship? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 8, e019862.
- KIVIMÄKI, M., SINGH-MANOUX, A., NYBERG, S., JOKELA, M. & VIRTANEN, M. 2015. Job strain and risk of obesity: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 39, 1597-600.
- KRUEGER, P. M. & REITHER, E. N. 2015. Mind the gap: race/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in obesity. *Curr Diab Rep*, 15, 95.
- KRZYSZTOSZEK, J., WIERZEJSKA, E. & ZIELINSKA, A. 2015. Obesity. An analysis of epidemiological and prognostic research. *Arch Med Sci*, 11, 24-33.
- KUNTZ, B. & LAMPERT, T. 2010. Socioeconomic factors and obesity. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 107, 517-22.
- LAM, T. M., VAARTJES, I., GROBBEE, D. E., KARSSENBERG, D. & LAKERVELD, J. 2021. Associations between the built environment and obesity: an umbrella review. *Int J Health Geogr*, 20, 7.
- LAMPERT, T., KROLL, L. E., HAPKE, U. & JACOBI, F. 2014. Sozioökonomischer Status und psychische Gesundheit. *Public Health Forum*, 22, 6.e1-6.e4.
- LAMPERT, T., KROLL, L. E., KUNTZ, B. & HOEBEL, J. 2018. Gesundheitliche Ungleichheit in Deutschland und im internationalen Vergleich: Zeitliche Entwicklungen und Trends. *Journal of Health Monitoring* 3(S1): 1–26.
- LANGE, C., MANZ, K., ROMMEL, A., SCHIENKIEWITZ, A. & MENSINK, G. 2016. Alkoholkonsum von Erwachsenen in Deutschland: Riskante Trinkmengen,

Folgen und Maßnahmen. Robert Koch-Institut, Epidemiologie und Gesundheitsberichterstattung.

- LEE, S. H., PAZ-FILHO, G., MASTRONARDI, C., LICINIO, J. & WONG, M. L. 2016. Is increased antidepressant exposure a contributory factor to the obesity pandemic? *Translational psychiatry*, 6, e759-e759.
- LEVY, B. R. & PILVER, C. E. 2012. Residual stigma: psychological distress among the formerly overweight. *Soc Sci Med*, 75, 297-9.
- LIEB, R., ISENSEE, B., HÖFLER, M., PFISTER, H. & WITTCHEN, H.-U. 2002. Parental Major Depression and the Risk of Depression and Other Mental Disorders in Offspring: A Prospective-Longitudinal Community Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59, 365-374.
- LUPPINO, F. S., DE WIT, L. M., BOUVY, P. F., STIJNEN, T., CUIJPERS, P., PENNINX, B. W. & ZITMAN, F. G. 2010. Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 67, 220-9.
- LYNESS, J. M. 2019 Unipolar depression in adults: Clinical features *In:* ROY-BYRNE, P. P. & SOLOMON, D. (eds.) *UpToDate*. Waltham, MA: UpToDate.
- MACHADO, M. O., VERONESE, N., SANCHES, M., STUBBS, B., KOYANAGI, A., THOMPSON, T., TZOULAKI, I., SOLMI, M., VANCAMPFORT, D., SCHUCH, F. B., MAES, M., FAVA, G. A., IOANNIDIS, J. P. A. & CARVALHO, A. F. 2018. The association of depression and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *BMC Med*, 16, 112.
- MADER, S., RUBACH, M., SCHAECKE, W., RÖGER, C., FELDHOFFER, I. & THALMEIER, E. M. 2020. Healthy nutrition in Germany: a survey analysis of social causes, obesity and socioeconomic status. *Public Health Nutr*, 1-15.
- MANNAN, M., MAMUN, A., DOI, S. & CLAVARINO, A. 2016. Is there a bidirectional relationship between depression and obesity among adult men and women? Systematic review and bias-adjusted meta analysis. *Asian J Psychiatr*, 21, 51-66.
- MARCUS, M., YASAMY, M. T., OMMEREN, M., CHISHOLM, D. & SAXENA, S. 2012. Depression: A global public health concern. *World Health Organization Paper on Depression*, 6-8.
- MARTIN, M., BEEKLEY, A., KJORSTAD, R. & SEBESTA, J. 2010. Socioeconomic disparities in eligibility and access to bariatric surgery: a national population-based analysis. *Surg Obes Relat Dis*, 6, 8-15.
- MARTINS, L. B., MONTEZE, N. M., CALARGE, C., FERREIRA, A. V. M. & TEIXEIRA, A. L. 2019. Pathways linking obesity to neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nutrition*, 66, 16-21.
- MAUKONEN, M., MÄNNISTÖ, S. & TOLONEN, H. 2018. A comparison of measured versus self-reported anthropometrics for assessing obesity in adults: a literature review. *Scand J Public Health*, 46, 565-579.

MCLAREN, L. 2007. Socioeconomic status and obesity. *Epidemiol Rev*, 29, 29-48.

- MENSINK, G. B., SCHIENKIEWITZ, A., HAFTENBERGER, M., LAMPERT, T., ZIESE, T. & SCHEIDT-NAVE, C. 2013. [Overweight and obesity in Germany: results of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1)]. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz*, 56, 786-94.
- MOHAMMED, S. H., HABTEWOLD, T. D., BIRHANU, M. M., SISSAY, T. A., TEGEGNE, B. S., ABUZERR, S. & ESMAILLZADEH, A. 2019. Neighbourhood socioeconomic status and overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *BMJ Open*, 9, e028238.
- MONTEIRO, C. A., MOURA, E. C., CONDE, W. L. & POPKIN, B. M. 2004. Socioeconomic status and obesity in adult populations of developing countries: a review. *Bull World Health Organ*, 82, 940-6.
- MOORE, C. J. & CUNNINGHAM, S. A. 2012. Social position, psychological stress, and obesity: a systematic review. *J Acad Nutr Diet*, 112, 518-26.
- MORADI, S., MIRZABABAEI, A., DADFARMA, A., REZAEI, S., MOHAMMADI, H., JANNAT, B. & MIRZAEI, K. 2019. Food insecurity and adult weight abnormality risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Nutr*, 58, 45-61.
- MÜLLER, T. D., BLÜHER, M., TSCHÖP, M. H. & DIMARCHI, R. D. 2021. Antiobesity drug discovery: advances and challenges. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*.
- N. C. D. RISK FACTOR COLLABORATION 2017. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet*. 2017/10/17 ed.
- NEWTON, S., BRAITHWAITE, D. & AKINYEMIJU, T. F. 2017. Socio-economic status over the life course and obesity: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 12, e0177151.
- NG, M., FLEMING, T., ROBINSON, M., THOMSON, B., GRAETZ, N., MARGONO, C., MULLANY, E. C., BIRYUKOV, S., ABBAFATI, C., ABERA, S. F., ABRAHAM, J. P., ABU-RMEILEH, N. M., ACHOKI, T., ALBUHAIRAN, F. S., ALEMU, Z. A., ALFONSO, R., ALI, M. K., ALI, R., GUZMAN, N. A., AMMAR, W., ANWARI, P., BANERJEE, A., BARQUERA, S., BASU, S., BENNETT, D. A., BHUTTA, Z., BLORE, J., CABRAL, N., NONATO, I. C., CHANG, J. C., CHOWDHURY, R., COURVILLE, K. J., CRIQUI, M. H., CUNDIFF, D. K., K. C., DANDONA, L., DABHADKAR. DAVIS, A., DAYAMA, A., DHARMARATNE, S. D., DING, E. L., DURRANI, A. M., ESTEGHAMATI, A., FARZADFAR, F., FAY, D. F., FEIGIN, V. L., FLAXMAN, A., FOROUZANFAR, M. H., GOTO, A., GREEN, M. A., GUPTA, R., HAFEZI-NEJAD, N., HANKEY, G. J., HAREWOOD, H. C., HAVMOELLER, R., HAY, S., HERNANDEZ, L., HUSSEINI, A., IDRISOV, B. T., IKEDA, N., ISLAMI, F., JAHANGIR, E., JASSAL, S. K., JEE, S. H., JEFFREYS, M., JONAS, J. B., KABAGAMBE, E. K., KHALIFA, S. E., KENGNE, A. P., KHADER, Y. S., KHANG, Y. H., KIM, D., KIMOKOTI, R. W., KINGE, J. M., KOKUBO, Y., KOSEN, S., KWAN, G., LAI,

T., LEINSALU, M., LI, Y., LIANG, X., LIU, S., LOGROSCINO, G., LOTUFO, P. A., LU, Y., MA, J., MAINOO, N. K., MENSAH, G. A., MERRIMAN, T. R., MOKDAD, A. H., MOSCHANDREAS, J., NAGHAVI, M., NAHEED, A., NAND, D., NARAYAN, K. M., NELSON, E. L., NEUHOUSER, M. L., NISAR, M. I., OHKUBO, T., OTI, S. O., PEDROZA, A., et al. 2014. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*, 384, 766-81.

- NORMAN, R. E., BYAMBAA, M., DE, R., BUTCHART, A., SCOTT, J. & VOS, T. 2012. The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med*, 9, e1001349.
- OLSON, C. M., BOVE, C. F. & MILLER, E. O. 2007. Growing up poor: long-term implications for eating patterns and body weight. *Appetite*, 49, 198-207.
- OSTROVSKY, N. W., SWENCIONIS, C., WYLIE-ROSETT, J. & ISASI, C. R. 2013. Social anxiety and disordered overeating: an association among overweight and obese individuals. *Eat Behav*, 14, 145-8.
- OTTE, C., GOLD, S. M., PENNINX, B. W., PARIANTE, C. M., ETKIN, A., FAVA, M., MOHR, D. C. & SCHATZBERG, A. F. 2016. Major depressive disorder. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, 2, 16065.
- OUAKININ, S. R. S., BARREIRA, D. P. & GOIS, C. J. 2018. Depression and Obesity: Integrating the Role of Stress, Neuroendocrine Dysfunction and Inflammatory Pathways. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 9, 431.
- OVERGAARD, D., GYNTELBERG, F. & HEITMANN, B. L. 2004. Psychological workload and body weight: is there an association? A review of the literature. *Occup Med (Lond)*, 54, 35-41.
- OXFORD ENGLISH DICTIONARY 1989. Oxford English Dictionary, second edition (1989). 1989 ed. OED Online: Oxford University Press.
- PECHEY, R., JEBB, S. A., KELLY, M. P., ALMIRON-ROIG, E., CONDE, S., NAKAMURA, R., SHEMILT, I., SUHRCKE, M. & MARTEAU, T. M. 2013. Socioeconomic differences in purchases of more vs. less healthy foods and beverages: Analysis of over 25,000 British households in 2010. Social Science & Medicine, 92, 22-26.
- POPKIN, B. M., CORVALAN, C. & GRUMMER-STRAWN, L. M. 2020. Dynamics of the double burden of malnutrition and the changing nutrition reality. *Lancet*, 395, 65-74.
- PRATT, L. A. & BRODY, D. J. 2014. Depression and obesity in the U.S. adult household population, 2005-2010. *NCHS Data Brief*, 1-8.
- PUHL, R., PETERSON, J. L. & LUEDICKE, J. 2013a. Motivating or stigmatizing? Public perceptions of weight-related language used by health providers. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 37, 612-9.

- PUHL, R. M., ANDREYEVA, T. & BROWNELL, K. D. 2008. Perceptions of weight discrimination: prevalence and comparison to race and gender discrimination in America. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32, 992-1000.
- PUHL, R. M., HIMMELSTEIN, M. S. & QUINN, D. M. 2018. Internalizing Weight Stigma: Prevalence and Sociodemographic Considerations in US Adults. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 26, 167-175.
- PUHL, R. M., LESSARD, L. M., HIMMELSTEIN, M. S. & FOSTER, G. D. 2021. The roles of experienced and internalized weight stigma in healthcare experiences: Perspectives of adults engaged in weight management across six countries. *PLoS One*, 16, e0251566.
- PUHL, R. M. & LUEDICKE, J. 2012. Weight-based victimization among adolescents in the school setting: emotional reactions and coping behaviors. *J Youth Adolesc*, 41, 27-40.
- PUHL, R. M., PETERSON, J. L., DEPIERRE, J. A. & LUEDICKE, J. 2013b. Headless, hungry, and unhealthy: a video content analysis of obese persons portrayed in online news. *J Health Commun*, 18, 686-702.
- RAAD, G., HAZZOURI, M., BOTTINI, S., TRABUCCHI, M., AZOURY, J. & GRANDJEAN, V. 2017. Paternal obesity: how bad is it for sperm quality and progeny health? *Basic Clin Androl*, 27, 20.
- RAJAN, T. M. & MENON, V. 2017. Psychiatric disorders and obesity: A review of association studies. *J Postgrad Med*, 63, 182-190.
- RAPOSA, E., HAMMEN, C., BRENNAN, P. & NAJMAN, J. 2014. The Long-Term Effects of Maternal Depression: Early Childhood Physical Health as a Pathway to Offspring Depression. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 54, 88-93.
- RASIC, D., HAJEK, T., ALDA, M. & UHER, R. 2013. Risk of Mental Illness in Offspring of Parents With Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, and Major Depressive Disorder: A Meta-Analysis of Family High-Risk Studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 40, 28-38.
- ROBERT KOCH-INSTITUTE 2016. Health in Germany the most important trends. *In:* DESTATIS., F. H. R. J. P. B. R. A. (ed.). RKI, Berlin.
- ROGLER, L. H., MROCZEK, D. K., FELLOWS, M. & LOFTUS, S. T. 2001. The neglect of response bias in mental health research. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 189, 182-7.
- ROSENGREN, A., TEO, K., RANGARAJAN, S., KABALI, C., KHUMALO, I., KUTTY,
 V. R., GUPTA, R., YUSUF, R., IQBAL, R., ISMAIL, N., ALTUNTAS, Y.,
 KELISHADI, R., DIAZ, R., AVEZUM, A., CHIFAMBA, J., ZATONSKA, K.,
 WEI, L., LIAO, X., LOPEZ-JARAMILLO, P., YUSUFALI, A., SERON, P.,
 LEAR, S. A. & YUSUF, S. 2015. Psychosocial factors and obesity in 17 high-,
 middle- and low-income countries: the Prospective Urban Rural
 Epidemiologic study. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 39, 1217-23.
- RUBINO, F., PUHL, R. M., CUMMINGS, D. E., ECKEL, R. H., RYAN, D. H., MECHANICK, J. I., NADGLOWSKI, J., RAMOS SALAS, X., SCHAUER, P. R.,

TWENEFOUR, D., APOVIAN, C. M., ARONNE, L. J., BATTERHAM, R. L., BERTHOUD, H.-R., BOZA, C., BUSETTO, L., DICKER, D., DE GROOT, M., EISENBERG, D., FLINT, S. W., HUANG, T. T., KAPLAN, L. M., KIRWAN, J. P., KORNER, J., KYLE, T. K., LAFERRÈRE, B., LE ROUX, C. W., MCIVER, L., MINGRONE, G., NECE, P., REID, T. J., ROGERS, A. M., ROSENBAUM, M., SEELEY, R. J., TORRES, A. J. & DIXON, J. B. 2020. Joint international consensus statement for ending stigma of obesity. *Nature Medicine*, 26, 485-497.

- RYAN, D. H. & YOCKEY, S. R. 2017. Weight Loss and Improvement in Comorbidity: Differences at 5%, 10%, 15%, and Over. *Current Obesity Reports*, 6, 187-194.
- SABIN, J. A., MARINI, M. & NOSEK, B. A. 2012. Implicit and explicit anti-fat bias among a large sample of medical doctors by BMI, race/ethnicity and gender. *PLoS One*, 7, e48448.
- SAITTA, C., POLLICINO, T. & RAIMONDO, G. 2019. Obesity and liver cancer. *Ann Hepatol*, 18, 810-815.
- SANCHEZ-VILLEGAS, A. & MARTINEZ-GONZALEZ, M. A. 2013. Diet, a new target to prevent depression? *BMC Med*, 11, 3.
- SAREEN, J., JACOBI, F., COX, B. J., BELIK, S. L., CLARA, I. & STEIN, M. B. 2006. Disability and poor quality of life associated with comorbid anxiety disorders and physical conditions. *Arch Intern Med*, 166, 2109-16.
- SCHLAX, J., JÜNGER, C., BEUTEL, M. E., MÜNZEL, T., PFEIFFER, N., WILD, P., BLETTNER, M., KERAHRODI, J. G., WILTINK, J. & MICHAL, M. 2019. Income and education predict elevated depressive symptoms in the general population: results from the Gutenberg health study. *BMC Public Health*, 19, 430.
- SCHMITZ, A., NITKA, D. & GARIEPY, G. 2010. The association between obesity and anxiety disorders in the population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Obesity volume*, 34, 407–419.
- SCHROEDER, K., SCHULER, B. R., KOBULSKY, J. M. & SARWER, D. B. 2021. The association between adverse childhood experiences and childhood obesity: A systematic review. *Obes Rev*, 22, e13204.
- SCOTT, K. M., MCGEE, M. A., WELLS, J. E. & OAKLEY BROWNE, M. A. 2008. Obesity and mental disorders in the adult general population. *J Psychosom Res*, 64, 97-105.
- SELIGER, K. & BRÄHLER, E. 2007. Psychische Gesundheit von Studierenden der Medizin. *Psychotherapeut*, 42, 280-286.
- SEREC, M., SVAB, I., KOLŠEK, M., SVAB, V., MOESGEN, D. & KLEIN, M. 2012. Health-related lifestyle, physical and mental health in children of alcoholic parents. *Drug Alcohol Rev*, 31, 861-70.
- SHARAFI, S. E., GARMAROUDI, G., GHAFOURI, M., BAFGHI, S. A., GHAFOURI, M., TABESH, M. R. & ALIZADEH, Z. 2020. Prevalence of anxiety and

depression in patients with overweight and obesity. *Obesity Medicine*, 17, 100169.

- SHARP, G. C. & LAWLOR, D. A. 2019. Paternal impact on the life course development of obesity and type 2 diabetes in the offspring. *Diabetologia*, 62, 1802-1810.
- SHINALL, J. B. 2015. Occupational Characteristics and the Obesity Wage Penalty. Vanderbilt Law and Economics Research Paper No. 16-12; Vanderbilt Public Law Research Paper No. 16-23.
- SHONKOFF, J. P., GARNER, A. S., COMMITTEE ON PSYCHOSOCIAL ASPECTS OF, C., FAMILY, H., COMMITTEE ON EARLY CHILDHOOD, A., DEPENDENT, C., SECTION ON, D. & BEHAVIORAL, P. 2012. The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129, e232-46.
- SILVENTOINEN, K., ROKHOLM, B., KAPRIO, J. & SØRENSEN, T. I. 2010. The genetic and environmental influences on childhood obesity: a systematic review of twin and adoption studies. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 34, 29-40.
- SMITH, L., FOLEY, L. & PANTER, J. 2019. Activity spaces in studies of the environment and physical activity: A review and synthesis of implications for causality. *Health Place*, 58, 102113.
- SOBAL, J. & STUNKARD, A. J. 1989. Socioeconomic status and obesity: a review of the literature. *Psychol Bull*, 105, 260-75.
- SPAHLHOLZ, J., BAER, N., KÖNIG, H. H., RIEDEL-HELLER, S. G. & LUCK-SIKORSKI, C. 2016. Obesity and discrimination - a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Obes Rev*, 17, 43-55.
- STEFFEN, A., THOM, J., JACOBI, F., HOLSTIEGE, J. & BÄTZING, J. 2020. Trends in prevalence of depression in Germany between 2009 and 2017 based on nationwide ambulatory claims data. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 271, 239-247.
- STEPHENS, S. K., COBIAC, L. J. & VEERMAN, J. L. 2014. Improving diet and physical activity to reduce population prevalence of overweight and obesity: an overview of current evidence. *Prev Med*, 62, 167-78.
- STOLTENBORGH, M., BAKERMANS-KRANENBURG, M., ALINK, L. & IJZENDOORN, M. 2014. The Prevalence of Child Maltreatment across the Globe: Review of a Series of Meta-Analyses. *Child Abuse Review*
- STRINGHINI, S., CARMELI, C., JOKELA, M., AVENDAÑO, M., MUENNIG, P., GUIDA, F., RICCERI, F., D'ERRICO, A., BARROS, H., BOCHUD, M., CHADEAU-HYAM, M., CLAVEL-CHAPELON, F., COSTA, G., DELPIERRE, C., FRAGA, S., GOLDBERG, M., GILES, G. G., KROGH, V., KELLY-IRVING, M., LAYTE, R., LASSERRE, A. M., MARMOT, M. G., PREISIG, M., SHIPLEY, M. J., VOLLENWEIDER, P., ZINS, M., KAWACHI, I., STEPTOE, A., MACKENBACH, J. P., VINEIS, P. & KIVIMÄKI, M. 2017. Socioeconomic status and the 25 × 25 risk factors as determinants of premature mortality: a

multicohort study and meta-analysis of 1.7 million men and women. *Lancet*, 389, 1229-1237.

- STRÖHLE, A. G., J; DOMSCHKE, K 2018. The Diagnosis and Treatment of Anxiety Disorders. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 115.
- SUNG, H., SIEGEL, R. L., TORRE, L. A., PEARSON-STUTTARD, J., ISLAMI, F., FEDEWA, S. A., GODING SAUER, A., SHUVAL, K., GAPSTUR, S. M., JACOBS, E. J., GIOVANNUCCI, E. L. & JEMAL, A. 2019. Global patterns in excess body weight and the associated cancer burden. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 69, 88-112.
- TEYCHENNE, M., BALL, K. & SALMON, J. 2010. Sedentary behavior and depression among adults: a review. *Int J Behav Med*, 17, 246-54.
- THORNICROFT, G., CHATTERJI, S., EVANS-LACKO, S., GRUBER, M., SAMPSON, N., AGUILAR-GAXIOLA, S., AL-HAMZAWI, A., ALONSO, J., ANDRADE, L., BORGES, G., BRUFFAERTS, R., BUNTING, B., DE ALMEIDA, J. M., FLORESCU, S., DE GIROLAMO, G., GUREJE, O., HARO, J. M., HE, Y., HINKOV, H., KARAM, E., KAWAKAMI, N., LEE, S., NAVARRO-MATEU, F., PIAZZA, M., POSADA-VILLA, J., DE GALVIS, Y. T. & KESSLER, R. C. 2017. Undertreatment of people with major depressive disorder in 21 countries. *Br J Psychiatry*, 210, 119-124.
- TIMPER, K. & BRÜNING, J. C. 2017. Hypothalamic circuits regulating appetite and energy homeostasis: pathways to obesity. *Dis Model Mech*, 10, 679-689.
- TOMIYAMA, A. J. 2019. Stress and Obesity. Annu Rev Psychol, 70, 703-718.
- TOMIYAMA, A. J., CARR, D., GRANBERG, E. M., MAJOR, B., ROBINSON, E., SUTIN, A. R. & BREWIS, A. 2018. How and why weight stigma drives the obesity 'epidemic' and harms health. *BMC Med*, 16, 123.
- TOMIYAMA, A. J., FINCH, L. E., BELSKY, A. C. I., BUSS, J., FINLEY, C., SCHWARTZ, M. B. & DAUBENMIER, J. 2015. Weight bias in 2001 versus 2013: Contradictory attitudes among obesity researchers and health professionals. *Obesity*, 23, 46-53.
- TOMIYAMA, A. J., HUNGER, J. M., NGUYEN-CUU, J. & WELLS, C. 2016. Misclassification of cardiometabolic health when using body mass index categories in NHANES 2005–2012. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40, 883-886.
- TRONIERI, J. S., WURST, C. M., PEARL, R. L. & ALLISON, K. C. 2017. Sex Differences in Obesity and Mental Health. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 19, 29.
- TSAI, A. G. & WADDEN, T. A. 2005. Systematic review: an evaluation of major commercial weight loss programs in the United States. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 56-66.
- VALLIANOU, N., STRATIGOU, T., CHRISTODOULATOS, G. S. & DALAMAGA, M. 2019. Understanding the Role of the Gut Microbiome and Microbial

Metabolites in Obesity and Obesity-Associated Metabolic Disorders: Current Evidence and Perspectives. *Curr Obes Rep*, 8, 317-332.

- VAN OOSTROM, S. H., NACHAT, A., LOEF, B. & PROPER, K. I. 2021. The mediating role of unhealthy behaviors and body mass index in the relationship between high job strain and self-rated poor health among lower educated workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 94, 95-105.
- VENTURA, T., SANTANDER, J., TORRES, R. & CONTRERAS, A. M. 2014. Neurobiologic basis of craving for carbohydrates. *Nutrition*, 30, 252-6.
- VERHAEGEN, A. A. & VAN GAAL, L. F. 2021. Drugs Affecting Body Weight, Body Fat Distribution, and Metabolic Function-Mechanisms and Possible Therapeutic or Preventive Measures: an Update. *Curr Obes Rep*, 10, 1-13.
- VIZZOTTO, A. D. B., DE OLIVEIRA, A. M., ELKIS, H., CORDEIRO, Q. & BUCHAIN, P. C. 2013. Psychosocial Characteristics. *In:* GELLMAN, M. D. & TURNER, J. R. (eds.) *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine*. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- VLAEYEN, J. W. S., MAHER, C. G., WIECH, K., VAN ZUNDERT, J., MELOTO, C. B., DIATCHENKO, L., BATTIÉ, M. C., GOOSSENS, M., KOES, B. & LINTON, S. J. 2018. Low back pain. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 4, 52.
- WANG, P. S., AGUILAR-GAXIOLA, S., ALONSO, J., ANGERMEYER, M. C., BORGES, G., BROMET, E. J., BRUFFAERTS, R., DE GIROLAMO, G., DE GRAAF, R., GUREJE, O., HARO, J. M., KARAM, E. G., KESSLER, R. C., KOVESS, V., LANE, M. C., LEE, S., LEVINSON, D., ONO, Y., PETUKHOVA, M., POSADA-VILLA, J., SEEDAT, S. & WELLS, J. E. 2007. Use of mental health services for anxiety, mood, and substance disorders in 17 countries in the WHO world mental health surveys. *Lancet*, 370, 841-50.
- WARDLE, J., CHIDA, Y., GIBSON, E. L., WHITAKER, K. L. & STEPTOE, A. 2011. Stress and adiposity: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 19, 771-8.
- WEAVER, J. 2017. Childhood Obesity. *Practical Guide to Obesity Medicine*. 1 ed.: Elsevier.
- WEI, Y. X., ZHENG, K. Y. & WANG, Y. G. 2021. Gut microbiota-derived metabolites as key mucosal barrier modulators in obesity. *World J Gastroenterol*, 27, 5555-5565.
- WERMUTH, N. & COX, D. R. 2013. Concepts and a Case Study for a Flexible Class of Graphical Markov Models. *Robustness and Complex Data Structures*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- WERMUTH, N. & COX, D. R. 2015. Graphical Markov Models: Overview. International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioral Sciences. 2 ed. Oxford: Elesevier.
- WESTERMAIR, A. L., STOLL, A. M., GREGGERSEN, W., KAHL, K. G., HUPPE, M. & SCHWEIGER, U. 2018. All Unhappy Childhoods Are Unhappy in Their Own

Way-Differential Impact of Dimensions of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Adult Mental Health and Health Behavior. *Front Psychiatry*, 9, 198.

- WHO. 2003. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases: report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation, Geneva, 28 January 1 February 2002. World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2017. WHO: Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders Global Health Estimates. Available:
- https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja& uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiEgrGKsIzlAhXKZFAKHbXmDz8QFjADegQIDRAH&u rl=https%3A%2F%2Fapps.who.int%2Firis%2Fbitstream%2Fhandle%2F10665 %2F254610%2FWHO-MSD-MER-2017.2eng.pdf%3Fsequence%3D1&usg=AOvVawoEz8nu2rHTzdNrTJ7SX4UY [Accessed 8. October 2019].
- WHO. 2018. *Obesity and overweight* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail</u> [Accessed 01.10.2018].
- WHO. 2020. *Depression* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression</u> [Accessed 10.08.2020].
- WIJAYATUNGA, N. N. & DHURANDHAR, E. J. 2021. Normal weight obesity and unaddressed cardiometabolic health risk—a narrative review. *International Journal of Obesity*, 45, 2141-2155.
- WISS, D. A. & BREWERTON, T. D. 2020. Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Obesity: A Systematic Review of Plausible Mechanisms and Meta-Analysis of Cross-Sectional Studies. *Physiol Behav*, 223, 112964.
- WITT, A., BROWN, R. C., PLENER, P. L., BRAHLER, E. & FEGERT, J. M. 2017. Child maltreatment in Germany: prevalence rates in the general population. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*, 11, 47.
- WITTCHEN, H. U. & JACOBI, F. 2004. Themenheft 21 "Angststörungen". *GBE-Hefte*. Robert Koch-Institute.
- WU, Y. K. & BERRY, D. C. 2018. Impact of weight stigma on physiological and psychological health outcomes for overweight and obese adults: A systematic review. *J Adv Nurs*, 74, 1030-1042.
- YACH, D., STUCKLER, D. & BROWNELL, K. D. 2006. Epidemiologic and economic consequences of the global epidemics of obesity and diabetes. *Nat Med*, 12, 62-6.
- YATES, N., TEUNER, C. M., HUNGER, M., HOLLE, R., STARK, R., LAXY, M., HAUNER, H., PETERS, A. & WOLFENSTETTER, S. B. 2016. The Economic Burden of Obesity in Germany: Results from the Population-Based KORA Studies. *Obes Facts*, 9, 397-409.
- ZAGORSKY, J. L. & SMITH, P. K. 2017. The association between socioeconomic status and adult fast-food consumption in the U.S. *Econ Hum Biol*, 27, 12-25.

- ZAITLEN, N., KRAFT, P., PATTERSON, N., PASANIUC, B., BHATIA, G., POLLACK, S. & PRICE, A. L. 2013. Using extended genealogy to estimate components of heritability for 23 quantitative and dichotomous traits. *PLoS Genet*, 9, e1003520.
- ZÜNDORF, I. 2006. KIGGS Die Studie zur Gesundheit von Kindern und Jugendlichen in Deutschland: Die Verbreitung von Übergewicht und Adipositas *Pharmazie in unserer Zeit*. WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- ZWAAN, M. D., MÜHLHANS, B. & HERPERTZ, S. 2011. Adipositas. Uexküll, *Psychosomatische Medizin*.